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Corporate Information

REER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Chi Hong William(®
Wong Tak Chun®@

Xu Jinghong

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady)

Wong Chi Hong William(®
Wong Tak Chun®
Xu Jinghong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Li Yi Feng

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady)

Wong Chi Hong William(®
Wong Tak Chun®
Xu Jinghong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Li Yi Feng (Chairman)
Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Chi Hong William(®
Wong Tak Chun®

Xu Jinghong

Notes:

1) With effect from 31 January 2021, Mr. Wong Chi Hong Wiliam has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the
audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Board, in replacement of Mr. Wong Tak Chun.

2 With effect from 31 January 2021, Mr. Wong Tak Chun has resigned as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit committee,

the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Board.
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Corporate Information

AREH

COMPANY SECRETARY
Fung Ka Lun

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Li Yi Feng
Fung Ka Lun

AUDITORS
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Bermuda Law
Appleby

As to Hong Kong Law
lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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Corporate Information

REEH

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suite 506, ICBC Tower
3 Garden Road, Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation
China Merchants Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Bank of China

Bank of Changsha

Bank of Communications

China Minsheng Bank

Huarong Xiangjiang Bank

Bank of QinHuangDao

Postal Savings Bank of China

Ningxia Helan Huishang Village Town Bank Co., Ltd*
Agricultural Bank of China

WEBSITE

www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com

STOCK CODE
313

* For identification purposes only
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Property Portfolio

Y ESE =)

DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES -

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

UREARENE-TEEVE

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest  (Total Site Area) underground)  Completion Date Lease Term
(sqm)
HEER BEER Bt
F¥  HEAR IR E MEEL A& EfhEs  (BM5HER) (EBHT) TAEE HEMHR
(FAR)
1 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 483.65 mu* 386,923 Medium-term
EIDEE District, Tengfei Village, ~ 7% BEE (322,435.9 sq.m) -
Magjiaohe Village, 483,658
Dongma (322,435.9F 753K)
ROEHEERN
BT REHE
11 Commercial North Portion 84,782 Completed
BELE BRI
1.2 Commercial South Portion 302,141 March 2023
BERE S
2 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Residential, Residential Portion 100% 1,104.18 mu 1,191,751 N/A
RIORE District, Tengfei Village, Commercial ~ {fEE (736,117.1 sq.m) TER
Magiaohe Village, e HE 1,104.188
Dongma (736,171 5 %)
ROEHERRN
BRI REHE
2.1 Residential Phase 1 100,161 Completed and delivered
e BRIERA
22 Residential Phase 2 402,779 Partially completed and
FE2H delivered
BARTLRS
2.3 Residential Phase 3 294,898 Expected to be
(including the required partly delivered by
education facllties) August 2021
HE=H BRRIS %
(BRBHFRN) NBRIEARA
24 Residential Phase 4 393913 June 2024
FE M ZBTMERA

*

In this report, mu refers to “BX”, a Chinese unit of measurement. 1 mu equals to~ *

approximately 666.67 sg.m, for information only.

RARER TMUIETE— B BB 1MF

FE#I666.67F 75K » EHS2E -

—EC—GFR BATEREERAS 05



Property Portfolio

MEES

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest  (Total Site Area) underground)  Completion Date Lease Term
(sqm)
EERE BEER Bt
F¥  HEAE HIEfE MmEEL A& iR (BM5HER) (EBHT) TEEE REMR
(7K
3 Yinchuan Project West of China National Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 80.95 mu 90,899 Medium-term
$8)11'ER Highway 109, DeSheng 5% EES (53,967.0 sq.m) Ll
Industrial Park* (R T 80.958
£E &), Yinchuan City, (53,967.0F3)
Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region, the PRC
HEEEEERAERT
EBTEEE109EER
3.1 Commercial Phase 1 80,262  Completed
BE-H ERL
32 Commercial Phase 2 - 10,637 Completed
Expansion project BRI
BE_H-BEIR
4 Yinchuan Project West of China National Residential, Residential Portion 100% 119.05 mu 221,118 N/A
fidllbegs) Highway 109, DeSheng Commercial 2 (79,365.0 sq.m) TER
Industrial Park* (BT~ € H# 119.058
#EE), Yinchuan City, (79,365.0F 5 3%)
Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region, the PRC
HEEEEERRERIT
EBTEER109EER
4.1 Residential Phase 1 33672  Completed and delivered
-4 BRIWRA
42 Residential Phase 2 45,788 Main part completed
FEZH IRIRRT
43 Residential Phase 3 141,668 December 2021
FE=H ZZZ-E+CH
5 Qinhuangdao Project ~ Qinhuangdao Municipality, ~ Residential, Whole Portion 100% 1,077 mu 500,899 Medium-term
£2B%ER Beidaihe New District, Commercial Ep (717,955 sq.m) Ll
Changli County, Central %% 1,077#;
Golden Coast (717,955 53K)
REETIHINEERH
ELERTH
5.1 Phase 1 (including the 84,130 Main part partially
Exhibit Center and completed
excluding D section) BHFEIRRT
—# (EBTRD,
TEDE)
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Property Portfolio

MEES

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included  Expected
Number Item Name Location Type of Property ~ Portion Interest  (Total Site Area) underground) ~ Completion Date Lease Term
(sqm)
WEER BEER B
F#  HEAE HIEE MEER A& bR (BM5HER) (EBHT) TAEE HEMR
FAH)
6 Changchun Project  Xingfu Village Sheling Street ~ Residential, Whole Portion 42% 442.8 mu 573,504 Medium-term
REER Shuangyang District Commercial Bi (295,368 sq.m) )
Changchun City Jilin e HE 442,88
Province the PRC (295,368 75 3K)
TEERERETERE
EREEN
6.1 Phase 1 106,102 Main part completed and
-8 partially delivered
FRIRTILHHR
R
6.2 Phase 2 162,000  September 2022
_# BCFAR
7 Huailai Wineries Zhangjiakou, Huailai Industrial (small ~ Whole Portion 50% 156.06 mu 104,038  To be confirmed Medium-term
BREE County, Sangyuan Town, private wine 28 (104,038 sq.m) i R i
Zhangguanying Village, estate) 156.068
Xinxiang Ling Village T% (104,038 5 )
Northwest (NEFLNTERD)
RRONEREZAR
REEHTBENAL

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE 07



Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE T REAN

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Richly Field China
Development Limited (the “Company”) hereby present the consolidated
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year” or the “Reporting Period”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such as
tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus), development
of high-end residential properties as well as property management.

Key projects of the Group include Changsha Outlets Project, which is
a comprehensive project comprising the Globe Outlets (commercial)
and Outlets Town (residential) developed by the Group in Changsha,
Hunan Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and
the JeShing European City Project which is a comprehensive project
comprising “E#118” (commercial), “&KfEE” (commercial) and “XF#
%" (commercial) and JinSheng Yue Jing (residential) developed by the
Group in Yinchuan, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, the PRC, together
with the Qinhuangdao Venice-the City of Water QOutlets Project which is a
comprehensive project developed by the Group in BeiDaiHe new district,
Qinhuangdao, Hebei, the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$41,168,000 as compared to approximately HK$181,687,000 for the
Corresponding Period, representing a decrease of 77.3%. The decrease
in revenue was mainly attributable to the impact of the novel coronavirus
disease (COVID-19) pandemic, operations were disrupted for a few
months. The Group recognises revenue when construction of properties
is completed and the title of properties have been transferred to
customers. Management fee income was approximately HK$13,513,000
for the Year as compared to approximately HK$16,437,000 for the
Corresponding Period, representing a decrease of 17.8%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

The Group recorded a loss on revaluation of investment properties
of approximately HK$89,481,000 for the Year as compared to
approximately HK$140,551,000 for the Corresponding Period.
The loss attributable to equity holders amounted to approximately
HK$415,682,000 as compared to approximately HK$294,856,000 for the
Corresponding Period, representing an increase of 41.0%. The loss per
share for the Year was HK1.78 cents as compared to HK1.26 cents for
the Corresponding Period.

As for financing aspect, regarding the loan agreements with a related
party, ERERERREMHLEEEEFR AT, the total outstanding
principal amount was approximately RMB231,792,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$274,256,000) (the “Other Loan 17) as at 31 March
2021 and is due to repay on 31 December 2022. Other Loan 1 is with
an interest rate of 9.5% per annum and was secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s assets. Regarding the loan agreement with related
parties, JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited* (2 B 25 E
EEBERRAD)), MRE—BEEIREERRAB and JLEREEME
BBR/AE], the total outstanding principal amount was RMB301,800,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$357,090,000) (the “Other Loan 27) as
at 31 March 2021. Other Loan 2 is due in March 2022 with an interest
rate range of 5.7%-6.19% per annum and was secured by the pledge of
certain of the Group’s assets.

The Group entered into an extension loan agreement regarding a
revolving loan facility agreement with a related party, JeShing Real Estate
Group Company Limited* (B XKL EEEARAT) in relation to an
unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,183,200,000) (the “Other Loan 4”) at
an interest rate of 5% per annum and is due to repay in December 2022.
As at 31 March 2021, approximately RMB59,652,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$70,580,000) had been utilised.

RAEER AEBRESREVESHME
EE5184989,481,00078 7T » 45 FE A3 3
A%140,551,0008 o HmITH AE
BB A 49415,682,00038 75 > & 48 FE HA &
B #7294,856,0008 7012 M041.0% ° & &
ERNESREIEA1.78E 1 HEHBA A
1,267l -

BHFERSREERET
% ERATDITINEZTBZEN
:2:—& B=+t—HMXEEAE
WMEEAN A ANRM231,792,0007T (FHE R
#274,256,000%8 7t) (TEMERR1]) »
RIEZZF+ZHB=+—HEHEE
HMER1ZBERAEENE TEER
S FHNKRAEISY HFEHSHRBER
EEEERAR - BRF—EETREEHR
ERADRIBEMMN AR AT IL
NEFBENR _ZE-_—F=B=+—H
HREEAEHLEARA AR®I01,800,000
7T (A E R 4357,090,0008 T) (TEME
%xzj)oﬁfmaTuLLg#K%lEﬁ%ﬂF
BEENEB FANENFS7%E6.19%° 1*
—E__F=HF 8

AEBE-—LHAEFREXREEH
ERADMBERERRESEZEEHA
4% AR #1,000,000,0007T (HHE R
2’31 183,200,0008 75) ~ EME5%BI1E

TmEmE (THMmEmR4)) WIEHRE
TAT EONRIEZZE+T”BEBHEE-
RZEZ—F=H=+—H ' BE8AHOA
K 1#59,652,0007t (&7 470,580,000
BT) o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENmES

In 2017, the Group entered into loan agreements with a bank together
with a financial institution in relation to the loan facility in the total
outstanding principal amount of RMB940,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,113,036,000) for a term of 5 years at an interest rate
range of 8%-10% per annum which was secured by the pledge of certain
of the Group’s assets (the “Other Loan 3”), which had been utilised as at
31 March 2021. In October 2019, the Group entered into a supplemental
agreement, in which the due dates of Other Loan 3 has been extended
and the Group has defaulted the repayment amount of RMB248,800,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$294,380,000) (the “First Installment”)
together with unpaid default interest of RMB14,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$17,393,000) due on 30 June 2020.

Regarding the loan agreement with a financial institution (the “Hunan
Huarong”), the total outstanding principal amount was RMB270,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$319,464,000) (the “Other Loan 5
as at 31 March 2021. The interest rate was 11.5% per annum and
secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s assets and is due to
repay in June 2022. The Group is required to deposit RMB123,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$145,534,000) as pledged deposit into
a designated bank account by Hunan Huarong (the “Additional Deposit”)
during the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. Regarding Other
Loan 3, the Group failed to repay the First Installment and unpaid default
interest on 30 June 2020. Regarding Other Loan 5, the Group failed
to put in the full amount of Additional Deposit during the period from 1
July 2019 to 30 June 2020. Pursuant to the terms of Other Loan 3 and
Other Loan 5, the bank and the financial institutions have a discretionary
right to demand immediate full repayment of the outstanding principal
of RMB940,700,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,113,036,000)
and RMB270,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$319,464,000)
respectively together with any unpaid interest. The Directors have
commenced negotiations of the repayment terms of the loans with the
relevant providers of finance since then. Up to the date of this report,
those negotiations are still in progress and have not been concluded.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

Projects Overview

Changsha Outlets Project

Located in Changsha Wangcheng National Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Changsha Outlets Project features a special
“residential + commercial” product mix in the local market to establish the
Group’s market recognition as a featured property developer. The project
covers an area of approximately 1,500 mu, comprising a residential
portion (Outlets Town) and a commercial portion (Globe Outlets), with
planned areas of approximately 1,000 mu and 500 mu, respectively.

IEEHE

RVBEYFRIFIER
ENVBEERHTBEBEUREVTERAKE
WMEHEFEMEEE  UIETE+HEIF6
ERAEeSHAEHE JEAERRE
MERZEATHEANLE -BELIHH
1,500k REEHD TEF/NE RkiEmE
o NRIKBERK I EBEER BERETER
B1EEE D B4 A50084 K2 1,000 ©

Residential Project — Outlets Town or Qutlets City

Specially designed by the Group as a high-class low-density residential
community in Spanish style, Outlets Town offers high-quality detached
and semi-detached houses, townhouses, bungalows, mid-rise and high-
rise buildings, surrounded by verdant plants along with well-designed
streams and bridges, with a super-low plot ratio. It outperforms other
nearby property projects in terms of appearance, quality, unit layout
and comfort. In particular, the greenery and landscape design of the
community highlight the project out of the others, which offers a green
space ratio of 40%, creating abundant oxygen by plenty of plants.

ETEE B )E B BRI

TRRNEIDAERBLOITENENES
BEEREZESHKRETEHE ERTER
ARCEEBR EHRBINE TEE
NFE N\ EEABERERE GEIRE
WERKE BEEZBREERR - EHmENH
B -mE PHEATEE BEREENEE
Ht¥EEE - LHE /NG REMIER
B EREEAZBHNTR > 40%09 4%
xS aREFEFI Ko

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE 11



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENmES

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to focus on developing
Section C (residential phase 3 of the project), which covers a site area
of approximately 204 mu, planned to be developed into 37 11-storey
buildings and a kindergarten. Currently, pre-sale permits have been
obtained for 15 buildings. For the first batch of ten buildings, the
construction of main structures has been completed; basement fire
control works, indoor fire control and water supply works have been
basically completed; construction of stairwell steps has been completed
and decoration of external walls has been basically completed except for
lacquer finish works; the installation of aluminium alloy window frames,
aluminium alloy frames for balcony slide doors, supports for roof-top
solar panels, and balcony balustrades has been completed. For the
second batch of ten buildings, the capping of main structures has been
completed, plastering of interior and external walls has been completed,
decoration works of external walls have been completed except for
lacquer finish works, and installation of aluminium alloy window frames
and balcony balustrades has been completed. Affected by the stringent
local regulatory policies on real estate and the epidemic, the further
development of Section C of Outlets Town is under immense pressure,
but the Group will shoulder its corporate and social responsibilities
unwaveringly, continue to negotiate and cooperate with the government,
financial institutions and competent peers, and strive to achieve smooth
delivery of the sold properties by the end of August 2021.

BREHAN AEBNIEBRRDAEDRR
HMEEN204MNCE (REBEBEE=
)  REERAIVHRIEN)NSERER
REE#HZE > BRI BB 15MEERES
A Hp gt +RBEEES M EREL
BER W INEHEBHIRE ZERHED KRG
KIRERTR , ARBEEED I T
o NBERBEAT T  ERERARNE
TR, e EE -BakhfiRs
TE-EBMABEERRZE BB
WEE-F_HTHRER - TREFEESE
BB TR > = RSN K B 52 BK 0 S AR R T
BEFEARMELE M EFIEEMN
» O RITZE TN X E M BRI ER
EHRREBERZE ARNHECENERE
WMERREANBRD EEAEERTERERE
ENMHEEE THELGBN  =REE
REBNONERRBT ARR_TZ—F
NBEZABERMZNEEHE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

Outlets Town is equipped with the renowned nine-year school,
Wangcheng Nanya School (23 @ #E24%) . During the Reporting Period,
with months of hard work by various parties, the secondary school
section (including teaching buildings and faculty apartments) were finally
put into official use on 30 August 2020 to meet normal teaching and
living requirements for almost 1,200 teachers and students. In terms of
project construction, the Group has completed the interior and exterior
decoration works for two teaching buildings and one complex building for
the primary school section during the Reporting Period, and is carrying
out fine decoration for these buildings. The canteen was officially put into
operation on 1 March of the Year for teachers and students of the school
to dine hassle-free. The basement and temporary residential building are
all undergoing construction of decoration works. For the gymnasium,
the main structure has been completed, pending installation of the grid-
structure roof; construction of the main structure of the gymnasium stand
has been completed, pending installation of the roof of the rostrum and
fine decoration. The decoration of the southern and northern gates, the
main structure and decoration of the three walls have been completed;
the southern road has been completed and put into use; concrete
pouring has been completed for the northern road, pending construction
of bituminous pavement. Landscaping and greening works have been
completed and put into use for the secondary school section, and
landscaping and greening works for the primary school section have
also been completed. For the remaining sections, the pipe network of
landscaping and greening has been completed as to 30%. In the next
stage, the Group will focus on advancing ancillary works in full swing to
ensure complete delivery by 30 August of the Year.

Commercial Properties — Globe Outlets

Globe Outlets, the commercial portion of the Changsha Outlets Project
with a developed area of nearly 100,000 sg.m. so far, has more than 200
domestically and internationally renowned fashion retail brands settling
therein, a large separate indoor trampoline centre with an area of over
5,000 sg.m., an IMAX cinema complex, an art education and training
institution with an area of over 5,000 sg.m., HappyNest (a supermarket
for imported household products) with an area of over 3,000 sgq.m., a
cartoon amusement park for children with an area of over 2,000 sgq.m., a
high-end chain kindergarten with an area of over 3,000 sg.m., an indoor
constant temperature swimming pool and children’s water park, brand
specialty catering, and Internet-famous stores popular among young
people. It has become a locally well-known large commercial centre
integrating shopping, recreation, entertainment and education.

TRFNBRIEEENF—ERRRITENRE
WER -BRERRN KBZHHALE
FEIREREANR_BEZZFNA=ZF+
HEXBAFEH 1,200 ERMEER
EREBE-ITREXRTE  FEEENK
SHIA TR/ W AR BN — R
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Since its official opening in 2014, Globe Outlets has attracted loyal
patrons with its unique low-density block-type shopping ambiance,
quality goods at massive discounts, and a product structure that is
constantly adjusted to meet customers’ demands. Within a radius of
several kilometres, there are numerous residential properties and large
enterprises, yet Globe Outlets is the only large commercial complex to
be found, which gives it a definite edge. With the successive delivery and
occupancy of these properties, Globe Outlets will cover an increasingly
expanding potential customer base going forward and offer more
diversified products and services for various customer groups to attract
customer traffic, promote consumption, and contribute continuous cash
flows to the Group.

Qinhuangdao Venice - City of Water Outlets Project
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited* (Z2 2 & RS RKETE
2 ABME/AF)is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The project
developed by the company in the core area of International Healthy City,
Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, is positioned as a large coastal
shopping, tourism and healthcare resort complex with outlets business
as the major operation, integrated with high-end hot spring resort hotels,
high-end hospitals, health preservation and elderly care, cultural and
entertainment activities, and recreational resorts (“Qinhuangdao Venice-
City of Water Outlets Project”).
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Qinhuangdao Venice-City of Water Outlets Project covers an area of
approximately 1,077 mu, planned to be developed in three phases.
Phase 1 of the project covers a total area of approximately 230,000
sg.m., which is planned to be developed, by function, into outlets
business (including Latitude Space), a health preservation hotel, resort
units and an exhibition centre, along with supporting parking lots
and greenery landscape. The Group has successively obtained the
construction work planning and commencement permits for Sections
A, B, and C of Phase 1 and the exhibition centre, the construction work
planning permit for Section D of Phase 1 as well as the pre-sale permits
for the first 59 resort units.

As at the end of Reporting Period, the main structure of outlets business,
which covers an area of approximately 70,000 sg.m., has completed
capping, and many units have completed construction of the secondary
structure and inspection of the main structure. The outlets business
section (including Latitude Space) has entered the fine decoration stage,
and construction of the eastern vehicle ramp has been completed. The
construction plan of the health preservation hotel in Section D has been
vetted. The exhibition centre has been fully constructed and put into use
for sale of Phase 1 resort units and daily office operation. Construction
of the entrance and exit of the outdoor plaza, bituminous pavement of
the exhibition centre, pedestrian way, small car park and temporary car
park and greening works of the site have been completed. A total of 189
resort units with courtyard have been planned in one-storey, two-storey
or three-storey duplexes, among which the structures of 129 resort units
were capped during the Reporting Period, and plastering of external walls
and roof-top tiling have been basically completed for a total of 55 units.
The entrance and exit and front view landscape of the project have been
built; the concrete structure for the waterscape at the main entrance
and relevant reserved and embedded parts have been completed;
external wall lacquer and lighting works of the clock tower have been fully
completed.
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In addition, the planning schemes for Phase 2 and Phase 3 were
reviewed and approved by Qinhuangdao Municipal Planning Commission
on 8 April 2020. Phase 2 has been ascertained to be developed section
by section, which is planned to be developed into multiple four-storey
and six-storey bungalows and supporting community facilities. As at the
end of Reporting Period, Sections 1 to 5 of Phase 2 of the project have
obtained the reply of approval for project initiation, Sections 1 and 2 of
Phase 2 has obtained the notice of joint proposal review, and Section 2
has passed the joint proposal review.

In April 2020, a sales kick-off conference was held at the Venice-City of
Water Project, with a turnout of over 300 sales elites of the city visiting
and studying the project in detail. The conference played a critical role in
promoting the brand of the Venice-City of Water Project, raising publicity
of the project. In May, the company held large scale warm-up activities
for celebration of International Labour Day and Children’s Day, and invited
prospective customers to participate, marking a new milestone in project
marketing. During the Golden Week in October, on the back of the local
tourist peak season in Qinhuangdao, prospective customers were once
again invited with a view to speeding up flat sales.

I
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Yinchuan Project

The Company held the property named JeShing European City (52X BX
NI through Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Ltd.* (BE &5
KEBXHMRAT) (“Ningxia Jinguan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. JeShing European City comprises five parcels of land with
a total site area of approximately 133,300 sg.m. and a residential and
commercial complex constructed thereon (“Yinchuan Project”).

Yinchuan residential project — Jin Sheng Yue Jing (£ & /Z =)

Featured with the supporting commercial facilities, Jin Sheng Yue Jing
is a large-scale residential community developed passionately by the
Company, which creates a comfortable and convenient living environment
on the back of the surrounding resources such as banks, medical
institutes, educational institutions, department stores and supermarkets,
entertainment facilities and restaurants as well as its own lifestyle
amenities and building materials stores. With a site area of approximately
120 mu and a planned gross floor area of approximately 221,000 sg.m.,
the Jin Sheng Yue Jing project comprises 20 mid to high-rise buildings to
be developed in 3 phases. The project has adopted the frame shear wall
structure across the board, the beige granite paint for exterior decoration,
and the internationally popular Artdeco neoclassic architectural style for
the overall appearance, presenting a sense of fashion, solemnity and
elegance.

Four buildings under Phase 1 of Jin Sheng Yue Jing have been
completed and delivered. Construction of the main structure has been
completed for two buildings under Phase 2. During the Reporting
Period, the Group focused on development of Phase 3, which has a
planned gross floor area of approximately 140,000 sg.m., comprising 14
11/18-storey exquisite mid-rise buildings. In terms of project construction,
during the Reporting Period, capping of the main structure of 7 buildings
in the eastern portion of Phase 3, namely buildings 5, 6, 13 to 16 and
19, was smoothly completed; and internal wall plastering, external wall
insulation, construction of the wall masonry filing and the secondary
structure were fully completed, and examinations and inspections of
these parts of the works by the five responsible parties and the quality
supervision station were passed. The Group expects that the 7 buildings
under Phase 3 will be delivered by the end of 2021.
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The Group successfully obtained the pre-sale permits for 7 buildings
under Phase 3 in July 2020, representing complete acquisition of 14 pre-
sale permits for Phase 3 and thus ensuring legal compliance for the rolling
sales of the Jin Sheng Yue Jing project. Due to its high cost performance
and complete education, medical and other living facilities, sales
performance of Phase 3 of Jin Sheng Yue Jing has been maintaining
a leading position in the industry, earning the title of Popular Property
Project in 2020 by Sina Leju FT/R%£/E) . As at the end of 2020, it was
still capable of attracting market resources amid the gloomy economy,
achieving outstanding sales and proceeds.

Yinchuan Commercial Properties

The Yinchuan Commercial Properties consist of three commercial
buildings (namely “E11%”, “KEE” and “XF&EH") and two corridors,
collectively known as Jeshing International Home Furnishing Mall e
Desheng Square (& B EIEKE o 25 E ) with a total gross floor area
of approximately 95,000 sg.m. It is an integrated commercial complex
featuring building materials and furniture stores, department stores,
restaurants and supermarkets, with malls offering high-end building
materials and upscale household products covering gross floor areas
of approximately 40,000 sg.m. and 30,000 sg.m. respectively. The
elegant and comfortable commercial environment, easy accessibility by
convenient public transportation, bespoke commercial layout plan and
premium quality management have made it a new premier commercial
landmark in Yinchuan.

In terms of business solicitation, in addition to building materials and
household products stores that have been growing from strength to
strength in the industry, the Group brought in a large indoor trampoline
centre and a boxing gym to the corridors, which invigorated the existing
product portfolio, and attracted a wider range of shopping groups
with a unique business structure, redefining the traditional image of a
shopping mall for building materials and household products by being
more inclusive. During the Reporting Period, with its well-established
brand influence in the field of household products and building materials,
the Group completed business solicitation for the second to fifth floors
of the building of XF ¥ in the third quarter of 2020, and with
prime geographical location, it successfully attracted 30 household
products and building materials players originally operating in Yinchuan
International Trade Market (3R)I|BIFREE ), giving a further boost
to the shopping mall in terms of scale. In October 2020, Curtain City
of Jeshing International Home Furnishing Mall (BB R /& & 5 i)
commenced operations and achieved a letting rate of 100% through
business solicitation, becoming the largest curtain wholesale base in the
northwest region to date.
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In terms of marketing, during the Reporting Period, the Group joined
hands with brand partners and hosted a number of large alliance
marketing events, such as Stroll, Shop, Save (‘BE’REEFE & 2", Star-
studded JeShing Grand Opening (‘& B A 2B ZE"), Summer Sale (‘B
AF”), JeShing’s Bargain Price Offerings (‘&I EL1B ~ £ BB K”), Grand
Banquet (‘SFIRE"), 12.12 Super Sale (“12.1281E#&") and JeShing’s
Grand Event in the Year of the Ox (‘K> 847", promising
marketing for every month and promotion for every day, which attracted
large traffic to the mall and drove significant sales on those dates, and
actively encouraged alliance stores to cooperate with enthusiasm.

Meanwhile, as a large enterprise with a strong sense of social
responsibility, the Group visited solitary elderly in Languang Village,
Helan County in May 2020, and brought them rice, flour, oil and other
daily necessities, actively promoting our positive enterprise culture. The
Company arranged party members to visit a military base on 1 July
2020 to learn about national development history, and later arranged
employees to record videos on the National Day on 1 October to
celebrate the birthday of our great motherland. In 2021, to strengthen the
physique and solidarity of employees and guide cadres and employees
to actively take part in the practice of Drawing a New Picture of Ningxia
and Fulfiling the Great Chinese Dream (‘s =BHEE HERAT
Bl 2") with a healthy body and high morale, Yinchuan Company actively
participated in the First Sports Day for Workers of the Helan Industrial Park
(BEIXEEF—ERITESD) jointly hosted by the local party and
the masses affairs office and the trade union in celebration of the 100th
anniversary of the party establishment.

Associated Companies
During the Reporting Period, the projects managed by the associated
companies of the Company also achieved certain progress.

Huailai Project

The master plan, demonstration area design plan, chateau design plan
and environmental impact assessment of the characteristic villa residential
and winery project in Huailai of Hebei Province have been completed.
The project is developed by Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited (1223
A—BEHBEEBRAT), a 50%-owned associated company of the
Company. In the demonstration area, access to roads, electricity and
water supply has been in place and certain works regarding landscaping,
planting and slope wall reconditioning have been completed. In addition,
bidding for a parcel of construction land of approximately 480 mu to be
put up for sale is under preparation.
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Changchun Project

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited* (FMBEFFHITER L EITINME
FRAE) (“Jiin Company”), a 42%-owned associated company of the
Company, obtained land use rights for a piece of land with an area
of 443 mu for commercial and residential purposes in Shuangyang
District, Changchun City, Jilin Province in April 2016. In order to seek
differentiated development, Jilin Company plans to develop its project in
Shuangyang District, Changchun into an integrated project (“Jilin Project”)
combining a theme park and a cultural tourism town under the theme of
cultural tourism and the objective of building a liveable place with elderly
care.

An area of approximately 443 mu of the above lot is used for Phase 1
of the Jilin Project. Jilin Company initially developed the C3 residential
lot of the land under the promotion name of JeShing Premium (& 8% 4%
&) (later renamed as JeShing Jiuli New City (8% o FLE ) in April
2020), which covers an area of approximately 74 mu with plot ratio
of 1.49 and greening ratio of 30.81%, by planning and building it into
a high-end residential community with 12 multi-storey buildings and
planned gross floor area of approximately 105,000 sg.m. with hot spring
directly accessible to each individual unit. During the Reporting Period,
construction of all buildings under Phase 1 of JeShing Jiuli New City was
basically completed, and some of the buildings were delivered in January
2021 for owners to move in.

Meanwhile, in view of the popularity of Phase 1 in the market, Jilin
Company also took the opportunity and actively developed and
promoted Phase 2 of JeShing Jiuli New City, which covers an area of
approximately 116.7 mu with plot ratio of 1.58 and greening ratio of
30.55%, by planning and building it into 20 high-end multi-storey and
mid-rise buildings with hot spring directly accessible to each individual
unit, a kindergarten building, two public buildings and other supporting
facilities, with planned gross floor area of approximately 162,000 sg.m.
During the Reporting Period, Jilin Company obtained the construction
commencement permits for a number of buildings under Phase 2, and a
gross floor area of approximately 95,000 sg.m. will be developed initially.
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In terms of marketing, at the beginning of the Reporting Period, there
were basically no on-site visits to the exhibition hall due to the epidemic.
During the period, the online sales office was opened and 360%nline
flat viewing was launched. Members of the sales team carried out live
broadcast for flat sales, promoted the information of the project through
online channels, and fully leveraged the use of new media to increase
exposure of the project to make up for the problem of few on-site visits.
In mid-June 2020, the sales centre on the project site was officially
opened to the public, and show flats at delivery standards were opened
at the same time, building market influence and customer awareness in
the market to a certain extent.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION ISSUED BY THE
AUDITOR

As disclosed on pages 92 to 95 of this report, the disclaimer of opinion
was mainly the result of multiple uncertainties faced by the Group relating
to going concern assumption of the Group. Specifically, the Company’s
auditor (the “Auditor”) noted (i) net loss of approximately HK$415,682,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021, (i) as at 31 March 2021, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$1,905,441,000 and cash
and cash equivalents of approximately HK$57,302,000 only, and (iii)
the Group breached the terms of Other Loan 3 and Other Loan 5 as
explained in the financial review section above, these borrowings become
in default and the lenders have the right to demand immediate repayment
of the entire outstanding principal balance and all unpaid interest. In the
Auditor’s opinion, there may be material uncertainties on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

THE BOARD AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW
AND THE PLAN TO ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION

The Directors have carefully assessed the Auditor’s qualification and
concerns and have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections covering
a period of twelve months from 31 March 2021 which have taken into
account the followings:

(i) the Group’s property development projects had shown steady
progress and the Group is in the process of accelerating the
pre-sales and sales of its properties under development;
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(i)  the continuous financial support from related parties, including
the unutilised loan facility from a related company beneficially
owned by a controlling shareholder of RMB1,000,000,000 that
will not be expiring before 31 March 2022 of which approximately
RMB940,348,000 remained unutilised as at 31 March 2021;

(i)  the forecasted operating cash flows for the year ending 31 March
2022.

In addition, the Group is also considering various options for obtaining
additional financing to the Group, such as new investors and business
partners, and the Group had been in active negotiation with potential
buyers for the disposal of projects or subsidiaries of the Group.
Subsequent to the year end, the Group entered into a memorandum of
understanding with an independent third party for the disposal of certain
subsidiaries which are the borrowers of the loans that are in default.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to fuffill its financial obligations
as and when they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 March
2021. Accordingly, the Directors of the Company are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. These consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments relating to the carrying amounts and reclassification of
assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Group be unable
to continue as a going concern.

As disclosed on page 41 of this report, the audit committee of the
Company has reviewed with the management the Group’s consolidated
financial results for the year ended 31 March 2021, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, risk management and internal control, and financial reporting
matters. During the meeting of the audit committee held on 30 June
2021, all members of the audit committee thoroughly reviewed the
Auditor’s qualification and the Group’s financial position, and agreed with
the management’s position that the Company was able to carry on as a
going concern.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the Year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its business operations with its internal
resources and loan facilities from banks, financial institutions and related
parties. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$57,302,000 (2020: HK$27,107,000). The
Group’s current ratio (measured as total current assets to total current
liabilities) was 0.63 times (2020: 0.88 times). The secured and unsecured
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,432,500,000 (2020: HK$1,325,111,000) and
approximately HK$53,968,000 (2020: HK$52,674,000), respectively as at
31 March 2021.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, property interest held by the Group with net
carrying amount in aggregate of approximately HK$2,186,407,000 (31
March 2020: HK$2,061,241,000) were pledged to banks and financial
institutions. And the carrying amount of the properties under development
erected thereon amounted to approximately HK$566,193,000 (2020:
HK$512,869,000).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As the Group’s bank and other borrowings, bank and cash balances,
trade receivables, prepayments, deposits, other receivables, trade
payables, accruals, other payables, receipts in advance, contract liabilities
and amounts due to related parties were mainly denominated in RMB,
the Group had not experienced significant exposure to foreign currency
fluctuation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENmES

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had capital commitments of
construction of properties included under property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of approximately HK$571,005,000 (31 March
2020: HK$472,697,000).

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 29 June 2021, the Group entered into a non legally binding
Memorandum of Understanding with 247X E1EREE B RA T (Lewoju
Holding Group Co,. Ltd") (the “Purchaser”) in relation to a possible
disposal of 100% equity interest of the Changsha Outlets Project (the
“Possible Disposal”). The consideration for the Possible Disposal shall
comprise of (i) consideration of RMB1, and (i) Purchaser to assume all
liabilities of the Changsha Outlets Project. In the event that the Possible
Disposal materialises, the Possible Disposal is expected to complete on
or before 31 December 2021. Details of which are further disclosed in
the announcement of the Company published by the Company on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 June 2021.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed a total of 233 employees
(excluding Directors), as compared to 247 employees (excluding
Directors) as at 31 March 2020. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and prevailing market
parameters. Employee benefits include pension insurance fund, medical
insurance coverage, unemployment insurance fund, occupational injury
insurance fund, maternity insurance fund, housing provident fund and
mandatory provident fund (for Hong Kong employees).

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

Looking back on the past year, COVID-19 was beyond doubt the talk
of the town across the globe, and in just a couple of months ruthlessly
and “single-handedly” crippling numerous economies around the world,
and subjecting the human race to an unprecedented public health crisis.
With disease prevention measures such as lockdown of premises, work
suspension, and home isolation in place, the entire world was once
mired in a “great lockdown” that gave rise to a host of problems such
as economic stagnancy, political upheaval, social division, and regional
segmentation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

To date, many western countries are still hard hit by the epidemic. In
contrast, the Chinese government has done a good job as its disease
prevention and control initiatives have yielded significant strategic results,
and effectively facilitating the resumption of normal work and life as
well. The national economy maintained a steady recovery momentum.
Statistics showed that notwithstanding a year-on-year decline of 6.8%
in GDP in the first quarter of 2020, the growth rate turned positive in the
second quarter with a year-on-year growth of 3.2%, which further jumped
10 4.9% in the third quarter, and the fourth quarter recorded year-on-year
GDP growth of 6.5%, beating expectations of 6.2%. Various economic
indicators were on an upward trajectory, and China was the only major
economy in the world to achieve a positive growth in 2020, with national
GDP exceeding RMB100 trillion for the first time.

In terms of industry policy, 2021 is the first year of the 14th Five-Year
Plan of the state. The Plan restates that housing is for people to live in,
not for speculation. Emphasis is placed on both rental and purchase
with differential policies across cities, so as to promote the long-term
stable and sound development of the real estate market. It requires to
strengthen the basic role of consumption on economic development.
As a basic consumer product with the largest consumption, real estate
will continue to grow in the future. Meanwhile, the 14th Five-Year Plan
encourages the development of new consumption models and new
business initiatives, demonstrating that the state encourages innovation.
In the real estate field, it mainly involves innovation of new products such
as shared residences or long-term rental apartments that can effectively
alleviate the pressure on housing. The Plan also advocates switching from
purchase management to usage management. For commodities such as
flats and automobiles, the state generally encourages to use them instead
of acquiring the ownership by purchase, demonstrating that real estate
will focus more on the mode of rental housing going forward. In addition,
the Plan also promotes the balanced development of finance, real estate
and the real economy, and avoid the situation of dominance by real
estate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENmES

The Group has focused on the real estate market, strategically rolling out
diverse product mixes such as “residential + commercial”’, “residential
+ senior care”, and “residential + cultural tourism”, which boast unique
features to forestall declined competitiveness due to homogeneity of
products. However, the success of a company also depends very much
on its ability to appreciate industry-related policies in advance and make
business adjustments and plans in a timely manner to align itself with
the policies. The nature of the Group’s current products is still focusing
on sales. Going forward, in terms of product innovation, it still has to
proactively respond to the calls of national policies, and ride on the trends
to launch new products such as shared residences or long-term rental
apartments with Richly Field features that are encouraged and supported
by the state, so as to adopt sales promotion approaches in line with
major market trends to ensure revenue.

As a double-edged sword, the epidemic has exposed the Group'’s
weakness in adaptability and resilience in extreme conditions. How to
“survive” or even “transcend” before the next “epidemic” hits is an issue
that enterprises must ponder on beyond their daily operations. It warrants
an imperative long-term reform that will be reflected on various aspects
such as product strategy, marketing approach, development model, and
financial alerts.

As such, the Group will constantly monitor the latest developments and
policies in the market and adjust product strategies in a timely manner to
the greatest extent. It will innovate product design with particular focus
on enhancing the intelligent delivery system of products to ensure that its
products are equipped with comprehensive functions to meet the needs
at all levels. Meanwhile, the Group will leverage current popular marketing
channels such as live streaming platforms, videos and VR, which boast
faster dissemination, wider scope, and more innovative forms, to promote
its products, bolster its brand reputation and alleviate the concentration of
risks arising from on-site flat viewing and off-line malls.

In addition, the Group will further enhance corporate financial alerts
by deploying professional analytical means to conduct analysis and
prediction on corporate operating activities and financial activities, so
as to identify the Group’s exposure to operating and financial risks in its
operating and management activities, and to issue alerts before a crisis
occurs and urge the management to take effective measures to mitigate
relevant risks. Meanwhile, the Group will cease to “stick to conventions”
and forsake the traditional mindset of “going at it alone” by enhancing
cooperation with financing institutions, governments and other real estate
developers to jointly invigorate its various projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

As described in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31
March 2020, due to the large financing amount at the early stage of
the Changsha Outlets Project, financial costs have accumulated over
time, and the tightening of the financing environment has made it more
difficult for the Company to satisfy its working capital. Coupled with the
local government’s strong implementation of strict real estate policies,
purchasing power and profitability are greatly reduced. Accordingly, in
consideration of the above financial alerts, the Group is still persistently
and proactively engaging with interested partners to jointly investigate
various options for the Changsha Outlets Project, for example, the Group
entered into a non legal binding memorandum of understanding with an
independent third party for the disposal of the Changsha Outlets Project
on 29 June 2021. The Possible Disposal, if materialised, will release
the Group from the liabilities of the Changsha Outlets Project. It would
therefore enable the Group to rationalise and deploy resources on other
areas of operations with the objective of enabling the Group to improve its
overall business performance. Provided that any decision will be made in
the best interests of the shareholders as a whole.
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Report of the Directors
EEgHRS

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 is
set out in the sections of Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
8 to 27.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 96.

There will not be a payment of a final dividend for the Year (31 March
2020: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company are set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on pages 99, 100 and 212, respectively.

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14.
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Report of the Directors
EFERS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was not more than 34% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year.

The percentage of purchases cost for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

57%
75%

- the largest supplier
- five largest suppliers combined

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 216. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Hsu Wai Man Helen

Wong Chi Hong William(®

Wong Tak Chun®

Xu Jinghong

Pursuant to Bye-Law 99, Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”) and Mr.
Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”) will retire from office by rotation at the AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 102(B), Mr. Wong Chi Hong William will retire from
office at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Notes:

1) With effect from 31 January 2021, Mr. Wong Chi Hong Wiliam has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the
audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Board, in replacement of Mr. Wong Tak Chun.

(2] With effect from 31 January 2021, Mr. Wong Tak Chun has resigned as an an
independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Board

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 89 to 91.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors, the Chief Executive of the
Company and their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies.
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Report of the Directors
EFERS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of persons (other
than Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS

Under otherwise specified, the shareholding percentages disclosed
below are calculated based on the total of 23,336,687,255 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2021.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company
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Complete Power International Limited (Note 1)  Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 10.03%
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Good Moral Enterprises Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 2,340,000,000 10.03%
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Stimulate High Investment Limited Beneficial owner 11,658,898,452 49.96%
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Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,600,000,000 11.14%
(Note 3)
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Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 2,600,000,000 11.14%
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Notes:

1) Fine Bliss Limited is the registered holder of 2,340,000,000 shares of the
Company. Mr. Wang Hua owns the entire issued share capital of Complete
Power International Limited, and Complete Power International Limited owns the
entire issued share capital of Good Moral Enterprises Limited, and Good Moral
Enterprises Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Fine Bliss Limited.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Hua, Complete Power International Limited and
Good Moral Enterprises Limited is deemed to be interested in the 2,340,000,000
shares directly held by Fine Bliss Limited under the SFO.

2) Stimulate High Investment Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Hua.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang Hua is deemed to be interested in the 11,658,898,452
shares directly held by Stimulate High Investment Limited under the SFO.

3) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited is the registered holder of 2,600,000,000
shares of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Sino Dynamics
Investments Limited is directly owned by Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings
Limited. Mr. Du Wei owns the entire issued share capital of Galaxy Sharp
Investment Holdings Limited. Accordingly, each of Galaxy Sharp Investment
Holdings Limited and Mr. Du Wei is deemed to be interested in the
2,600,000,000 shares directly held by Sino Dynamics Investments Limited under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, no person (other than
the Directors) had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To the best knowledge of the Board, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors
EFERS

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Having made all reasonable enquiries and based on the available
books and records, the Board is not aware of any material interest in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Shareholders
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Board is not aware of any contract during the Year entered into with
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, the Company and any of its subsidiaries did not
purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed shares.
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EFEHRS

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 29 June 2021, the Group entered into a non legal binding
Memorandum of Understanding with 247X EIEREE B RA T (Lewoju
Holding Group Co,. Ltd*) (the “Purchaser”) in relation to a possible
disposal of 100% equity interest of the Changsha Outlets Project (the
“Possible Disposal”). The consideration for the Possible Disposal shall
comprise of (i) consideration of RMB1, and (i) Purchaser to assume all
liabilities of the Changsha Outlets Project. In the event that the Possible
Disposal materialises, the Possible Disposal is expected to complete on
or before 31 December 2021. Details of which are further disclosed in
the announcement of the Company published by the Company on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 June 2021.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year
have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED, Certified Public
Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED as auditors of the Company.
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Report of the Directors
EFERS

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) will be held on
Wednesday , 25 August 2021.

To ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
19 August 2021 to Wednesday, 25 August 2021, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant shares certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong by 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 18 August 2021.

On behalf of the Board

Li Yi Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Company has been making an effort to enhance the
corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to the code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During the
Year, the Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions
set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code provisions
A2.1and E.1.2.

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, the Company had deviated from code provision A.2.1
because the roles of Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company had been vested in the same persons (Mr. Li
Yi Feng). The reason for this deviation was that the Board believes that
at the current development of the Group, vesting of the two roles in
the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilities the planning and execution of the Group’s
business strategies. The Board will review this structure periodically
and will consider steps to separate dual roles of chairman and chief
executive as and when appropriate taking into account the prevailing
circumstances.

Code provision E.1.2 provides that the Chairman of the Board should
attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”) and should be made available
to answer questions at the AGM.

Mr. Li Yi Feng, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the AGM
held on 27 August 2020 due to the travel restrictions arising from the
COQVID-19 pandemic. But the Chairperson of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees of the Company was present to answer shareholders’
questions at the AGM.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of five Directors
including two Executive Directors, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic
decisions and performance. In addition, the Board has delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees. Further details of these board
committees are set out in this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company will
also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Tak Chun
(resigned on 31 January 2021)
Wong Chi Hong William
(appointed on 31 January 2021)
Xu Jinghong

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical information of the
Directors is set out on pages 89 to 91.
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Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating the overall
strategies and policies of the Company in order to ensure effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance with
good corporate governance practices and encourages and facilitates
active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The chairman also
ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Company and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the Company’s
management team in accordance with the directions set by the Board
and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is
in place and the Company’s business conforms to applicable laws and
regulations.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors serve the important function of
ensuring and monitoring an effective corporate governance framework.
Their participation provides adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The
Board currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two of them have relevant professional qualification or accounting
or relating financial management expertise. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this
basis, the Board is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Independent Non-executive Directors will provide independent opinion
and share their knowledge and experience with other members of the
Board.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu
Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong William and Mr. Xu Jinghong, was
appointed for a fixed term of three years commencing from 21 November
2019, 31 January 2021 and 1 April 2020 respectively.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the Year, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and
general meetings is set out as follows:

Name

e

EFTERMRRAT
REAFE EFHRFREEFTEREREX
BZHERITRUOT

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITEEEE
Board Annual General
Meetings™ Meetings*

ExggE RERBFEXE"

Executive Directors:

WITES:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
N8R (EFEGTERITEAER)

Chen Wei (Vice President)

ReR1ET (B45 %)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
BIUFHITES :
Hsu Wai Man Helen
REE
Wong Tak Chun (resigned on 31 January 2021)
5 (N2 —F—A=+—8#D
Wong Chi Hong William (appointed on 31 January 2021)
BFE (N2 -—F—A=1+—HEZD
Xu Jinghong

* The denominator represents the number of Board meetings, annual general
meeting or, as the case may be, special general meetings, held during the tenure
of each Director in the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

All minutes of Board meetings and general meetings are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and access to the advice
and services of the company secretary. In addition, the Company
enables the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances.

8/8 0/1
8/8 0/1
8/8 11
/7 0/1
2/2 0/0
8/8 0/1
* AEERBE_Z_—F=-A=+—H1tH
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director is provided with induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business as well as his/her responsibilities under the

relevant status, laws, rules and regulations.

The continuous professional development is provided to all Directors at
the Company’s expense to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to assist them in discharging their duties. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, a record of the training attended/received by each of the

Directors, is set out as follows:

EFZEI

FABBEMEEFRHBAKRER X
EREABVEBRARS ZEERER U
REWVERER  EZR - RAURKFHET
Z8E-

ARBEBEENMEESEREFEETXRS
ANERT EHEMB RRE HHRE
BORE UBEREEFAESSFHANE
RABRAZ B R

REAFER KEEZ2HE ZZEIBN
SLERHITRATE ¢

Type of training

Name W4 EeNEER

Executive Directors: BITESE .

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and TN (EESFERITHAES) A&B
Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Wei (Vice President) R e (S48 %) A&B

Independent Non-executive Directors: BILIEHITES !

Hsu Wai Man Helen REH A&B

Wong Tak Chun (resigned on 31 January 2021) =EE (RNZ2T—F—A=+—H&D A&B

Wong Chi Hong William (appointed on 31 January 2021) &FE (M _E_—F—H=+—HEZD)

Xu Jinghong FER A&B

Notes: Pt -

A attending courses/seminars/conferences

B: reading journals/written training materials/updates
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting system and risk management and internal control systems;
making recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal
of the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim and annual reports
and accounts of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised all Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Tak Chun
(until 31 January 2021), Mr. Wong Chi Hong William (from 31 January
2021) and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of
the Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended on 30 September 2020 and the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:
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ERMNEERITNMT :

Number of meetings /BT

of the Audit Committee BNLZEE

Name attended/held 4 g1
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 33 BREHEE 33
Wong Tak Chun (resigned on 31 January 2021) 2/3 EEE 2/3

MRZBZ—F—B=+—H&MD
Wong Chi Hong William 111 &TE 1/1
(appointed on 31 January 2021) MWZIEZ—F—B=1+—REZMD

Xu Jinghong 3/3 HTER 3/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
for Directors and senior management, and overseeing the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprises one Executive
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Tak Chun (until
31 January 2021), Mr Wong Chi Hong William (from 31 January 2021)
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
includes recommending the remuneration of Mr. Wong Chi Hong
William as independent non-executive Director, reviewing the policy for
the remuneration of Executive Directors, assessing the performance
of Executive Directors and approving the terms of Executive Directors’
service contracts.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the

FMEEE
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Remuneration Committee is set out as follows: EEMNHEXRITRUOT !
Number of meetings
of the Remuneration HE BT
Committee FMZEg
Name attended/held* 4% RGN
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 171 BREREE 11
Li Yi Feng 11 ZR 11
Wong Tak Chun (resigned on 31 January 2021) 171 =EE 1/1
MRZBZ—F—F=+—H#MD
Wong Chi Hong William 00 BFE 0/0
(appointed on 31 January 2021) W2 —F—B=+—HEZMD
Xu Jinghong 11 FTEB 1/1
* The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Remuneraton — * PERRBEEZE—F=B=+—HIt#
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Remuneration BFEEHFNEEENSHFNEEERETH
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2021. PFTRITEENEE -
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become member of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, assessing the independence of Independent non-
Executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprises one Executive
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Tak Chun (until
31 January 2021), Mr Wong Chi Hong William (from 31 January 2021)
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Mr. Li Yi Feng is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year
includes recommending the appointment of Mr. Wong Chi Hong William
as independent non-executive Director, reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board and assessing the independence of all
Independent Non-executive Directors during the Year.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings

RABAN
FAABERIRBLZEG (TRBZEAR
) BT EHRAUKREEEATAZ
ST AR SO E E 2 2 1 E B B - 12
ZESITEREERERTGIRB AR
Ko dB Ak (B 15 52 BE ~ R o8 R AC BR) o I L B
HEFTGZTAEHFLHERER UL

EARBAZEERE - VEBEERETE
EEMEZEARRRERETESTRHE
ZHRBEANBEDERZGFLHERES ¥
EEIFATESTZH LN THBTN
EMEZEESRESFZREIFAEARAES
gRHEREZ-

REFERN RLZEEEE-—BITE
EFTEAERMBBULFATESR
SRR BEREAE (EZE - —F—
B=+—HWL) " EFEXRE (BZFT=—
E—B=+—HE) RFEBEE-FTF
BAEERRRBEEGEIRE

RUZEENEAEERMETZIFE
ERBREZCEFRAERABIFNTE
Z EREFEIRB - RERERURK
FEFMBBILIFATESTREAFERZ
&L%o

REFERN RLEZEEENEBHEELZES

SERABFEXRITNOTF -

of the Nomination BT

Committee RLZEY
Name attended/held* %% gE¥E"
Li Yi Feng (Chairman) 212  ENE(EE) 2/2
Hsu Wai Man Helen o/2  HREH 2/2
Wong Tak Chun (resigned on 31 January 2021) 11 = 11

MZIZZ—F—A=1+—H&D
Wong Chi Hong William 111 BFRE 1/1
(appointed on 31 January 2021) BB —F—B=+—HEZD

Xu Jinghong 2/2 FTER 2/2
* The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Nomination — * NERRBEZ_—F=B=+—HLH

Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Nomination
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2021.
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REMUNERATION DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditors are set out as follows:

EFRELBEFHA LM
%

EFFMEEAEBRZIAESHMAL
WEBOANENGEEMHHRERWEIN
10°

1% BB AN <&

REFERN BRARTZBEMEH-RZZH
RIFZEBBRFBAEBZMEI RO

Services rendered Fee paid/payable  1R{HARTS et EHER

HK$’000 FET
Audit services 1,250,000 1ZBBRFE 1,250,000
Non audit services 160,000 FEIZBARTS 160,000

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code including:

° develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

° review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

° review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period and to ensure that the
financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material restatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 92 to 95.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Philosophy of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board considers that sound risk management and internal control
systems can improve the operational effectiveness and efficiency of the
Group and help safeguard the assets of the Group and the investments
of the Shareholders.

Risk Management and Internal Responsibility

The Board is well aware of its responsibility to maintain high standards
of risk management and internal control systems and to review the
effectiveness of such systems during the process of implementation.
The systems are intended to provide a reasonable but not absolute
assurance regarding operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliability of
financial reports and compliance with laws and regulations, with the aim
of managing rather than eliminating risks associated with failure to meet
business objectives.

The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining the nature
and extent of the risks to which the Company is wiling to assume
in achieving its strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Structures of
the Group

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
establishing risk assessment criteria, and supervising the design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems. Under the authority of the Board, the Audit Committee may
seek external legal, financial or other independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company if necessary (subject to prior discussion with
the Board on the relevant expenses).

The Company has developed and adopted a number of risk management
procedures and guidelines with well-defined terms of reference, which are
implemented through its major business procedures and office functions,
including administration and management, human resources, material
procurement, contract execution, project establishment, tendering and
bidding, project management, sales and leasing, financial reporting and
information technology.

The Company set up its internal audit function in 2014. Established
under the Audit Committee and being independent from other functional
departments, the audit department assists the Board in performing its
regulatory role in the internal control and risk management functions
of the Group, reviewing and assessing the overall effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems. The audit department has
been equipped with professional auditors for conducting internal audits
in accordance with the annual work plan, including regular or ad hoc
internal audits and special audits, as well as audits and assessment on
the operation and management, financial position and enforcement of
internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Major Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Company has set up risk management and internal control
systems to ensure that internal rules and systems are strictly enforced;
recruitment, remuneration and assessment systems are fair, impartial and
transparent; the Company operates in compliance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations; construction projects are carried out in conformity
to the relevant systems of the Company regarding project establishment,
tender awards, contract execution, procurement, construction,
acceptance inspection and settlement, etc.; shop management systems
for commercial projects are stringent with no loopholes; assets are not
misappropriated and embezzled; accounting records for providing reliable
financial information for business purposes or public use are properly
kept; access to and use of internal information without proper authority
are strictly prohibited; and reasonable assurance is provided against
major misrepresentations, losses or fraudulent activities.
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To safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Shareholders, the
Company handles and publishes insider information in accordance with
its insider information disclosure system to ensure that such information is
kept highly confidential prior to disclosure and issued in an effective and
consistent manner. The Board shall immediately convene a meeting to
discuss the relevant matter and, if necessary, seek advice from external
independent professional institutions.

Under the supervision of the Board, the internal audit department of the
Company had conducted an annual review on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021. The scope of the review has been formulated and approved by
the Audit Committee, covering business operations, financial reporting,
and compliance with regulations and systems. Results of the review
and the areas for improvement have been reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee, with emphasis on staff performance appraisal,
standardization and execution of systems, enhancement of tendering
and bidding processes, financial budget management, project budget
management, as well as project and marketing contract management.
Besides, the Board had also conducted a review during the Year of the
effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance, as part of its review of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Procedures for Identifying, Assessing and Managing
Significant Risks

An introduction to the procedures used by the Company for identifying,
assessing and managing significant risks is given below:

Risk Identification and Assessment

° The internal audit department conducts regular annual audits or ad
hoc special audits to perform systematic analysis on the processes,
systems and significant events of the Company to identify possible
risks in the business process. The legal department performs
professional analysis on the proposed terms of contracts to identify
terms that may place the Company in a disadvantageous position,
with the aim of avoiding any potential risks.

° The identified risks are assessed based on the assessment
criteria set up by the management to determine the risk response
approach.
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Risk Response

° The risk management strategies and internal control procedures are
determined based on the category of the risks identified. For major
risks, the internal audit department shall prepare a summary and
report directly to the Audit Committee, and put forward solutions for
resolving the risks for the consideration of the Board.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° The relevant risks are continuously and regularly monitored to
ensure that they are under control through appropriate internal
control procedures. If any significant changes arise, the risk
management policies and internal control procedures will be
amended, and the results of risk monitoring will be reported semi-
annually to the management and the Audit Committee of the
Board.

Effectiveness of Control

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the management has reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems based on the above internal
audit report. The Audit Committee is of the view that that there are no
significant deficiencies in internal control. The Group will follow up all the
recommendations of the internal audit department as appropriate and
ensure that they are implemented in due course. As a result, the Board
considers that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes made to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2021.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community through its mandatory interim and annual reports
announcements.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

General meetings of the Company, including annual general meetings
and, where applicable, special general meetings, provide a useful
forum for the Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
chairman of the Board as well as chairlady/chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
pleased to answer the enquires raised by the Shareholders. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the election of individual directors. All the
announcements and circulars are published on the Company’s website
(www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com) and on the Stock Exchange’'s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted its dividend policy which sets out the
principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the business of the Group

and rewarding the shareholders of the Company.

The board shall also take into account of the following factors, among
other things, when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

° the Group’s overall results of operation, financial position, capital
requirement, cash flows and future prospects;

° the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio;
° return on equity;
° the Group’s capacity from current and future operation;

° future commitments at the time of preparing and making the
distribution;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and

° other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to
any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Bermuda, the Listing
Rules, the laws of Hong Kong and the Company’s Bye-laws and any
other applicable laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way in Which Shareholders of the Company
Can Convene a Special General Meeting of the
Shareholders (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and Bermuda laws, the Directors
shall, on the requisition of Shareholder(s) who, at the date of the deposit
of the requisition, holds not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, proceed duly to convene an SGM of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the SGM and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”). Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the SGM.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene an SGM themselves, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the aforesaid
date of the deposit of requisition.

The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of
the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 5086,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The Company will
endeavour to respond to requisitionists’ enquires in a timely manner.
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The Procedures for Making Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at the AGM/SGM
which is to be held, such Shareholder should submit a written notice of
the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The
request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the Branch
Share Registrar. Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the AGM/SGM.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at the AGM/SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, which is as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the Company.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 20
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in the SGM or an ordinary resolution of
the Company in the AGM.

The Procedures that Shareholders Can Use to
Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Other than a retiring director, any person who is not recommended by
the Board shall not be eligible to be elected as a director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
wilingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) have been lodged to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong
Kong at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. As required
by the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws, the period for lodging
notices will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than 10 clear business days prior to the date of such
general meeting, the Company will need to consider adjourning such
general meeting in order to allow the Shareholders to have 14 days’
notice (the notice period must include 10 clear business days) of the
proposal.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIF - ERERRS

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

This report is the fifth environmental, social and governance (ESG) report
(the “Report”) of the Company. The Report is prepared in accordance
with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, to disclose the
performance of the Company in sustainable development.

REPORTING SCOPE AND PERIOD

The Report mainly covers the overall ESG performance of the business
activities of our three main projects’, including Changsha Outlets Project
(the “Changsha Project”) in Changsha, Hunan Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), Qinhuangdao Outlets Project (the
“Qinhuangdao Project”) in the core area of International Healthy City,
Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province, the PRC and the
residential and commercial complex (the “Yinchuan Project”) in Yinchuan
City, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, the PRC, during the period from 1
April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period”).

OPINION AND FEEDBACK FROM STAKEHOLDERS

We are fully aware that the sustainable development of an enterprise
hinges on the valuable feedback of stakeholders. If you have any queries
or opinion about this Report, you are welcome to contact us via e-mail at
info@richlyfield.com.

E The construction work of our real estate development business is carried out
by contractors. The relevant data on emissions and use of resources are not
included in our key performance indicators.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

The principal business activities of the Group include outlets commercial
operation and development and operation of featured commercial
properties (such as tourism property, senior care property and wine
chateaus), development of high-end residential properties as well as
property management. We believe that reducing pollutant emissions,
minimising resource consumption and reducing carbon emissions while
contributing to society are social responsibilities that all companies
should shoulder. Therefore, we formulate and continuously improve our
sustainable development philosophy and operation strategies, give play
to innovative thinking and focus on long-term overall interests, build
a vibrant community, and put into practice green construction, while
ensuring that our construction and operation activities strictly comply with
national regulatory requirements.

PROJECTS OVERVIEW

The Changsha Project covers an area of 1,500 mu (approximately 1
million sg.m.), comprising a residential portion (Outlets Town) and a
commercial portion (Globe Outlets). Outlets Town is a high-class, low-
density residential community specially designed in Spanish style. It
is surrounded by verdant plants along with well-designed streams
and bridges, offering residents a relaxing environment brought about
by a super-low plot ratio. The greenery and landscape design of the
community highlight the project out of the others, which offers a green
space ratio of 40%, creating abundant oxygen by plenty of plants. With
a developed area of nearly 100,000 sg.m. so far, Globe Outlets has
become a local tourist attraction by providing European and American-
style block-type shopping experience, spacious green parks integrating
greenery landscape and natural scenery, and a selected portfolio of
domestically and internationally renowned brands.
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The Qinhuangdao Project is a large coastal shopping, tourism and
healthcare resort complex with outlets business as the major operation,
complemented with high-end hot spring resort hotels and high-end
hospitals, integrating health preservation and elderly care, cultural and
entertainment activities, and recreational resorts. The project covers an
area of approximately 1,077 mu (approximately 710,000 sg.m.), planned
to be developed in three phases. Phase 1 of the project covers a total
area of approximately 230,000 sg.m., comprising outlets business, a
health preservation hotel, resort units and an exhibition hall, along with
supporting parking lots and greenery landscape. During the Reporting
Period, we continued to focus on the development of Phase 1 of the
project.
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Qinhuangdao Project Z 2 518 H

The Yinchuan Project comprises five parcels of land with a total site
area of approximately 133,300 sg.m. and a residential and commercial
complex which is currently being constructed thereon, of which Jin
Sheng Yue Jing (8B 5), the residential project, covers a site area of
approximately 120 mu (approximately 80,000 sg.m.) and a planned gross
floor area of 221,000 sg.m. The project aims to create a comfortable and
convenient living environment on the back of the surrounding resources
such as banks, medical institutes, educational institutions, department
stores and supermarkets, entertainment facilities and restaurants as
well as its own lifestyle amenities and building materials stores. The
commercial project portion consists of three commercial buildings and
two corridors with a total gross floor area of approximately 95,000 sg.m.
and an occupancy rate of 92%. Shops in the buildings are engaged in
trading of high-end building materials, premium furniture, and blackwood
products, featuring building materials and household products.

54 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2021

RINEBQEEMBEEN13.338FH
RZERMBEEFFEEREZEERK
BERGR ETETHEEZEESMGH
HBEAR120 (W8EFHK) » RENEZ
EEHB2Z2ABFH K- KEFHBRT B
B HE BB RELERFZEERK
BEREEVMBEEE EREXENE
meMBEBEHA T H=-RBERT RM
FEERmAER BEZREERNIGEF T K
HEXSENR% - BBEROHEESHE
MoERERERARNRE THEBMRE

7 h ©



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE- g RERRS

=
o
o
b
puest
sl
el
]
i et

Yinchuan Project 81118 B

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOVERNANCE

The Group has a robust sustainable development governance structure
to improve the governance effectiveness of the overall business. As the
highest decision-making body, the Board is responsible for all ESG-
related affairs, daily operations, and risk management to promote the
business development of the Company and protect the interests of all
stakeholders. The Board holds meetings from time to time to identify
and analyse the potential impacts of ESG on the business of the Group,
incorporates ESG issues into our development direction and governance
approach, develops relevant policies, and monitors and reports on ESG
performance. During the daily operations, employees from different
departments and positions are required to implement relevant measures
according to the instructions of the superior management, and promptly
report results and risks.

In addition, to review the Company’s performance on ESG aspects, such
as carbon emissions, employee training and social investment, we have
established a working group on sustainable development comprising
management personnel of each major project, in order to coordinate
the preparation of ESG reports and seek professional advice when
necessary.
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Stakeholders Engagement

We understand that the involvement of stakeholders is crucial to the
Group as their opinion can assist the Company in formulating its
development direction and policies, thereby laying the foundation for the
Group’s success. To collect opinion from various stakeholders, we have

set up different communication channels to facilitate communication.

Stakeholders

BhE

Communication Channel

BERN

WEBEBRE HEBBX M-

Expectation

TR A

Government On-site inspections and checks Comply with the laws
B T RGEE -mE BETERE
Work conferences, research and discussion Tax payment according to laws
ITEEZ& MEKTHA LR
Annual reports, interim reports and Promote economic development and
announcements employment in the region
FR -FHBRERRSE HFEHKSKERE KM E
Company’s website Environmental protection
NEIE R IRIBIRE
Use of resources
BRER
The public Voluntary work Community involvement
HEAR ETTE HEZ2H
Charity and social investments Social responsibilities
BENMtERE HEEHE
Employment promotion
R %
Shareholders and Investors  Annual general meeting and Return on investment
BRREREKEE other shareholder meetings % B[O
KREAFEFREREMBRERSE Information disclosure and transparency
Information published on HKEXnews website, BRI E R ERE
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such as annual reports, interim reports
and announcements
BEARAXZMIRREZ EILEMER
MEHR - FHBERRAE
Meeting with investors and analysts
BEEKEERDNMEE
Company’s website
NETE R

Annual Report 2021

Protection of shareholders’ interests
and fair treatment

R & R RHBRE

Business risk management

KERBEE
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Stakeholders

BHRE

Communication Channel

BERN

Expectation
FE A

Employees

(=]

Customers

ES

Conferences

2&

Training and seminars
1Al B b 5

Cultural and sport activities
XKk B &

Intranet and emails

A &P 48 B8 Ko B T
Performance appraisals
BT

Marketing and promotional materials

mHEE - EEER

Company’s website

NETE R

Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

FHR-FHBRERRSE

Emails and customer service hotlines

EBRERRBFHEG
Feedback forms
BEREER

Regular meetings
EHE 5%

Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

REE R E NN K F &=

Occupational Health and Safety

BERRELZSE

Working environment

TRIRIR

Career development opportunities

BRI

Self-actualisation

BRER

Safe and high-quality products and services
ZrBEEHERRRHE

Stable relationships

BE R &

Information transparency

BERERE

Integrity

1B

Business ethics

mEERE
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Stakeholders

BHE

Communication Channel

BEBR

Expectation
FE A

Suppliers/Business Partners

HEBFREHZBH

Peers/Industry Associations
BIERITEHBEHE

Market Regulators
mHEEEE
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Conferences, phone calls and interviews

&% -BE HH:

Regular meetings

EHRE=H

Reviews and assessments

18 5 Ko 5T 1

Emails, circulars and manuals
B0~ 3 K A F i
Company’s website

NETE Ehn

Industry conferences
TEE=E

On-site visits
B

Information disclosure
BiEE

Reports

wE

Annual Report 2021

Long-term partnerships
RHEFRAG

Honest cooperation
HEEIE

Fairness and openness
ARCRWNE |

Information resources sharing
DEEREKIR

Risk reduction

% 16 R B

Experience sharing
KEN=
Cooperation

a1F

Fair competition
NEFHRE

Compliance with laws and regulations
BTERER

Environmental protection

IRIBIRE

Use of Resources

BIRER
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Materiality Assessment BB

At the initial stage of preparing this Report, the Group assessed important T4 M ARSI A EEHE TIRIE
ESG issues. We identified and determined 23 ESG issues based on HKREAREEZENGLIFE RMBRESE
the Group's business, industry characteristics and the ESG Guide, and HNEREB - TEFMUA(GRE S
invited stakeholders to rate the importance of these 23 issues, so asto & EBABWEIES| ) > AL HETE T2318IR

NS

identify their issues of concern more effectively. We integrated all rating R - @ REARZE > U EAZFHEM
results and the Group’s sustainable development direction to develop the #Z23HEZEENEEZREETHI D UEA
materiality analysis matrix, and focused on issues that stakeholders were XX B H A FIFFRE R ZE - KIS
most concerned about in this Report to respond to their opinion onthe T PAB DR AAEEBEAIFEER S
sustainable development of the Group. o AREHBEEEEUSMERE R A

S ENEEN

Importance to Stakeholders

BETRENERABEINZENFLE
HMERANS  UREMMANEEENAF

BRERNER-
Materiality Matrix
1
16/15/22 17 14 4 10 o/
20—~ 18 13
3 8 00
- 210 ©-19 0o 1
6 7 5

Importance to the Group

HAEENEEM
Based on the rating results of the stakeholder survey, the five most RBEFMHERAENTDER U THEE
material issues are as follows: REKZHSE .
No. Issue
= 5% #HE

11

10

Service quality (quality of property brokerage services and property renovation)
RBERZE MELKLRFER - VEEECE=SE

Anti-corruption policy

k&S E

Energy management

BERE R

Supply chain environmental and social risk management
HEBRERTEAKRERE

Supplier selection and review

e Pk = K FT 2=
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List of issues

Environmental

IR

protection and Product and service Quality of working Community
green operation Operating practice responsibility environment contribution
REGENGGES EERR EmREREER IERIEER HEER
4. Energy management 10.  Anti-corruption policy 11, Service quality (quality 15, Employment 21.  Participation in volunteer
EEREE RESHE of property brokerage arrangements (including activities
services and property recruitment, promotion, 2HEETEY
improvements) and dismissal
REER ChELL procedures)
MBEER - MEEE BEZH (BF B
g8) B BAKBERR)

1. Air pollutant and
greenhouse gas
emission management
ERSEMAARE

REHHER

2. Wastewater discharge
and waste management

BASRkEYNER

3. Water resources
management
KERERE

5. Management of other
resources (including
paper)
Hi&ERE®R

(BERH)

6.  Impact of other business
activities on the
environment
Ht¥EBEHHIRER
ERNEE

7. Risks related to climate
change (such as
typhoons and floods)
BEEEtEEzA
B (R ~ 2k K %)

60

8. Supply chain

environmental and social

risk management
it FE 38 IR 1%
HeRREE

9. Supplier selection and

review

HEBRERTE

Richly Field China Development Limited

12.  Intellectual property
protection

MBERFRE

13.  Complaint and
advertisement
management
BirhESER

14, Customer data privacy
and information security
EREHMBERAR
22

Annual Report 2021

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Employee compensation
(including salary, working
hours, holidays, and
benefits)

BIRNE (BFE F
i~ TREF 8 REA R
&)

Occupational safety and
health
BEZLEER

Training and
development
Bl k#EE

Prevention of child labour

and forced labour

BLEBTIREGHHE

Diversity and equal
opportunities,

and prevention of
discrimination and
harassment

LRtk TEHRS
DRI RREE

22.

23.

Community inclusion
activities
HEHERES

Charity donations
BEBRE
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group attaches great importance to business ethics and integrity,
as it is one of the pillars for the steady development of the Company.
We believe that corruption and malpractice not only weaken our own
competitiveness and reputation in the industry, but also affect the
livelihood of employees and cause social problems. Therefore, we have
zero tolerance for any unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. We strictly abide by, among others, the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China. Moreover, we
require all employees to sign a letter of responsibility for clean governance
and maintain the highest standard of integrity in the course of business.

In addition, employees can report suspected misconduct or malpractice
orally or in writing. To protect their privacy and safety, our whistleblowing
mechanism requires that all reported incidents be handled in a strictly
confidential manner. Unless otherwise required by law, we will not
disclose the identity and other information of the whistle-blower without
consent. After a suspected violation is confirmed by internal investigation,
we will report the case to the relevant law enforcement agency for stern
handling.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any litigation
or complaint regarding violation of laws and regulations related to
corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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SOCIAL
Product Responsibility

We adopt “like-mindedness” as our ethos for management and provision
of products and services. Our ultimate goal is to provide customers
with high-quality, premium property products and services. To this end,
we have formulated the Engineering Management Policy to regulate
the management of the Engineering Department and ensure that the
construction process of projects is under control. In addition, we will
engage an external supervision company to supervise and inspect each
project to ensure that the construction of the project is lawful, compliant
and carried out in a safe condition, and that the project is completed
according to the original schedule. We will also review the supervision
report for verification.

Customer feedback is the source of our progress. To improve the quality
of products and services on an on-going basis, we have established
different channels to collect customer complaints, including service
hotlines for customer complaints, complaint boxes, and service desks,
so as to handle complaints quickly and properly. Moreover, to establish
a long-term and sound cooperative relationship with customers, we
also conduct regular visits and communicate directly with customers to
thoroughly understand their needs and incorporate their opinions into
the building quality control and management procedures. During the
Reporting Period, the Group received 2 products and services-related
complaints, which were handled and resolved properly.

When conducting advertising and promotional activities, we carefully
comply with applicable national laws and regulations including but not
limited to the Regulatory Measures on Sale of Commercial House,
Procedures for the Administration of Advance Sale of Commodity
Houses in Urban Areas, Urban Real Estate Administration Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Administrative Ordinance on Development
and Management of Urban Real Estate, Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China. All advertising and promotional materials are required
to be internally reviewed and approved by the Company before being
published to ensure their authenticity and to prevent the dissemination
of misleading and false information to the public. During the Reporting
Period, we did not receive any notice of violations concerning health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy in respect of our products and
services.
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Design: Think from the perspective of
users Collect customer opinions

Ret MERRKABAEEMELER

Pre-sale: Professional inspection
Pass quality inspection
HE BEX/ABRRBALEEA

Construction: Choose high-quality A
materials Strictly control the quality
E%Z%%@EMﬂﬁﬁ%@géj

Delivery: Up-to-standard delivery \
Accurate disclosure of information

ﬁ%:ﬁ%ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ)

£

Maintenance plan

V4

After-sales service: Customer feedback

ER  ZFPOBESRREMESE

The Group fully recognises the importance of protecting personal data
and privacy. As such, we take the security and privacy of information
very seriously. All our employees are required to sign a confidentiality
agreement to ensure that they understand their responsibility in protecting
customer information and related confidentiality obligation. In addition,
we have implemented access rights for sensitive information where a
customer’s data can only be accessed by authorised personnel and used
in business activities related to the customer. An employee authorised to
access customer data who discloses customer data improperly will be
deemed to have stolen confidential information of the Company and the
case will be handed over to the law enforcement agency for handling.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To provide high-quality products and services with the “like-mindedness”
ethos, we believe that the quality of our supply chain partners is one
of the keys. Therefore, we select suppliers and construction materials
with care. We require that suitable suppliers must be selected from our
List of Qualified Suppliers, and regularly monitor and review suppliers’
performance. For procurement activities, we adhere to a fair and open
basis, and have developed the Tendering and Procurement Management
Policy for standard procurement process, such as application procedures
for project bidding and procurement, bidding and procurement work
standards, and management of execution and submission of winning
bids. In addition, to regulate suppliers’ practices in health and safety,
human resources, environmental protection and business ethics, we
ascertain that suppliers have complied with relevant laws, regulations
and contractual obligations before reaching cooperation agreements
with them. We also advocate green procurement, giving priority to
environment-friendly and energy-saving products with an aim of
minimising future emissions and resource consumption during the
operation process.
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In addition to engaging a supervisory agency to oversee the entire
process, we also provide appropriate instructions and regular training to
workers, and require that only qualified, trained, skilful and experienced
workers are allowed to work at the construction sites, so as to ensure
that contractors and other suppliers understand their duties and
responsibilities, control environmental impact in the construction process
and build the community in an environment-friendly, harmless, and safe
manner.

To increase the local employment rate and promote local economic
development, we try to source from suppliers in cities where projects are
located when selecting suppliers. During the Reporting Period, we had a
total of approximately 198 domestic suppliers, all of which were in cities
where the projects were located.

Lawful and Compliant Employment

Talents are always our valuable assets. Excellent employees not only
ensure the Company’s competitiveness, but also help the Company
achieve sustainable development. The Group strictly complies with
applicable national laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases and Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China. We have also developed a
number of talent management systems, such as the Human Resource
Management Policy, Staff Handbook, Attendance Management System
and Vacation Management System, covering employee recruitment,
salary, working hours, benefits, promotion, training, performance
appraisal, etc., to ensure compliance with laws and regulations and
protect the rights and interests of employees.
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The Group prohibits the employment of child labour and forced labour.
Pursuant to the Staff Handbook, before hiring new employees, we are
required to check their identity documents to ensure that they have met
the minimum legal requirements for age. With respect to forced labour,
we recommend that weekly working hours should not exceed 40 hours.
However, should necessity arise for employees to temporarily work
overtime to accelerate work progress, we will arrange compensatory
leave for them within three months after overtime work. We have
established complaint channels for employees. An employee who is
unfairly treated can report to the relevant department in writing, notify
the trade union, or directly report to the senior management. Meanwhile,
we also require suppliers not to use child labour or forced labour. Once
relevant illegal behaviours are found within the Company or its suppliers,
we will hold those involved accountable.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not subject to any
prosecution for violation of laws and regulations in relation to
employment.

When recruiting employees, we provide equal employment opportunities
to all applicants in accordance with the Anti- Discrimination Practice,
so that everyone, regardless of their age, gender, physical state, marital
status, family status, race, colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation,
sexual orientation, etc., is entitled to equal employment opportunities.
In addition, we also place high value on female employees’ career
development, and comply with the requirements of the Law on the
Protection of Women'’s Rights and Interests of the People’s Republic
of China, which stipulates that female employees will not have their
employment contracts released or terminated without cause because of
pregnancy, maternity leave or breastfeeding, are entitled to basic salary,
and have the same promotion opportunities as male staff.

Remuneration and Benefits

We are dedicated to maximising the benefits for our employees.
We undertake to pay employees competitive salaries in the market,
contribute to insurances and housing provident fund (including pension,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance, work-
related injury insurance and housing provident fund) and mandatory
provident fund, and provide them with labour insurance and statutory
holidays in compliance with the law. In addition, we also grant holidays
such as marriage leave, funeral leave, maternity leave, work-related injury
leave, annual leave and paternity leave, working lunch and transportation
and communication subsidies, and additional employee benefits such as
staff canteen and physical examination.
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With a concern towards the health of our employees, we provide well-
balanced meals at our staff canteen, which are specially matched
nutritious meals with suitable proportion of meat and vegetables. In order
to ensure food hygiene, the Food Hygiene Permit must be obtained for
the canteen according to local regulations. We also require employees
engaged in food production to submit health certificates and physical
examination reports within three months before taking up their posts, and
conduct physical examination each year. Employees are required to wear
protective equipment such as chef’s hat, mask, apron and rubber shoes
during the food preparation process.

Meanwhile, we recognise that busy work schedule takes its toll not only
on the health of employees, but also on their spirits and emotions. We
proactively extend care to employees’ physical and mental conditions
and encourage them to participate in health-conscious activities. During
the Reporting Period, we convened multiple employee activities, including
hiking, visiting memorial halls and knowledge contests, in a bid to

facilitate employees to strike a balance between work and life, relieve
work pressure, promote mutual understanding, enhance their sense of
belonging to the Company, and strengthen corporate cohesion.
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Hiking activity
WA E

Visit to Lei Feng memorial hall
2EERLIE
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Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to production safety and
occupational health, which serve as cornerstones underpinning the
Group'’s steady development. Accordingly, we are committed to providing
a safe working environment for our employees. We strictly observe laws
and regulations related to production safety, including but not limited to
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, Production Safety Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases. We
formulated the Management System of Safe and Disciplined Construction
to manage project safety. For instance, engineers must be equipped with
safety equipment, and employees must obtain relevant certificates before
undertaking work at heights. We also implement other relevant safety
control measures, some of which include:

° to maintain obstruction-free emergency exits at workplace;

° to provide a workplace with adequate illumination and moderate
temperature;

° to prohibit smoking at workplace; and

o to conduct safety inspections and fire prevention training regularly.

Employees who assume special and dangerous posts (such as
electricians) must hold national recognised qualification certificates
and pass the examination before they are allowed to work. Employees
must wear protective equipment in the process of conducting relevant
hazardous work, and we will also despatch personnel to inspect the
construction site on a regular basis to supervise and ensure that they
wear protective equipment as required. In addition, we have purchased
work injury insurance for all employees. In terms of work-related injuries,
the human resources department of the Company will promptly deal with
the accidents on the day they happen. First of all, the injured employees
will be sent to the hospital. Then we will investigate the accident to find
out the cause and take appropriate measures to reduce such accidents.

We adopted stringent preventive measures for COVID-19, and requested
all employees to measure their body temperatures before being admitted
to the workplace, wear disposable masks indoors, and bring their own
tableware when dining in the staff canteen. We also stipulated that
workplaces such as offices should be cleaned and disinfected regularly to
mitigate the spread of viruses.
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During the Reporting Period, we did not violate any laws and regulations
related to occupational safety, nor did we experience any fatalities. We
identified 2 cases of work-related injuries with two employees injured and
33 working days lost in total.

BERBE RPARBEZEEEMNERBE BB
FZE2NERRER TRBEZELEEW
ETEB IHEWA2R  XBAHR2
AN BEHIEBRIBRIEHE

Firefighting drill

Development and Training

Talent training acts as one of the pillars behind the skyrocketing
development of the Company, which propels the Group to achieve
success and sustainable growth. Therefore, we strive to provide
diversified training. For instance, we offer a series of orientation training
courses to accelerate new hires to integrate into the Company and get
familiar with post skills; and we also organise various on-the-job training
for employees based on their actual work needs and development
direction, in an effort to improve their ideology, job skills and management
competence, and promote performance improvement and employee
development.
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WEHE WAER T UTEINRRE !

During the Reporting Period, we held the following training courses:

Management experience sharing
EEKRIL=E

Emergency flood control and safety
e AL R

New employee orientation
8 T ARIEI

Workplace mood management skills

B EEEERTS

Firefighting knowledge training

JH B A 28 15 51

Brand decoration standards

m RSB &

Facility and equipment operation safety
minRERIEZ 2 M

Special notes for on-site construction inspection
REEIEEI=RERE

Vehicle management and directed parking
BEWMEERIEEER

Marketing seminar training

TEE AR AT 1 A

Garbage sorting training

B iR o fA 1

Property-related knowledge training

)2 A8 B R0 S A

Staff service standards and etiquette training
ETRBRE R EHRE

Attendance system training

ZHRFEEI

Decoration acceptance procedures
HERKRZER

Complaint handling procedures and skills

B RIERF kIS

Real estate sales skills training

B EHE RIGEI

Equipment maintenance related training
=EREERAEN

Firefighting, anti-theft, and flood prevention training

Bk~ B ~ By o 15 3
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In addition, in order to evaluate and improve employees’ work
performance for promoting the comprehensive and continuous
improvement of the overall performance of the Company, we formulated
the Employee Performance Appraisal Scheme, which includes monthly
basic assessment, quarterly pre-assessment, mid-year assessment and
annual comprehensive assessment. Employees are assessed pursuant to
key performance indicators, such as progress of key work and projects.
In the annual comprehensive assessment, employees at all levels who
outperformed their performance targets and completed milestones of
key projects with great progress will be paid the performance-based
salary in recognition of their efforts. In addition, we conduct performance
interviews each quarter to enlighten employees on work targets and
standards, eliminate their misunderstanding of the appraisal, and
also enable the appraisers to understand the needs and difficulties of
the employees through frank communication, in a strive to guide the
employees correctly and effectively. If employees disagree with the
assessment results, they can complain to the Personnel Department of
the project company in writing.

Community Investment

We recognise that, as members of the community, enterprises should
give back to communities in time and maximise efforts in helping
communities steer through all kinds of challenges and solve problems.
We proactively participate in diverse community activities and charitable
donations to contribute to society. Set out below are some of the
activities we participated in and held during the Reporting Period:

Fund-raising and Donations

In January and March of 2021, led by the Party branch committee,
the Party Committee (trade union) of the Group and the Party branch
of QOutlets initiated two charitable donation activities, raising funds for
a security guard from the Integrated Department who was sent to the
hospital for emergency treatment of sudden cerebral haemorrhage, and
employees who suffered from serious traffic accidents. Trying their best to
lend a helping hand, a total of 328 employees participated in these two
fund-raising activities.
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Women’s Day Activity

The Group places a strong emphasis on gender equality,
and treats both female and male employees in an equal
and fair manner. On 8 March 2021, we organised the
Women’s Day activity to extend our gratitude to female
employees for their various contributions to the Company.

1w L HEE

AEBERMIFTE FTHREMABUEETIHRFE
ARATMHEGF - ME_SE-_—F=B/N\B > &KME
BMTHRUBHEE URSHKFAOLEE TR RAFF
EREEFR -

Voluntary Blood Donation

In March 2021, our employees participated in the voluntary
blood donation activity organised by street communities,
through which they demonstrated the spirit of generously
lending help and relieving those in distress to extend care to
more people who need blood donation.

I & ) =55
- . L B F-BPAHB RANEIZSETHEHE
'35-23 AENBEREERNEE  BIBARYE kI¥EE
EINBEREER R BEESETEMRBEN AL

Civil Worship
In order to encourage the general public to mourn their & .
deceased beloved ones and express grief through civil it ﬁ!i&tﬂ;ﬂtﬁ%mm

and environment-friendly worship, ensure the safety of
the sweeping activities on Tomb-Sweeping Day and
reduce air pollution, the Party branch of the Company
joined hands with the community to organise the Learning
Party History to Act Practicably and Greeting the Tomb-
Sweeping Day with Civil Worship activity, distributing
leaflets to citizens and merchants in the community to
promote civil worship.
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SOCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

L ERARENIER

Social Key Performance Indicators Unit 2020/21 2019/20
—E-8/ ZE—h/
HEMBRBENER Bl ——FE —EEE
Number of Employees'
BEHE"
Total Person 226 248
e A
Male Person 120 133
B A
Female Person 106 115
pegi A
By Employment Category
RERERE S
Part time/contract Person ) 7
B AW A
Full time Person 221 241
2 A
By Employee Category
RS4RI 24
Senior management Person 11 13
BREEAE A
Middle management Person 25 37
PAREIEAS A
General employee Person 190 198
—MET A
By Age Group
HFE AR S EE
20 or below Person 0 13
20 B AR A
21-30 Person 36 81
21-30%% A
31-40 Person 100 83
31-405% A
41-50 Person 67 55
41-505% A
51 or above Person 23 16
51m A £ A

U The total number of employees of the Group for the year 2020/21 includes only
the number of employees of the Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao Project and

Yinchuan Project, excluding that of the Hong Kong headquarter.
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Social Key Performance Indicators Unit 2020/21 2019/20
—s-%/ —E—h/

i B R A ISR = ——FE —EEE

By Work Location

BRIEth B DR
Mainland China Person 226 240
R Ay 3t A

Employee Turnover Rate'

BIRRZER

By Gender

R o458
Male Percentage 38 47
B4 B2t
Female Percentage 23 24
7 Bt

By Age Group

BREHRAR D E
20 or below Percentage 0 31
20T Bt
21-30 Percentage 50 33
21-30%% Bt
31-40 Percentage 24 43
31-40%% B2t
41-50 Percentage 28 36
41-50p% B2t
51 or above Percentage 36 19
51 e £ Bt

1 The total number of employees leaving of the Group for the year 2020/21 202021 FENEBMBERETHERGIER

includes only the number of employees of the Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao IEEBRRINNBEE  TAEIESEBES
Project and Yinchuan Project, excluding that of the Hong Kong headquarter. HWETI AZH-
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Social Key Performance Indicators Unit 2020/21 2019/20
-/ —E—h/
HERABENRIER =Ry ——5E —_ZHFE
Number of Employees Trained'
ST
By Gender
iR 28E
Male Percentage 100 100
BM B2t
Female Percentage 100 100
ez B2t
By Employee Category
RESEN S
Senior management Percentage 100 100
BREEAE Bt
Middle management Percentage 100 100
FEREIEAR Bt
General employee Percentage 100 100
—RETL B2t
Average Training Hours
T3 35 ) B 1
By Gender
il b ]
Male Hour 15 5
BM TN
Female Hour 20 7
pegi NS
By Employee Category
HESERNSEE
Senior management Hour 12 2
BREEAR NS
Middle management Hour 31 3
RREEAR NS
General employee Hour 15 7
—mRET N
U The total number of employees trained of the Group for the year 2020/21 1 202021 EENEBRE IS EREEE
includes only the number of employees of the Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao IEEENIEINIEBER M AEIESEMRE
Project and Yinchuan Project, excluding that of the Hong Kong headquarter. WET A&
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ENVIRONMENTAL
Greenhouse Gas Emissions

As greenhouse gas is the main cause of global warming, we attach great
importance to the greenhouse gas generated by us and strive to reduce
emissions through various measures. We strictly abide by applicable
environment-related laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Impact Assessment, Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Pollution From Noise, Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, and Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China. The Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste during the Reporting Period that resulted in
prosecution.

Our direct emissions mainly come from the use of vehicles, as well as
the use of natural gas-fired heating equipment in some projects; indirect
emissions come from electricity consumption in daily office operations.
Our employees also require business travel by air from time to time, the
relevant emissions of which are even lower. In respect of greenhouse
gas generated by us, we encourage salespersons and employees to
use public transport as much as possible when visiting customers
or attending external meetings or activities. For nearby activities, we
encourage employees to walk instead of riding a vehicle as far as
possible. In addition, we have set up telephone and video conferencing
systems in offices. Where feasible, we would use teleconferencing or
video conferencing instead of face-to-face meetings to reduce the need
for employees to travel by air.
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Solid Waste

Given the nature of our business, no hazardous waste' is generated in
our operation. The non- hazardous waste generated by our business
mainly includes food waste from staff canteens, construction waste
generated from renovations by property owners or brand partners, and
domestic waste from offices, residential areas and commercial areas.

We advocate a paperless office, adopt an electronic operation mode,
require printing permission in the office to restrict unnecessary printing,
and prepare statistics and adjust paper consumption to improve resource
utilisation. We also require employees to properly manage computers
and computer peripherals, and to reuse them as much as possible. For
items that must be discarded, we require employees to carry out waste
sorting and recycling. The non-recyclable waste, including renovation and
construction waste, domestic waste and food waste, will be collected
and treated by relevant municipal departments in a unified manner. We
encourage employees to sort the waste, recycle stationery and reduce
wastage, so as to reduce the generation of waste at source.

To actively respond to the calls of the Implementation Opinions on
Strengthening Ecological and Environmental Protection and Resolutely
Fighting Pollution Issued by the Party Committee and the People’s
Government of Hunan Province (P& Z I m B ARBFER 2
E R A RRIRIRRERRITIF SR AR BB EMER)) Xang Fa
[2018] No. 20) and the Notice on Printing the Three-Year Action Plan of
Implementing Environmental Control and Winning the Blue Sky Defence
War (2018-2020) of Changsha City Issued by the Party Committee and
the People’s Government of Changsha Municipality (R ENHEE
Wi NRBUR R ENEE (RIDTH TR N EIRIE KRR RIT M EE R R
B8 = F178)51 8(2018-2020)) FY4EEN)) , we conducted training and
activities related to the environment during the Reporting Period, such as
training in relation to the regulations on garbage management.

Discharge of Sewage

Sewage discharged from our projects is mainly derived from water
consumption in public areas of canteens and residential and commercial
buildings, and for firefighting and cleaning of vehicles and equipment.
Domestic sewage and canteen and catering wastewater are pre-treated
by a septic tank and an oil separator respectively, before entering a
sewage treatment plant for centralised treatment. The construction
sewage generated by a contractor in the construction process will be
settled before being discharged into the municipal sewage network.

U It refers to the hazardous wastes as defined in the Directory of National
Hazardous Wastes ((BIZR & FREE ¥ 8% )) .
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Use of Resources BIRER

As effective management of resources is closely related to our sustainable BN B REEHN ECEXENUKFEZRE
development, we have proactively formulated various measures to B EZAKBREE > BRMBESmGIE RN E
achieve the most efficient use of resources. Since the Group has not MUEREBEBRN&E AT AL AN AE

engaged in the manufacturing business, no packaging materials were W EFRSER HULBEEHBERAEE
used. Lo

We acknowledge the fact that reducing electricity consumption can KM E R LA EELEBER D AER
indirectly reduce greenhouse gas emissions, so that we have promoted FEMIHEHE > HEMIEEZSBEHERE
various energy-saving strategies, including: BIE .

{r)

Implementation of Adoption of green lighting, such as switching Encouraging employees to switch off
roof greening projects to environment-friendly and energy-saving lights and turn off power-consuming
BifEIBARETRE bulbs and using natural light in offices devices when they leave office
B ERE SEERIRRFREEER BRETHBANAER

DR IR E

MERENABERN

O

Turning off idle machinery Activation of “sleeping mode” when Setting office air-conditioners at
and facilities computers are not in use a moderate temperature and switching
REIEIE A PRI BB 2B A B B R Ry them off when they are not in use
R MR R B AEERRETBETRE R

P w22 s 1 EL BRI B

To save electricity consumed by light bulbs, we used a total of approximately 15,500 LED bulbs
in our projects to provide lighting for residential, communal and office areas, which is estimated to
save power consumption by 2.6 million kWh per year'.

REBEBAMEENE  RMNKEBRER T415,500ELEDE R > REEAE
EAHNMAEBHRHRBA S FIRHL2.6BETREHNE N HFE -

U The above-mentioned LED bulbs were not installed during the Reporting Period, but during the construction periods of various projects. The
estimated reduction in power consumption is calculated based on the average daily use of 3-10 hours (varying by regions) and about 300
days of operation per year, compared with the use of 80W incandescent lamps.

! FRIEDEBTIFNRENBZE MEXRENEEZRARNZE - EREERR/ D NEIHERRBETIHEBE3- 106 (37
BAE&E) « §FL300KE M HELEHA—ROWEBIENERMEE
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Water Resources

QOur sources of water consumption include public areas of canteens and
residential and commercial buildings, firefighting and cleaning of vehicles
and equipment, renovation works, cleaning of roads and buildings, and
irrigation of vegetation. The water is obtained from the municipal water
supply network, and therefore we have no difficulties in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. In order to better utilise water resources, we have
implemented the following water-saving measures:

KEIR

HPNABKREREERE - ETHNEHH
AHEHBK HBE - BREE@WMARE
REIR ERKREFBEZR UkixEE
BE - HBKBEHREMR BRBAERR
BAKERELHREMEE2E B I
AXKER HAEBT T U TREKERR :

T : Installation of sensor faucets at operating sites

S:37 EREEMMTERBEIKESR

Timely maintenance of leaking faucets and
pipes to reduce wasting tap water
J2 B & I8 R i BV 7K BE 5B Re /K Mg - I8 /LR B B 2R oK

Recycling of wastewater for dust removal, street washing,

e =2 vehicle tires cleaning at construction sites
-O— REEKERNIE LG MBE - BREx  B@WMma T ESE

00 Recycling of water for irrigation of vegetation
o @ ) 7 B Mk 16 16 58 B

Constant monitoring and tracking of water consumption

Ry % 85 R e AC R FE K B

Enhancing water conservation awareness through
water conservation labels at the workplace

EFESFRMEANBKRE ReHNVAKEH
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B R EARE

The Environment and Natural Resources

QOur business development hinges on the rich resources provided by
Mother Nature, and we strive to reduce the damage to it by attaching
importance to environmental protection as we develop our business. All
of our construction works are in fact carried out by contractors, but as a
developer, we still assume responsibility in supervising our contractors.
We will carry out environmental assessment for every project, so as
to perform analysis and evaluation of the impact of the project on the
environment and formulate specific environmental management measures
for the project, among others.

Climate Change

As a developer, we are well aware of the responsibility to protect our
homeland amid the growing impact of global warming, especially
that from extreme weather, so as to reduce the loss to our workforce
and resources. We will hold meetings with all relevant departments to
formulate and assess relevant safety and management measures before
the occurrence of extreme weather to prevent waterlogging and ensure
good drainage. Some of the measures include safeguarding that all work
is well attended by staff on duty, stepping up inspection and treatment,
as well as enhancing the submission of information on preventing
waterlogging and ensuring good drainage.

RIERKXAER
ﬁ%ﬂ?%?"auéﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁEﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi\
HNE=E BRoEMEREBEENRE &8
TEBERNARERLVLEBERARN
WIZE-RARAKMNERIEEREREEE
BEERNT EBRMANDEAEEEAEZEN
B RMES—EEHOETRESNGET
B UDMEEEERRIENEE N &
EHHHABEENREEERERS -

FiEEt
HHEZIKERECMERNETEQFLEE
Bl R MR E e PR IERYERE
EEMBEEETERE > UABE DM
MAND-BEROBER - RN EBEXRE
RAEFAEERBPFAERREE  UHIE &
FEERL 2 EERBHEERBEHEE
HoBHBEMBAENERET KB
BELF MMEFm s aEENmEL
E o
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BRI HERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE

IRIGRA B A NIE R

INDICATORS
Key Performance Indicators Unit 2020/21 2019/20
—E-8/ ZE—h/
R SR A RIS IR Bl ——FE —EFE
Air Emission
BE R BEK
Nitrogen oxides kg 267.61 174.36
a8ty T
Sulphur oxides kg 3.22 2.28
ety T
Particulate matter kg 1.55 4.79
BENTF T
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BERBHRE
Scope 1 - direct emissions Tonnes of COze 776.25 532.34
#HE1 —BEH WA — F 155k & 2(CO20)
Scope 2 — indirect emissions Tonnes of CO2¢e 2,259.39 2,065.75
#HE2—REZEER ME — 155k 2 2 (CO2)
Total Tonnes of CO2e 3,035.36 2,598.09
e Wi — F LA E 2(CO26)
Intensity kg of CO2e/m? 236.89 186.20
FR_EEHRE=(CO2),
BE AR
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RIE-HERERRS

Key Performance Indicators Unit 2020/21 2019/20
—E-g/ —ZE—-h/
fA A IE IR B i ——FE —EEE
Non-hazardous Waste
mEREY
Food waste Tonnes 0.62 0.66
BT ER U
Construction waste Tonnes 770.00 994.00
IR it
Paper Tonnes 0.20 1.38
AR M5
Other domestic waste Tonnes 720.00 620.00
Hith4 5B i
Total Tonnes 1,490.82 1,616.04
weE M5
Intensity kg/m? 116.35 115.82
BE T/ EHK
Use of Resources
BIRfER
Indirect energy — purchased electricity kWh 3,482,368.23 3,041,044
EEEEIR—SMNEE S T RBF
Direct energy — non-renewable fuel kWh 3,703,038.07 2,495,902.33
HiZER—IFBFEME FREF
Total kWh 7,185,406.30 5,536,946.33
e T REF
Intensity KWh/m? 560.76 396.82
BE FRE/FHK
Water Resources
KER
Total water consumption m?3 139,519.47 161,195.18
Bkias 35K
Intensity meé/m? 10.89 11.55
BE MHKSFEFHK

—ET_—F5§
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RIE- M ERELSRS

INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE HONG

31 &5

KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

BR(RE - ERERKRST

Subject Areas | Description Section
TEHE B =3:1]
A. Environmental
A.IRIE
A1 Emissions
A1EERR
General Information on: Greenhouse Gas
Disclosure (@ the policies; and Emissions
— R E (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | Solid Waste
impact on the issuer BERBBEEW
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, BEEY
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
ERERKERERBER MAKRIHNHF S - EERESEEYN
EXEN:
(a) B®; &
(b) BTFHBETABEASEZNHBEEIERRANER
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data Environmental
HE ) & 48 K 18 e BE BUE Key Performance
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity lildilgaé;% 4 2 4 fE
NSl —d e P E AE X ~
BERBEERBREE = =
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity
FMELEESEEVRERTE
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity
FFEEAREEEVEERTE
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved Greenhouse Gas
i 300 R A HE B B 48 0 K2 PR AS AR R Emissions
Use of Resources
RERBHR &
R 5
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, | Solid Waste
reduction initiatives and results achieved BEEEY)
HAEEREEREEEEYN AL -RBELEENEREMERR
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RIE-HERERRS

Subject Areas | Description Section
TEHE AE =4: 1]
A2 Use of Resources
A2EREHA
General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw | Use of Resources
Disclosure materials BREA
— R R ERERER (BIEETR K EEMEME) BB
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity Environmental
BREMNASYTMNEENYBEEREEENREE Key Performance
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Indi|cators N
W KB R IRIBERRENIEIZR
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved Use of Resources
it BE R 168 A 3% a5 5T B A PRS AR R BIREA
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for | Water Resources
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved KE TR
i SREGE A KR Er BE R R MR AR K AT 8 RS
ES
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with reference to per | N/A
unit produced T
AR mTBAEEMENEEREGFEESEMGE

A3 The Environm

ent and Natural Resources

ASIRIERXAEIR

General

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and

Disclosure natural resources
— R E BEETAHRERAREREREAZENBEK
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and

natural resources and the actions taken to manage them
HREBITHHRRERRAERNEARZERERNE
MNiTE

= EERTE

The Environment and
Natural Resources

BRIERRARER

A4 Climate Change

AdR &E1E
General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues | Climate Change
Disclosure which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. mAIRE AL
— IR EE —REREHNREHERKIEEHETAELERENEARIEE
EEMBR-
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them
HAERKRIEGHETAELERENEARGHBEE  REHT
N

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE

83



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE- M ERELSRS

Subject Areas | Description Section
TEHE AE =4: 1]

B. Social

B.itg

B1 Employment

B11{E &

General Information on: Lawful and
Disclosure (@  the policies; and Compliant
— M E () compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | Employment

impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

Remuneration and
Benefits

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other | B & &% & 1 « #r
benefits and welfare B sz 4@ )
ERAFNRBE-BEREA - TEFHE - BHE TEHS -2
RIEGUREMFEREFH !
(a) HHE; K&
(b) BTFHETABEAXEZNHEBEIERBANER

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical | Social Key
region Performance
BER -EEEE -FRANRMEZ DN EEEH Indicators

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region B R A R

ZUER - FHRAN RMEB DN EERKLER

B2 Health and Safety
B2fgRE &2

General Information on:

Disclosure (@) the policies; and

— R E (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards

ERREREZE2THFREAMGEREERSB =GB EN !

(a) BR; &

(b) BTFHETABEAXEZNHEBEEIERBANER

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities

EITERMEMIETHABRER

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury
RIEBEEIERH

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they
are implemented and monitored

HAEFTRWN B ERREZ2HEE URBBATRERGZ

Health and Safety
RERZ R
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IRIR-HEREARRS

Subject Areas | Description Section
TEHE AE =4: 1]
B3 Development and Training
B3%# & K iF i
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at | Development and
Disclosure work. Description of training activities. Training
— R R BRIRAREET TR E R & K 5 6t BV BUER o 2 55 3 & &h R RIEI
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category Social Key
U EREEENEPHTIIRBET DL Performance
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee I‘nd|cators e
HERARENIER
category
BEEREEENE D S2EETMZINFHEEH
B4 Labour Standards
B4% T # 8
General Information on: Lawful and
Disclosure (@ the policies; and Compliant
—WRIRE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | Employment
impact on the issuer BB LE6HR
relating to preventing child and forced labour
ERBLEETHRGIE T :
(@) HE; &
(b) BTFHBETABEAXENHBEEIRRROAINER
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour
T REEANNERU B RE T Ra6% T
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered

M EHRERBRAFEGERBRAERNNY B

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE
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RIE- M ERELSRS

and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored

W TTHREHEERECLHRRERRIRBENIESG > U KB ANTT
REERFG L

Subject Areas | Description Section
TEHE AE =3:1]
B5 Supply Chain Management
B5fH FE i & 12
General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain Supply Chain
Disclosure BIEHEENIRIE AT G BAKEE Management
— iR 2R HrE s IE
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region
EHEIONHEREE
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored
B ERAEREEENEN mEATERABENNHEREE - UK
ERABOANRITRERFE
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along | Not disclosed for the
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored time being for the
BB R ANHERESEARANRIERTETRABNIER U KREREH | Year
TRERFE- REEHRNRE
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products
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IRIR-HEREARRS

Subject Areas | Description Section
TEHE AE =3:]
B6 Product Responsibility
B6EmMBEE
General Information on: Product
Disclosure (@ the policies; and Responsibility
—WRIRE () compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant mET
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress
ERffiEHERNRSNEREE LY BES - RERMLEEEUA R
MFER !
(a) BE; K
(b) BTFHETABEAXEZNHEBEEIERRANER
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons
BEFEEXEQEHPRAZHRREHMELKNE DL
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dealt with
BEMANESEBRBORFEE UKREH F X
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights
AR R RIE R B AR A R IE G
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures
HiEEmTBEEREmCKRRER
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are

implemented and monitored
HHHEEZEERRERMREER  MREBARITRERFZE

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE
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RIE- M ERELSRS

HEmEEFRETIRMHORESEI-

Subject Areas | Description Section
TEHE AE =3:1]
B7 Anti-corruption
B7TRES
General Information on: Anti-corruption
Disclosure (a) the policies; and k&S
—RIRE (o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

BERAMILBRE SR RFRAREN !

(@) EHE; X

(b) BTFTHBETABEASEZNHBAEIERRANER
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases

RERBAHZETAXNEBEERLICEEENESHFLAEZHNEE

/N S
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how

they are implemented and monitored

WL BIE R B RIERF  URERRITRERF X
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff Not disclosed for the

time being for the
Year

EETHBRBAER

KEEGAEE

B8 Community Investment
B8t E®RE
General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the | Community
Disclosure communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into | Investment
—RIRE consideration the communities’ interests HELE

ERUHER2HE R THREEMTIHERTZENRFREER THE L E

el s S
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution

ErEREE
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area
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EFREFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Yi Feng

Mr. Li Yi Feng (“Mr. Li"), aged 58, was re-designated as an executive
director, chairman of the Board, chief executive officer, chairman of
the nomination committee of the Board, member of the remuneration
committee of the Board and the authorised representative of the
Company under the Listing Rules on 31 January 2020.

Mr. Li has been engaged in construction planning, design, real estate
and commercial properties over 30 years and has gained extensive
experience in planning, development, operation and management.
He has a great wealth of experience in asset acquisition and mergers,
business negotiations and capital operations.

Mr. Li obtained his Master’s degree in Architecture from Xi'an Institute
of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering (now renamed as Xi’an
University of Architecture and Technology). In addition, Mr. Li obtained his
certificate of completion from Ontario Real Estate College in Canada.

Since 1985, Mr. Li has been engaging in architecture teaching,
architecture study and design work. Since 2002, Mr. Li joined Homelife
(Canada) and RE/MAX (Canada), offering consultancy services on
residential and commercial property investments. Mr. Li joined the
Company in early 2009 as the chief design officer. Since 2011, Mr. Li has
served as the director of Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd* aE=R (65 REBBEBRRR).

Following the Re-designation, Mr. Li will also be appointed as a director
of the subsidiaries of the Company, namely Chuang Yu Holdings Limited,
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited, Globe Outlets City Limited, Mile Gain
Limited, Million Harmony Holdings Limited, Million Harmony Limited, Pilot
Will Holdings Limited, Pilot Will Limited, Profuse Gain Holdings Limited,
Profuse Gain Limited, Quality Depot Limited, Richly Field Hainan Holdings
Limited, King Future Holdings Limited and King Future Limited with effect
from 31 January 2020.

HITESE
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EXREEFB

Mr. Chen Wei

Mr. Chen Wei (“Mr. Chen”), aged 49, was re-designated as an executive
director and the vice president of the Company on 21 March 2020.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in aspects related to project
planning and construction management. Mr. Chen graduated from
Jinling Vocational University* (3B 882 KX 2) studying in decoration
and construction management. He was accredited as an engineer by
Nanjing Construction Engineering Intermediate Professional Qualification
Assessment Committee* (FAR R E T TR PR FEERKMERTE
ZE2%)in December 2012.

During the period from March 2015 to July 2017, Mr. Chen received
further education in Zhongshan Vocational College majoring in society
related works and completed all the required curriculums under the
vocational teaching plan. He has been engaging in construction
management since 1996 and was the chairman of IR FE—EE T2
& A& fRA B from 2008 to 2013.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 November 2013 and has been
the chairman of the audit and remuneration committees of the Company
since 28 January 2014. She has over 20 years’ experience in accounting.
Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu had been working
with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner of Ernst & Young
before she retired from the firm in February 2011.

Ms. Hsu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Hsu is currently an independent non-executive director
of Perfect Medical Health Management Limited (stock code: 1830), China
Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 334),
Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings (stock code: 6828) and Perfect Optronics
Limited (stock code:8311).
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFEEFRE

Ms. Hsu served as an independent non-executive director of Circle
International Holdings Limited (CCH) whose shares are listed on the
National Stock Exchange of Australia (NSX). Harmonicare Medical
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1509) from August 2020 to March 2021
which is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Chi Hong William

Mr. Wong Chi Hong William, (“Mr. Wong”), aged 38, is a Regular Member
of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). He obtained
a bachelor degree in Business Administration from the University of
Wisconsin, Madison in 2005. Mr. Wong has twelve years of experience in
human resources, recruitment, audit, corporate governance and financial
planning. He worked at Deloitte from 2006-2008, where his last position
was Consultant in Enterprise Risk Services. From 2009 to 2011, he was
a Management Trainee at AMTD Financial Planning Limited. He served
as a Recruitment Consultant at Hillman Ross Limited from 2014 to 2017.
From 2017 to 2018, he was a Recruitment Consultant at Kelly Services
Hong Kong Limited. From 2018 to 2019, he was a Senior Recruitment
Consultant at Spring Professional (Hong Kong) Limited. Since Jul 2019,
he has been serving as a Director of Harbour Consulting International
Limited.

Mr. Xu Jinghong

Mr. Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”), aged 53, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 April 2014. He graduated from Tianjin
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Tianjin Institute Of Textile
Science and Technology) with a bachelor’s degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. In addition, Mr. Xu completed
a course of management science and engineering for postgraduate
research students in Nanjing University. Mr. Xu had served as the general
manager of Nanjing Yuexing International Home Square Limited* (R 5
BEBRREREISABRAT)and the general manager of the Furniture
Centre at Nanjing Golden Eagle International Shopping Centre Group
Limited* (F3 R & B EIFR B EE A R A BREAF L), and the chairman
of Nanjing Meitu Furniture Company Limited* (BREEBREFREA
B]). Mr. Xu is currently the vice president of the association of home
decoration of the china federation of industry and commerce* (£ L
B R EEMERE), the vice chairman of the Market Committee of
China Furniture Association* (FEREREHHZEE), the honorary
president of Guangdong Furniture Chamber Of Commerce* (& 58 & X (&
EEELEZE), the chairman of Xiamen Meitu Mei Network Technology
Company Limited* (EFIEEZHEFFERAE)and the vice
president of the Xiyingmen Group* (EZFI£H).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EREMER

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

ferkPFa
Shineﬂ)ing

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and

continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Richly
Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 96
to 215, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
“Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR S

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported net loss of approximately HK$415,682,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and as at 31 March 2021, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$1,905,441,000, which included
principals and interest payables of the Group’s certain bank and other
borrowings that are in default and therefore the lenders have the right
to demand immediate repayment of the entire outstanding balances as
at 31 March 2021. Details are set out in notes 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at the same date, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$57,302,000. These
conditions, together with other matters as described in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position which are
set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i)
the successful renewal or extension of the repayment terms of the
outstanding principals and interests of the bank and other borrowings,
(i) the successful acceleration of pre-sales and sales of properties under
development and speeding up the collection of sales proceeds and (i)
continuous financial support from the related parties. Should the Group
fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be
made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
v RVR S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion” section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623

Hong Kong
30 June 2021

BB L B 2 AR S M B R aR A K
BZEE

ESZEENRERAGHMAGRMAZ
BERHERNYE BEEZEGUMHTRE
HOTERIMF LREESHE ZEZBIX
mfEm BT (FRER) EE%EMmRK
TOAMFEMAR -EFEHIRNEREZ
NEHERHEMALTEEXREEAE
F-RM BHEREFZHREATFERER
BE —BMAZER BEERENTE
WBEEZESRBEURHBEBARERS
MHEBRRZBFERRZEE -

REERAEAMAGZEXGHMER
SR (TsPR)) - EFBUN EEE T
EEETRETHEMEBE R

HEABUYUZBMRENBEREESE
ARBIEIRTE -

BEhAPMN(FEER) SHMEHEFRERLIA
HEZ AT

EREF

HEFBEHRIT P06623

BH
BT -—FXA=1H

—EC—GFR BATEREERAS 95



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

raRmREMEERmERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ T _—F=B=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—EZ—fF TEIEHF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
[z FHET TFHET
Revenue W &5 5 41,168 181,687
Cost of sales & A A (30,456) (170,426)
Gross profit EF 10,712 11,261
Loss on revaluation of KEYEZ EEEE
investment properties 15 (89,481) (140,551)
Other income, gain and loss Hthg A~ It B k548 6 1,880 1,207
Selling expenses &R (20,885) (11,418)
Administrative expenses THRX (74,974) (66,921)
Finance costs EE A 7 (259,995) (113,913)
Share of results of associates FEEBE AT 2R 17 - (4,390)
Loss before tax PRIZAIESIE 8 (432,743) (324,725)
Income tax credit FrSiRit % 11 17,061 29,869
Loss for the year FREE (415,682) (294,856)
Other comprehensive expense Hth2@ERAX
Items that may be reclassified OB B EIEHFIIER
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation BMEBINERELE S
of foreign operations (e EZE (46,982) (7,794)
Share of other comprehensive expense = YN=1 4
of associates HEf2mEExS = (4,547)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEEBAS  REREE
for the year, net of tax (46,982) (12,341)
Total comprehensive expense FARAZEMASZEEE
for the year (462,664) (807,197)
HK$ # T HKS$ 27T
Loss per share SFhEEsiE 12
Basic =N (1.78) cents #fll  (1.26) cents 1l
Diluted e (1.78) cents #fll  (1.26) cents
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIRRR

As at 31 March 2021
RIB-—F=A=+—8H

2021 2020
—E—F TEIZF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
GE: FHT THT
Non-current assets JEREEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB KRR E 14 26,433 27,551
Investment properties SEYE 15 1,339,891 1,323,909
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 578,361 553,905
Interests in associates REE QB2 #m 17 9,404 18,414
Financial asset designated at fair value IEERAFEAEM
through other comprehensive income 2>EWE (R AEE
(‘FVTOCH) HAEMBERE) 2
TREE 18 2,724 2,724
Goodwiill mE 19 118,392 109,516
2,075,205 2,036,019
Current assets RENEE
Properties under development TEYE 20 2,759,814 2,294,377
Completed properties held for sales HBEHEZETYE 21 97,145 97,589
Inventories 758 22 - -
Trade receivables FEURAE =N 23 8,062 8,989
Prepayments, deposits and AN R el
other receivables HihEY 1S 24 287,973 209,990
Cash and cash equivalents RBeKIRSEER 25 57,302 27,107
3,210,296 2,638,052
Current liabilities wREasE
Trade payables FEATERAR 26 1,171,435 1,064,654
Other payables and accruals HAn eI IE & et & A 27 932,491 661,541
Contract liabilities =)= 27 922,882 401,145
Amounts due to related parties FETREE /=8 28 467,048 413,968
Interest-bearing bank and STEIRITREMER
other borrowings 29 1,486,468 324,931
Provisions B 30 6,846 6,332
Lease liabilties HEaE 16 1,338 2,140
Tax payable FE(SFRIE 127,229 116,227
5,115,737 2,990,938
R HHEPEEERRAR 97



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mREMEIRRR

As at 31 March 2021
RIB-—F=A=1—H

2021 2020
—ET 5 ZEIEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
s FHET AT
Net current liabilities REhaEEEE (1,905,441) (352,886)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREaE 169,764 1,683,133
Non-current liabilities EREaE
Deferred income IRIEUT A 27 65,975 61,029
Amounts due to related parties FETREE /=8 28 436,196 425,199
Interest-bearing bank and other stEIRITTREMER
borrowings 29 - 1,052,854
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 - 1,338
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 31 52,555 65,011
554,726 1,605,431
Net (liabilities) assets (BB BEFE (384,962) 77,702
Equity #
Issued capital BETRAE 32 1,166,834 1,166,834
Reserves HE (1,551,796) (1,089,132)
(Deficiency in Equity) Total equity (REZSEo4t) RS 4R%E (384,962) 77,702

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 215 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June

2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Li Yi Feng
Director

EF
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Con

solidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEmEER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ T _—F=B=+—HIEFE

Notes:

@

100

The contributed surplus represents the surplus arising on reduction of paid-up
capital during the year ended 31 March 2004.

The reorganisation reserve represents the carrying amount of net liabilities
of subsidiaries, net of expenses, being disposed of under the schemes of
arrangement under section 166 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and section 99 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended time to time). Both schemes of arrangement
were sanctioned by the High Court of Hong Kong and the Supreme Court of
Bermuda on 27 May 2008 and 13 June 2008, respectively.

The statutory reserve funds represents 10% of the profit after tax of the
Company’s subsidiaries registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
appropriate to the reserve as stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
certain subsidiaries in the PRC, until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital and thereafter any further appropriation is optional.

Other reserve represents () the difference between the considerations paid to
obtain additional non-controlling interests and its carrying amount of the net
assets on the date of the acquisition, which the excess of the fair value of the
consideration over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired has been
debited directly to equity; (i) the deemed contributions from shareholders that
arisen from the difference between the initial fair value and cash receipts on the
loans from related parties; (i) the deemed contribution from shareholder that
arisen from the excess of the net identifiable assets acquired over the fair value
of ordinary shares of the Company issued upon a business combination; and
(iv) the deemed contribution from shareholder that arisen from the excess of
the carrying amounts of indebtedness capitalised over the fair value of ordinary
shares of the Company issued.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE_Z_—F=-A=+—HUIHFE
2021 2020
—EI—fF ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TFHET TFHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (432,743) (324,725)
Adjustments for: MTIEIEZRE
Bank interest income RITHI B WA (139) (117)
Finance costs MEER 259,995 113,913
Loss on written off of property, WEEYIZE R KR 2 518
plant and equipment 193 63
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERREBEITE
plant and equipment 4,779 3,280
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEEEINE 18,128 19,355
Loss on revaluation of investment properties LB E T BEiLEIE 89,481 140,551
Share of results of associates = A =UN=IE = - 4,390
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESEEAIZ
working capital KERERB (60,306) (43,290)
Decrease in trade receivables FEUR BR FR - 1,618 5,238
Increase in properties under development EEMERFEREZ
and completed properties held for sales DY/ ESr Yl (266,041) (488,984)
Increase in prepayments, FBIRIE & Mk HEAM
deposits and other receivables FEWERIBIE 0 (58,184) (40,369)
Increase in trade payables 1T BR TN A0 14,277 417,275
(Decrease) increase in other payables HihENIRIBRESTE B
and accruals CRiZL) 380 (18,051) 55,926
Increase in contract liabilities BHAEENM 465,981 231,740
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESEBEL 2RSS REE 79,294 137,536
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ T _—F=B=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—B—F “BITF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET TFHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEH
Construction costs for investment properties KEMEZ BEAAK (1,594) (52,017)
Repayment from an associate i UNETE == 10,137 31,647
Advance to a related party B H FTER (389) (3,889)
Purchases of items of property, REYE -BEM
plant and equipment REER (1,496) (1,564)
Bank interest received BUWERTTH]E 139 117
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) BEEHARE (FRA) 2
INVESTING ACTIVITIES &3R8 6,797 (25,706)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B IEE
Advance from related parties KERAEL 2B 237,790 126,540
Proceeds from new bank and other borrowings L IRIT R EMERZ
e 2,278 20,343
Repayment to related parties EIREE 5 B (285,952) (69,597)
Interest paid BFHE (5,982) (114,111)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BIRFITTREMBER (5,136) (25,259)
Repayment of notes payable BERNER - (93,471)
Repayment for principal elements BREEEEEZAEED
of lease liabilities (2,140) (2,000)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  RiE;EEFTRAZIREFEE (59,142) (157,555)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) REkREEEREM
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (GRiZL) 73R 26,949 (45,725)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FzRERREEER 27,107 75,114
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SMEEB R EFER 3,246 (2,282)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EXRZBERFEEFER
AT END OF YEAR, represented BRITAA R R IRE
by bank balances and cash 57,302 27,107
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

inE MR AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE

BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE
CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREEEN
Richly Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) was HHIEZEREERARE (TXAF])
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability and ARHEESEESMBRINERAR
continued as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda TR ZIZEENF A +—HEHRA
after the change of domicile from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda EREBMEARERZ BREBAR
effective on 11 February 2004. The addresses of the registered EEPFERLZEARABRRERE AR
office and principal place of business of the Company are Victoria ANEMBEEU R T E S XM
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and 25 Bl AVictoria Place, 5th Floor,
Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, 31 Victoria Street Hamilton HM10,
respectively. Bermuda&k BB P IRIEEEI5E P E
THER{TARES06=E
The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The ARNENFEEBARBEER -HE
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out below: RENEFEEHHINT !
Information about subsidiaries LI EPNGIE-E
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: KRB BABIEBEANT !
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
ML/ BETREERE/
8 SR EEHS BT FATREREFE AL TEEE
Directly Indirectly
B %
2021 2020 2021 2020
IPI-% TTF ZEI-F CT°ZE
Chuang Yu Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - S 100% 100%  Investment holding
BIRERERAR B BT REER
Globe Outlets City Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RERETH R2RITIHERAT RBRYHE /B 1% RERR
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - S 100% 100%  Investment holding
RIS R RERAT B BT REER
Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited*  The People’s Republic of HK$596,400,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
(*Hunan Richly Field") # China (the “PRC’)/ 596,400,003 7T MERE
BEARARSRTEEERAT Mainland China
(Tgrgsam)) = hEARLME (HEL) /
REIRH
Jiangxi Richly Town Construction The PRC/Mainland China HK$10,000,000 100% 100% - - Construction and maintenance
Projects Co., Limited** e/ hERt 10,000,000%7T BEREE
IRAHRRTRARAR
Mile Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERARATD RBRYHE /B 1% RERR
Million Harmony Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - S 100% 100%  Inactive
BiHERERAR B BT BEER
Milion Harmony Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BHARAT RBRYHE /B 1% RERR

103



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wm e MR M

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHEZZS - F=—B=1+—HIHFE

1.

104

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARAKREEER @
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) ME AT &R @
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
AL BETREERE/
273 HRREEE EUEZN FAFRMERER A TEEE
Directly Indirectly
=t %
2021 2020 2021 2020
“BC-F B8 8K “BCER
Pilot Will Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
RERRBRAT ¥ BT YELH
Pilot Will Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
REERAT ERELHE/BE e REER
Profuse Gain Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ERERERAR ¥ BT YELH
Profuse Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERBERAR ERELHE/BE e REER
Quality Depot Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
mEBRAT EBEUHE/BE e YELH
Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting The PRC/Mainland China HK$15,000,000 100% 100% - - Property management and
Co., Ltd.# L/ HERH 15,000,000%7¢ investment holding
HE=ER bR REERERAT WEEERKEER
Richly Field Hainan Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% - - Inactive
REERERERAR B 1B TEEY
TRBRARREEEERAT The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
RE/RER AE#1,000,0007% WEER
Changsha Yutian Outlets Business Administration ~ The PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - S 100% 100%  Property management and
Co. Limited? L/ HERH AE#100,000,0007¢ trading of fashion wears and
ROBERERNCEERERAT" acoessories
NEERREEREREH
Changsha Yutian Outlets Properties Management  The PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
Company Limited™ HE/RE R AR #500,0007 MEEE
ROBHRRYEERERAD!
BREHEEELEBRA The PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
RE/RER A #20,000,0007T WEER
Richly Field Kabuskiki Kaisha* Japan JPY3,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
BEHEH BA 3,000,008 TRER

Richly Field China Development Limited
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AR E M B ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1. REIREBREN @

MtEBARER @

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities

Bl Ay BETREERE,/
18 R REEME EUEZN VNG P TTEH

Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2021 2020 2021 2020
- ZTITHE ZBI-F “T°TF
King Future Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRERARAE EE BT kEZk
King Future Limited BVI Us$10 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HERERAT HERUES 10%7 REER
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate The PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
Co., Lid.#* HE/ hER 20,000,000% 7 MERE
REBRBRNELARAT
Hunan Longsheng Decoration The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Engineering Company Limited®** FE/ FENMT ARI10,000,0007 BEEE

HEEREEEATRERAT
LEBEEREZERAR The PRC/Mainiand China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive

HE/ hER AR 500,007 UEEH
Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Ltd.” The PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 - S 100% 100%  Property development and
ERSuRBEEERAT I,/ HEN AR #350,000,0007 management and home

furnishing
MEREREENRBEN

# Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law i RIEFEIEEHMABRAR
# Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law i IREBEFRENE R MR EmEE R

i Registered as a Sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law

For identification purposes only

it

“E_GFR HHETEERARAR

RIEFEAREMATIIEGELEE X
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2.1

106

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except
for per share data. Hong Kong dollar is the Company’s functional
currency and the Group’s presentation currency.

The Group reported net loss of approximately HK$415,682,000.
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$1,905,441,000 and total borrowings, including
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and amounts due to
related parties of approximately HK$1,953,516,000 that will be due
in the coming twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
As at the same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$57,302,000.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group have breached the terms of
certain bank and other borrowings which constituted events
of default as stipulated in the relevant loan agreements. As
such, the providers of finance (the “Lenders”) have the right
to demand immediate repayment of the outstanding principal
amounted to RMB1,210,700,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,432,500,000) as at 31 March 2021 and estimated unpaid
interests, including contractual and penalty interests amounted to
approximately RMB268,252,000 (equivalent to HK$317,396,000
as at 31 March 2021). The Group has been discussing with the
Lenders for the renewal or extension of repayment terms.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

In view of the above, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s cash flow projections covering a period of twelve
months from 31 March 2021 which have taken into account the
followings:

(i) the Group’s property development projects had shown
steady progress and the Group is in the process of
accelerating the pre-sales and sales of its properties under
development;

(i)  the continuous financial support from related parties,
including the unutilised loan facility from a related company
beneficially owned by a controlling shareholder of
RMB1,000,000,000 that will not be expiring before 31 March
2022 of which approximately RMB940,348,000 remained
unutilised as at 31 March 2021;

(i)  the forecasted operating cash flows for the year ending 31
March 2022.

In addition, the Group is also considering various options for
obtaining additional financing to the Group, such as new investors
and business partners, and the Group had been in active
negotiation with potential buyers for the disposal of projects or
subsidiaries of the Group. Subsequent to the year end, the Group
entered into a memorandum of understanding with an independent
third party for the disposal of certain subsidiaries which are the
borrowers of the loans that are in default.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to fulfill its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the coming twelve months
from 31 March 2021. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. These consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
carrying amounts and reclassification of assets and liabilities that
might be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.
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2.2

108

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective for
the Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2020:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the current
and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective

The Group had not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
related Amendments®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual
Framework®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause®

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use®

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.2 ERAMI REEIEEBUHE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HREER (TEBMBREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued) A1) @
New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but BiEMERKRERZ T REE
not yet effective (continued) IR AMBREEN @
Amendments to HKFRS Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — EBMHERS FEREAEN S
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 2 ZERI 5% ~ — 5 TR
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 BB TER]
ERclel A= 5
B PSR S 2E R
FBIR BB
AR & %8
FAEREE
B 75 3R & 2R
F165E 2 BT
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets EBGE£R] BE—XRGMESX
and Liabilities arising F1258 2 185] BEKRABEN
from a Single Transaction® MR REIR AR 180
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements EBMHERS SR HEREEER]
to HKFRSs 2018-2020° ZER) 2 & “2-N\EE
—EIEHF
FEES
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent BEBUBRE COVID-19—18RA
Concessions* ZRFE165E 2 FH 2R R
(EH
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent ERMBRE T —F
Concessions ZH|E165E 2 NE=Z+RHR%ZZ
Beyond 30 June 20216 1&3T COVID-19
—ERAFE &R e
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies® SR g £ER BETEE 2 RO
and HKFRS Practice FIRKREE
Statement 2 PSR S 28]
EZE#ER| H057
pd
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? SR g crZER| BEHEETZERS
FE8TE BT
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective (continued)
U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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2.3

112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except as otherwise set out in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2021

23 FEEFBRBE

HEMBREDREEESSHMA
CEMZEBYBREENRER UL
SR BV BRREBERIAAES £
MR (TEHHE) REBRFMK
PIRNEZBRIKE-

REVBREACEELNEFTEER
ROMTXEHBRAABERIDE
SERA—RUARIE & & R E PR
TREZAFEHE-

AFEDBDERRTHATHE2A
EZBRFEAREEE (URE
F)HTHEETZEFRETHEERE
PRz BRABREEMXNZ
B ETAE MARZEBRES
ERBERMSIHEMBAMMEES X
Gt -AMAFEFEZHBR
TP st R PRt o

FEERMZIBZEBRBER
X e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or

loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12

Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance

with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with
the share-based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based

Payment at the acquisition date; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

° Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease was a new
lease at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date;
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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2.3

116

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash generating unit (the “CGU”) (or groups
of CGU) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rate basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwiill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those poalicies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. WWhen necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20% to 25%

Office equipment 15% to 33'/3%
Furniture and fixtures 15% to 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction for
such purposes).

Owned investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

If an item of prepaid land lease payments becomes an investment
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in respect of
that item will be transferred directly to retained earnings when it is
derecognised.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For
these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straightline basis over the term of the lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group recognises and measures
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect
to some of its investment properties. Leases for which the Group
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under
the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term expcept for investment properties
measured at fair value model.

Variable lease payments for operating leases that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing
costs, professional fees, payments for land use rights and other
costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale
of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in current liabilities as contract liabilities.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
as the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete within the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sales.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Completed properties held for sales

Completed properties held for sales are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale of
completed properties held for sales are included in current liabilities
as contact liabilities.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see
the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A financial asset and a financial liability is offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when,
and only when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI”) and
FVTPL.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. The Group’s financial
assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and
FVTOCI.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Other income, gain and loss” line item (note 6).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is
not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low
risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

23 FETHHEME @

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two to three years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the

proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or

loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised

cost of a financial liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Classification as debt or equity (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit (loss) differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the general principles above.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (i) different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of

third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is

due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not

presented on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the physical possession or
the legal title of the completed property and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group typical receives a deposit on acceptance of sale order,
giving rise to a contract liability until the customer obtains control of
the goods.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by
the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payments and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. This interest accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period between the
advance payments received and the transfer of the associated
goods and services, and therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the goods and services is transferred to
customers. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is eligible
to be capitalised under HKAS 23 Borrowing costs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The Group
recognises such costs (i.e. sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration
that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Property management services

For property management services contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group'’s performance
to date, on a monthly basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not to disclose the remaining performance obligations
for these types of contracts. The majority of the property
management service contracts do not have a fixed term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal governments. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or

translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and, their statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average exchange rates for
the year.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2.3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgements by the management, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The conditions set out in note 2.1 indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concerns and therefore, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections in the next twelve months taking into account the major
events or conditions which may give rise to business risks and
concluded that the Group has the ability to continue as a going
concern.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the investment
property portfolio of the Group and concluded that all of the
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore,
the directors of the Company have determined that the “sale”
presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” is rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred tax on changes in fair value of investment properties on the
basis that the Group is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.

Classification between investment properties and owner
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services or the
portions that are used for different purposes are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Contingent liabilities of the delay in project construction
works

Certain projects’ construction works were delayed compared
with the original time schedule agreed with local government due
to various reasons. The Group’s management determines the
contingent liability in relation to the penalty arisen from the delay in
completion of construction. The determination requires significant
judgment. In making this judgement, the management evaluated
the possibility of penalty happened. The management reassesses
the contingent liability at the end of each reporting period and no
contingent liability was recognised as at 31 March 2021. Details of
which are set out in note 30.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales
Properties under development and completed properties held for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion, which were
derived at after considering recent local economic developments,
recent sales transactions, recent construction costs of the Group
and other similar properties in the surrounding areas and internally
available information.

The Group’s management reviews the properties under
development and completed properties held for sales periodically
and carries out an impairment review on a project-by-project basis
at each financial year end. The budget cost and development
progress of the project is reviewed by the Group on a regular
basis and adjusted as appropriate. Where there is any decrease
in the estimated selling price or increase in estimated construction
cost arising from any change in local economic or property
market conditions, there may be written down on the properties
under development and completed properties held for sales.
As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales are
approximately HK$2,759,814,000 (2020: HK$2,294,377,000) and
HK$97,145,000 (2020: HK$97,589,000) respectively. During the
year ended 31 March 2021, no impairment loss of completed
properties held for sales and properties under development was
recognised (2020: Nil).
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction, are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their fair value, details of which are disclosed in note 15. The fair
value of the investment properties was determined by reference
to valuations conducted on these properties by an independent
qualified valuer using property valuation techniques which involve
certain assumptions and inputs as set out in note 15. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in changes
in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties included in
the consolidated statement of financial position and corresponding
adjustments to the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of investment properties
was approximately HK$1,339,891,000 (2020: HK$1,323,909,000).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires the determination of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use
and fair value less costs of disposals. Estimating the value-in-use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and apply a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash
flows, a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$118,392,000
(2020: HK$109,516,000). Details of which are set out in note 19.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

The Group performs assessments on whether items of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have suffered any
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated
that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable, in
accordance with the stated accounting policy. Where there is an
indicator of impairment, an estimation of the recoverable amount
is required. Such estimations are based on certain assumptions
which are subject to uncertainty and might differ from the actual
result. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment was approximately HK$26,433,000 (2020:
HK$27,551,000). As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets was approximately HK$578,361,000 (2020:
HK$553,905,000). No impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Current tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions, files tax reports and makes tax provision in
accordance with the prevailing tax regulations and prescribed
timeframe. However, the implementation of tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and the
Group had not yet finalised certain calculations with local tax
authorities. Judgement is required in determining the Group’s
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which such determination is made.
The carrying amount of tax payable, carried as a liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021
was approximately HK$127,229,000 (2020: HK$116,227,000).
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Current tax and deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. There was no deferred tax recognised with respect
to tax losses at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$1,122,504,000 (2020: HK$780,751,000). Details of which are
set out in note 11.
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4.

154

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Over 90% of the Group’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are generated from the Group’s property development and
investment projects in Changsha, Hunan Province (the “Changsha
Project”), Qinhuangdao of Hebei Province (the “Qinhuangdao
Project”) and Ningxia, Yinchuan City (the “Ningxia Project”) in
the PRC. The chief executive officer (the chief operating decision
maker) makes decisions about resources allocation and assesses
performance of the Group based on the operating results and
financial position of the Group as a whole, as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no other discrete operating segment information
is provided to the chief operation decision maker. As such, no
segment information is presented.

Accordingly, the chief executive officer is of the opinion that the
Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao Project and Ningxia Project in the
PRC is a single reportable operating segment of the Group.

An analysis of the Group’s revenues from external customers for
each group of similar products and services is disclosed in note 5.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely from
its operations in the PRC, and all non-current assets (other than
financial assets) of the Group are located in the PRC.

During the year, the Group had no transactions with external
customer which individually contributed over 10% to the Group’s
total revenue (2020: Nil).
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5. REVENUE 5. W=
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () EPEHWE
with customers
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: KEEBWR@mZWMWT :
2021 2020
—E-— T oEf
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Sales of properties YIEHE 11,117 143,999
Management fee income BEEWA 13,513 16,437
Total revenue from contracts with BERESHWERLEEE
customers 24,630 160,436
Revenue from other source Hin s R W =
Rental income for investment properties &S THEIE M EYEZHE WA
under operating lease
— Lease payments that are fixed or —EEHERIEH LR
depend on an index or a rate HEIE 7,111 9,270
— Variable lease payments that do not —jﬂE%ﬁA?':%UZI:t%Z
depend on an index or a rate Al B IE 9,427 11,981
16,538 21,251
41,168 181,687
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Timing of revenue recognition Ut 2 T B0 R P
At a point in time RE KRR 11,117 143,999
Over time B F 5] 13,513 16,437
Total revenue from contracts R BN AR
with customers 24,630 160,436
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5.

156

REVENUE (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on customer’s specifications with no alternative
use. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedent,
the Group concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to customers. Revenue from sales of residential
properties is therefore recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of
the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 20% to 100% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is recognised
over time, and the progress measured using the output
method. The property management service fees are billed to
the tenants monthly.
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5. REVENUE (continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March
2021 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as

5. = @

(i) PEEFRTERATEZRS
=
ARE_E-_—F=A=+—
Bos TEASE GRERIL
DRER) WX HEBREDKE

follows: HNFEARBWT
2021 2020
—B_—fF “BIEfF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —&FRN 958,221 222,030
More than one year but not BE—FERBBmE
more than two years 41,119 269,135
Total revenue from contracts BERAHWRLELE
with customers 999,340 491,165

All property management services are for periods of one year
or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

6. OTHER INCOME, GAIN AND LOSS

FMEBEMEEERB AR —&F
P oW E B RS %A
FISFEST  DEEZSE
BHREANRZELEIFE-

6. Hfthit A~ m kB8

2021 2020

—EBE-—F == S

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FAET FHET

Interest income on bank deposits RITERFEURA 139 117
Net exchange (loss)/gain ER (518 IR FEE (49) 16
Others Hh 1,790 1,074
1,880 1,207
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7.

158

FINANCE COSTS MEEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance cost is as follows: AEBZMEEBRSNUWT
2021 2020
—ECZ—% ZEIERF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fff 5% FAET FHET
Interest on bank and other borrowings #8417 & ELfth (& 7 2 259,773 184,748
Interest on notes payable ERNEERE - 13,868
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGHR 16 222 362
Less: Amount capitalised in the cost & : ER S ERE EMZAH
of qualifying assets BERMEZEE8 - (85,065)
259,995 113,913

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation for the year ended 31 March 2020
was 8.47%. No borrowing costs were capitalised for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
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8.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging:

8. FRMAIESE

FEERRAGRENFETIRE:

2021 2020
—E-—%F TEIZF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET AT
(@)  Staff costs: () BIE:
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 26,964 26,176
Contributions to defined contribution REMFCRAGT EIERR
retirement plans 2,329 3,002
29,293 29,178
(o)  Other items: ) HAER:
Cost of inventories recognised HRRARIZ 2 FERA!
as expenses’ 8,040 158,835
Loss on written off of property, WY -BERREZ
plant and equipment* 518 193 63
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEREEITE
plant and equipment* 4,779 3,280
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* EREEEITE 18,128 19,355
Auditors’ remuneration* TZ B &~ 1,250 1,250
Direct operating expenses incurred REREEHREWADN
for investment properties that KREVMEMELEZ
generated rental income HiEgEm
during the year* 6,155 5,153
# This amount is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement E ZEBEFAGSEa AEMEE NG
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. R IHEMAIA -
* This amount is included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated * ZeEt AR BR REMEE KRG

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021

EFRITHESRZMME

REEBHEGXZRMAERRAE (TH
P EFLEHRA (TEHRA)
REBRBKAFEI83(1)HEKRRE
(REESFHMIZEH) KA B2
BZESERTHBHEAMESOT

BE_ZE_—F=-H=+—HLt=EE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

RHEES FREF2AREMBAR) REMBARBEMES SREK 2 ME

Salaries, Employer's
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind retirement plans remuneration
REM]
e EER BRHEZ
ik BWRIE BEMHR MEa%E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fisE AT THET THET THET
Chief executive and THREZRRTES !
executive director:
Mr. Li Yi Feng ENHELE 850 - 18 868
Executive director: HITES:
Mr. Chen Wei RELLE 917 - - 917
1,767 - 18 1,785
Independent non-executive directors: BILFFHITES
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen BEHLT 199 - - 199
Mr. Wong Chi Hong Wiliam BTERE (a) 33 - - 33
Mr. Wong Tak Chun BEEBLE (b) 166 - - 166
Mr. Xu Jinghong FEEBELE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597
2,364 - 18 2,382
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EFERITHREZZME @
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BHE_Z_Z2F=-"B=+—HIEEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings
HUAEEE FHBARSRENEAD) REBARBMEL FRRKZHE

Salaries, Employer's
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind retirement plans remuneration
REMR
e R RIREHEIZ
itk BWHE BEMHR BE 8%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MidzE TET TER TER TET
Chief executive and THBEERNTES:
executive director:
Mr., Li Vi Feng FBEE 850 22 17 889
Executive director: HiTES .
Mr. Chen Wei BRELLE 898 - - 898
1,748 22 17 1,787
Independent non-executive directors: B FFHITES
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REGLL 199 - - 199
Mr. Wong Tak Chun e (b) 199 = = 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong FERELE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597
2,345 22 17 2,384
Notes: Mk -
@  Appointed on 31 January 2021. @ RE_—F—A=t+—REZT-
() Resigned on 31 January 2021. b RIEZ-—F—H=+—H#E
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10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two were directors and the chief executive (2020: two) of the
Company whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in
note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: three)
individuals were as follows:

10.

{2 & %

REEERSHFMALE R F X
AEMBEERTHEBH (TTZF
F W) EM SR EXHEIN R
BE-HH=-%(CTEZZF:=4) A
T2 -

2021 2020

—g-—F TERITEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYR & 1,807 2,249
Employer’s contributions to defined REMIRKEEI 2 BEHR

contribution retirement plans 54 45

1,861 2,294

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

HFME T BB ZIFEETRIFTH
MEzERSHMNESEZ AHOT

No. of employee

BEAH
2021 2020
—$-—F "B TF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 21,000,000 7% 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 21,500,003 78 - 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the
Company or five highest paid employees of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B=E

11.

TET—F=-RA=1+—HIEE

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the subsidiaries registered in the PRC is 25% (2020: 25%)).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2021 as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2020: Nil).

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties developed
by the Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, which under the applicable
regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

11. FRiEMRIER

REBRERMNKZEZR A&EEBA
BAMERBEREMSR

RiFFEAREMBECEMBRZE

(TEFREMLE) REEMERZE
BEHESN RPEEMZHWEAT 2
MEAE25% (T _ZF 1 25%) °

HREAEERFRETEBLEE
SERNESEREN (ZE £
#) AbEEAMBEE_S-_—F=4
T+ —HIEFEEZEBAERTIER
B

PEZ B ERDDUEEERER
RHEZME BRELHZABUR
EMEI0%ECORE W > HHIREE
BRENHEEMRSRRLNEKRA
HRAX (BE LM ERRRA &
EfTRFIBENEZERMAS StER
¢ o

2021 2020
& TEIEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Mk FAET TAET

Deferred tax credit IRIEFTEIL T2
Current year KEE 31 17,061 29,869
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE

—F=A=1+—HILEFE
1. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 11. FRISRIERE @
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss AFEEZHMEREBEREFZSEEG R
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HtemhamskkHGRaIEBIEY
comprehensive income as follows: RO
2021 2020
B —F —ETFg
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET TFET
Loss before tax PRI AR 1E (432,743) (324,725)
Tax at the applicable tax rates }ﬁkﬁﬁﬁ‘ HERIE (106,965) (78,586)
Tax effect of share of results attributable to ENBEMEEZRBRE
associates - 1,097
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEZRRIRAZRERE (25) (138)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ENGIE A o - 3,357 7,049
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KERDBZRNIEBIEMETE 86,572 43,083
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B RER ZRIEEIE
recognised - (2,374)
Income tax credit for the year KEEZFERIER (17,061) (29,869)

164

At 31 March 2021, the Group has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of approximately RMB948,702,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,122,504,000) (2020: RMB713,340,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$780,751,000)) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 March 2021, the Group has deductible temporary differences
of approximately RMB166,574,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$197,090,000) (2020: RMB166,574,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$182,315,000)). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it
is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
eI FEERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BRES1E

(@) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
following data

(@) SBiRENEIE

REREBETRUT BB
g

2021 2020
—E-— _ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss attributable to owners RABEE ANEILEIE

of the Company (415,682) (294,856)
2021 2020
2 TEIZE

Weighted average number of LBRz METHE (BE)

ordinary shares (basic)

23,336,687,255  23,336,687,255

(b) Diluted loss per share

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, basic loss per
share is the same as diluted loss per share as there are no
potential ordinary shares outstanding for the year.

(b) ESREEGIE
BE_S_—GR_T_TF
ZE=+t—HLFE-BRE
RIEERBAEIZEBEEE B
R skRELAEERESRE
BEIRAR o

13. DIVIDENDS 13. &2

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
Nil).

AR EEITEBENBE_T - —
FZAZ+—HLEFEREEARE

(ZEZZF 1 8|) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ T _—F=B=+—HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME-BERKME
Leasehold Office ~ Furniture and Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment fixtures vehicles Total
& &
BF MEREE WARE EEE RE agt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T FAT T
31 March 2021 ZE-_-%=A=1+-H
At 1 April 2020: RZE_ZENA-H:
Cost IR 34,606 3,826 6,167 1,579 5,980 52,158
Accumulated depreciation RENE (10,361) (2,504) (5,305) (932) (5,505) (24,607)
Net carrying amount REFE 24,245 1,322 862 647 475 27,551
At 1 April 2020, RZE_ZEMB—H>
net of accumulated depreciation NBREFE 24,245 1,322 862 647 475 27,551
Additions HE - 232 443 821 - 1,496
Written off during the year FRH - = = = (193) (193)
Depreciation provided during the year FRNERE (1,797) (1,532) (828) (508) (114) 4,779)
Exchange realignment ERAE 1,816 53 149 310 30 2,358
At 31 March 2021, RIB--&E=ZR=+-R>
net of accumulated depreciation NERE 24,264 75 626 1,270 198 26,433
At 31 March 2021 WoE-—EZAZ+-R:
Cost A 37,343 4,049 7,098 2,801 4,126 55,417
Accumulated depreciation ZEHNE (13,079) (3,974) (6,472) (1,531) (3,928) (28,984)
Net carrying amount REFE 24,264 75 626 1,270 198 26,433
31 March 2020 —Z_ZFZR=+-H
A1 April 2019: KIB-hEMB-8:
Cost B 36,794 3,108 6,441 1,585 6,849 54,772
Accumulated depreciation ZitinE (9.208) (1,721) (5,449) (920) 6:379) 23677)
Net carrying amount REFE 27,586 1,382 992 665 470 31,095
At 1 April 2019, RZE-hENA—H>
net of accumulated depreciation MERRENE 27,686 1,382 992 665 470 31,09
Additions RE - 942 223 255 144 1,564
Written off during the year ERHH = = (16) (14) (33 (63)
Depreciation provided during the year FRNERE (1,783) 917 (286) (218) (76) (3,280)
Exchange realignment ERAER (1,558) (85) (1) #1) (30) (1,765)
At 31 March 2020, R_E-EE=-F=+-H"
net of accumulated depreciation NBRRE 24,245 1,322 862 647 475 27,551
At 31 March 2020: R_E-EE=-F=+-H:
Cost [N 34,606 3,826 6,167 1,579 5,980 52,158
Accumulated depreciation RE (10,361) (2,504) (5,305) 932) (5,505) (24,607)
Net carrying amount RERE 24,045 1,822 862 647 475 27,551
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. IR EYE

Under
Completed construction Total
% "B st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
FAIR VALUE AFE
At 1 April 2019 R_E—-hENB—H 1,110,292 382,274 1,492,566
Additions NE 2,968 57,693 60,661
Decrease in fair value recognised in BRPERZ A FERLD
profit or loss (136,785) (3,766) (140,551)
Exchange realignment ERAE (63,683) (25,084) (88,767)
At 31 March 2020 N_E-ZF=H=+—H 912,792 411,117 1,323,909
Additions NE 1,594 - 1,594
(Decrease)/increase in fair value BEPERZ A FE
recognised in profit or loss GRL) /381 (144,383) 54,902 (89,481)
Exchange realignment QR 68,412 35,457 103,869
At 31 March 2021 RIB_—H=A=+—H 838,415 501,476 1,339,891

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland

China.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2021 and 2020 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited
(“Avista”), independent qualified professional valuers not connected

with the Group. Avista is a member of the Institute of Valuers.

FEBZAREYEHDUNTEH
7 o

AERMRENER S —FR=
Z_TE=A=+-H2ZATED
MY EmT G HEERAS (TN
W) (HEEETEEBZBIAHE
Fo S B A BT O BB AT 2 A ME
EETER - UEDAEENSE N
EO
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ T _—F=B=+—HIEFE

15.

168

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. KEYE @
The valuation was arrived at by reference to market transaction ZEELK2ZHUMBERTZ
prices and rentals for similar properties in the similar locations and HUMETSBRXZERAETEE &
conditions. Details of valuation techniques and assumptions are BEAERBRFBR TXHme E—
discussed below. There has been no change from the valuation FEFRZMGEEREZMLBETE o 5T
technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the EMEZRFER ZYWEZEE X
property, the highest and best use of the property is its current use. REGHAAADERFZEAHARX -
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses ABEGTEENEENATE T&F
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level BOERBMIZEREIER M REE
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified REE—HaA#E AEETLE
valuers to perform the valuation. The management of the Group B ERMGEMETHE KNE
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the EEEHASERIIEGEMNEY]
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. EE UARAEEBENEERA ERER
B A BUE o
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that are measured KEBRVEBEREBERRATETE
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value grouped into fair AR ¥R A T E 5= B B A B 0 B
value hierarchy level 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to RREESALFEERE=ZH 2%
fair value measurement is observable and the information about EMEZDMUKRB B WA ERG
how the valuation has been reached and the use of significant ENEREAFTTERRE ASE
unobservable inputs are as follows: BERmT
Relationship of
Significant Range of significant
Fair value Fairvalue asat  Valuation technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 31 March 2021 and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
RZBZ-% BEXTAHE FAHE BEXFARZHALE
ATERER =B=+-HZATHE @EAFERTEHALE BAHE HAHEEE BATEZRG
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$510,314,000  Income Approach Discount rate 8.5% (2020: 7.75%) The higher the discount
Property A (completed) (2020: HK$613,249,000) per annum rate, the lower the fair
- by reference to forecasted net value
income discounted using a
market discount rate and Capitalisation rate 5.5% (2020: 4.75%) The higher the
capitalised income beyond per annum capitalisation rate, the
the forecast period lower the fair value
BEREMEARHRD) =4 51031400087  WAK fR% BE85% TREHS
(CBZ2F: CZIRF775%)  ATERE
613249,00087) —2REATHIRENENE
ARASBRBBERSAN
BA{ERA BALE 5F55% BREREE
(CBZZE 1 475%) NTEHUE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REWE @

Relationship of
Significant Range of significant
Fair value Fairvalue asat  Valuation technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 31 March 2021 and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
RZE_-F EARTHE FIHRE EXRIRREARE
ATEER ZBEZ+-BZRTE MEAERIESAME BABE BABEEE BATEZHAR
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$176,533,000  Market Comparison Approach Adjusted market price  RMB1,376 - RMB1,786 The higher the adjusted
Property B (2020: HK$145,568,000) (2020: RMB1,095 - market price, the
(under construction) - by reference to recent selling RMB1,352) higher the fair value
price of comparable per square metre
properties and adjusted to
reflect the time, size and
location of the property
BERENEB (TB) E=R 176,533,000 MR TEEME STRRARK1376T  SREGEER
(CB2EF: EANRM, 7867 ATERS
145,568,000870)  —2RALENEZTRERD (CEi3H:
fELREURBIEL AR%1,095E
B RERIE AR1,3527)
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$328,101,000  Income Approach Term yield 5% (2020: 5%) per annum  The higher the term
Property C (completed) (2020: HK$299,543,000) yield, the lower the fair
- taking into account the current value
rents of the property
interests and the reversionary  Reversionary yield 5.5% (2020: 5.5%) The higher the
potentials of the tenancies per annum reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value
BEREMEC BRD) =4 328,101,008  WA% kil §E5% REREEES
(CBEE: (CE22% 15%) ATEEE
209543 000%m) - AMERZZEREER
HEZEHEN (ol §F55% [l
(CBZEE 1 55%) ATEHE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$324,943,000  Market Comparison Approach Adjusted market price  RMB1,581 - RMB2,460 The higher the adjusted
Property D (2020: HK$265,549,000) (2020: RMB1,419 - market price, the
(under construction) - by reference to recent selling RMB1,796) per square higher the fair value
price of comparable metre
properties and adjusted to
reflect the time, size and
location of the property
BEREMED (TR) E=R 324,943,000  MHLEE TEEME STRRARK1S81T  SREGEER
(CB2EF: EARM2,4607 ATERS
265,5490008m)  —2RALENEZTHEET (CEi®3H:
ELREURBIEL AR 41970
B RERIE ARH1,79670)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ T _—F=B=+—HIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. KREYE @
At 31 March 2021, the Group’s investment properties with a net N ZEZ—F=ZB=+—H & &
carrying amount of approximately HK$1,224,600,000 (2020: IREFELNA1,224,600,0008 7T
HK$1,217,556,000) were pledged to secure certain bank and other (ZEZ-=FH :1,217,556,000%
borrowings (note 29) and amounts due to related parties (note 28) o) 2R EVMEEEALRERE TR
of the Group. TREMMGER (MHE29) K FERHE
FHRIE (Mizke8) 2 B o
16. LEASES 16. HHE
(i) Right-of-use assets () FEHESEE
2021 2020
T —F —EIERF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Land T ih 577,124 550,549
Buildings g 1,237 3,356
578,361 553,905
As at 31 March 2021, right-of-use assets of approximately W_E-_—F=8B=+—H>
HK$577,124,000 (2020: HK$550,549,000) represents land EREEEANS77,124,000% 7T
use rights located in the PRC. (ZZE =% :550,549,000%8
o) FEUR Bz L AR
The Group has lease arrangement for office premises. The KEBEMBPA=EMETBHRE
lease term is three years at fixed rentals without any extension ZH-HB=F -HEETE "
or termination options. B W fE (A HE AR o) AR Lk E
o
During the year ended 31 March 2020, certain land use rights BHE_ZTEF=A=+—HH
with a carrying value of approximately HK$54,720,000 were ETFE - BRZBESEEFE
reclassified to properties under development as a result of IREEA A54,720,0008 T2
changes of development plan. There was no reclassification ETLIHERARENSEERRE
to/from right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 March BYME-HE_ZT_-_—F=A~
2021, —+t—BLEEE - IEEFHD
BE/BEREEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE

16. LEASES (continued) 16. A& @)
(i) Right-of-use assets (continued) iy FHAEEE®
As at 31 March 2021, right-of-use assets in respect of land A ZEZ—F=ZHB=+—8"
use rights amounting to approximately HK$577,124,000 THERAREIRZEREEE
(2020: HK$550,549,000) had been pledged to secure certain #9577,124,0008 T (ZE &
bank and other borrowings (note 29) and amounts due to fF 1 550,549,000%E7T) B1EA
related parties (note 28) of the Group. AEEETIROTKREMER (M

5529) REMRIE S RE (M
28) 2 E#o

(i) Lease liabilities iy HEAE
2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Non-current JEBNEA - 1,338
Current BN EA 1,338 2,140
1,338 3,478
Amounts payable under lease liabilities: HESBBE NENHE
2021 2020
—E-— T oEf
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FEx
Within one year —FRN 1,338 2,140
After one year but within two years —FREMFERN = 1,338
1,338 3,478
Less: Amount due for settlement 128 B N EIEEE RIS
within 12 months (1,338) (2,140)
Amount due for settlement after 128 B & EIEEFIE
12 months - 1,338
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g

16.

17.

172

B F=-A=+—HLEE

LEASES (continued)

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

16. fHE ®

(i) MIETPHERZRE

2021 2020
—EBC—F —ERTTEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
(S FHET TFHET

Depreciation expense on FREEEITERS

right-of-use assets
- Land — i 16,008 17,233
— Buildings —iEF 2,120 2,122
18,128 19,355
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEHE 7 222 362
(iv) Others (iv) Eﬂﬂ

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total cash HoHE —_—®=B=+—H

outflow for leases including interest paid on lease liabilities
and payment of lease liabilities amount to approximately
HK$2,362,000 (2020: HK$2,362,000).

thEE %ﬂhﬁ%mﬁm (8

BEHEEEREZEMNAE

JE’UFHE

BEMHR) 942,362,000/ 7T

ZEITEF 12,362,0008
JT) °©
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. R E AT 2=
2021 2020
—EB_—F S
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M sE FHET FET
Costs of investment in associates REERAB 2 HERA - -
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAL U B 1R S 18
other comprehensive expenses HhemAxz (48,690) (48,690)
(48,690) (48,690)
Amounts due from associates i —NIE L @) 89,939 98,233
41,249 49,543
Impairment on amounts FEUS Bt A B FIE 2 BB (b)
due from associates (31,845) (81,129)
9,404 18,414
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interest in the
following immaterial associates:

17. REtE AR Z2H#ERm @
RIS AEERUTES AR

ENEHEARD !

Place of Proportion of nominal value of
incorporation/ paid-up capital by the Group
establishment and Class of and portion of voting power Principal
Name Form of entity operation equity held held indirectly activities
FEMRASIL MR Fits FEBMESRRAEELH
218 BREPR =ik TR KREBGEZREELS FEEH
2021 2020
B C"ZC°ZE
Champ Wisdom Limited Limited liability company BvVI Registered 50% 50% Investment
(“Champ Wisdom”) capital holding
HRARRAR (FEE)) BREERA RBEUHE BN 50% 50% REER
Champ Wisdom Holdings Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 50% 50% Investment
(Subsidiary of Champ Wisdom) capital holding
WRERERAR (GEZMBAR) BREFAH &E BRI 50% 50% HEER
Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50% Property
(Subsidiary of Champ Wisdom) capital development
ERA-AEELRERAR BREERA FE EalieN 50% 50% ¥ERE
(B2 M B AE))
Chuang Yao Limited (“Chuang Yao”) Limited liability company BVI Registered 42% 42% Investment
capital holding
BIEERAR (T8l BREERA RBEUHE AR A 42% 4% BEER
Chuang Yao Holdings Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 42% 42% Investment
(Subsidiary of Chuang Yao) capital holding
BIRERERAR BIBZMBAR) BREAAR A BREN 42% 42% HEER
Globe QOutlet Town (Jilin) Limited Limited liability company The PRC Registered 42% 42% Property
(Subsidiary of Chuang Yao) capital development
SRR R RLBTIRARAS BREZAS FE ERlieN 42% 42% WEHE
(BI¥EZ P2 B))
Cosmos View Holdings Limited Limited liability company BvVI Registered 50% 50% Investment
(“Cosmos View”) capital holding
BEERBRAT (ER) BREERA ) eed Rl 50% 50% RERR
Richly Field Nanchang Holdings Ltd. Limited liability company Hong Kong Registered 50% 50% Investment
(Subsidiary of Cosmos View) capital holding
HBHEBEEERERRAR BREERA BB BN 50% 50% REER
(RRZMBAR)
Jiangxi Globe Outlets City Co., Ltd. Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50% Property
(Subsidiary of Cosmos View) capital development
IRRBRG2ENNRERAR BREFRA HE SRR A 50% 50% ¥R

(FERZMEAR)
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BE_T-_-—F=-H=t+—HIFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 17. REE QB 2D @

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually BUAERBERAZEEER

material:

2021 2020
—E -5 ZETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Aggregate carrying amount of individually FEMBRRAENAEKREE
immaterial associates in the consolidated NEZIFEIREE
financial statements 9,404 18,414
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of ~AEERELZERE AT 2
those associates’ BErE%E
Loss from continuing operations REFERESES 218 - (4,390)
Other comprehensive expenses Hinemx = (4,547)

Total comprehensive expenses T HAZELE - (8,937)

Notes: Bd5E -

(@  Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no @ EURBEATTEAERRIF -RENRE
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, EE B o A AF %% DA ZE
these balances are considered as quasi-equity investments in the B RARBE A ZBURERE
associates.

() At 31 March 2021, the Group had an amount due from Chuang (o) R B —F=HA=+—H ' &~EEHF
Yao of HK$61,991,000 (2020: HK$69,781,000). At 31 March 2021, FEUR BB RRIE61,991,0008 T (CE-E
an aggregate impairment loss on investment in Globe Outlet of £F 1 69,781,00087T) cR T —F=
HK$8,927,000 (2020: HK$8,927,000) was recognised. No further B=+—8> Bl RERRKER
impairment loss (2020: Ni) was provided for the year ended 31 March 2 R ER184E%E 48,927,000 T (ZF
2021. ZZ 4 1 8,927,000/87T) c REEZE

—F=A=+— Eﬂ:ilﬁji#ﬁﬁ 7
BERERE CZIZE | o
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(o)  (continued)

Jiangxi Globe Outlets City Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Outlets”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Nanchang, Jiangxi
Province, the PRC (the “Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Project”). At
31 March 2021, the Group had an amount due from Jiangxi Outlets of
approximately HK$10,979,000 (2020: HK$11,780,000) and an aggregate
impairment loss on investment in Jiangxi Outlets of approximately
HK$5,949,000 (2020: HK$5,530,000) was recognised as at 31 March
2021.

Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited (“Huailai Dayi”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Huailai, Hebei Province, the
PRC (the “Huailai Dayi Project”). At 31 March 2021, the Group had an
amount due from Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$16,969,000 (2020:
HK$16,672,000) and an aggregate impairment loss on investment in
Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$16,969,000 (2020: HK$16,672,000)
was recognised as at 31 March 2021.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity
shares held by the Company.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses
of its associates and their subsidiaries, because the share of losses
of the associates exceeded the Group’s interest in the associates.
The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of these
associates for the current year and cumulatively were approximately
HK$22,000 (2020: HK$30,000) and HK$6,173,000 (2020:
HK$6,151,000), respectively.

17. REtE AR Z2H#ERm @

Mt ()
O @

STABRSHRTETINNERAR (DT
FRELAEIREN)) TERPEIIAE ™S
MREYELRERER (DIARISRE
LR NMIER)) -RZE - —F=H4
=+—HB> AEEBERYBCT AR RS
TIEZ10,979,0008 T (ZE T4 ©
11,780,000/ 7T) * MER B _—F=
B=1+— BB EN T ARSR
B RSB 4REE495,949,00058 T (2
T4 © 5,530,00057T) ©

BEX—HEBETERSRAR (MEHEA
—) EERPEA IR R B S
BIER (MERA—1BEH])) -R_T_—
FZA=+—8 ' K&EREFRIIERKX
—HRIB416,969,00058 7T (Z BB
16,672,000/ 7T) * WER B - —F=
B=+—HREDBEENERK—ZRE
B840 %E4916,969,0008 T (B
£F 1 16,672,000587T) °

AEERBERATDNZREHTHER
BIFAZRERMAEN-

AEBERLIEIEGHE LD
HfBABZEBE RAAEGZSE
MEANBZBREREBBAEBNZ
EHEND 2R - AFEERAED
AEIEHZEHE RN ZEER
R RED BB E22,0008 7T (ZF
— =4 30,0008 7T) K&6,173,000
BT (ZE_FF :6,151,000%
JT) °©
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18. FINANCIAL ASSET DESIGNATED AT FVTOCI

18.

BRERATEFARHMET
WmzEMEE

2021 2020

—ECZ—% BTERF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FHET

Unlisted equity investment JELEMRRERE 2,724 2,724

The above unlisted equity investment represents investment in
unlisted equity securities issued by a private entity incorporated
in Hong Kong which is engaged in operation of trampoline park
business in the PRC. At 31 March 2021, there was no open market
for such investment and the directors of the Company consider that
the marketability of the Group’s shareholdings in such investment is
low.

The investment is not held for trading. Instead, it is held for medium
to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company have elected to designate the investment in unlisted
equity investment as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in the investment’s fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding the
investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance
potential in the long run.

The fair value measurement of the investment is disclosed in note
38(e).
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BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

19. GOODWILL 19. HE
2021 2020
—E-—& C—TC-THE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFAET
Cost: BN

At beginning of the year REH 109,516 116,650
Exchange realignment b 2 S 8,876 (7,134)
At end of the year REXR 118,392 109,516

Accumulated impairment losses: RETRERIE -
At beginning of the year REH - S
Impairment loss BEETIE - S
At end of the year RER - _
Net carrying amount BREFE 118,392 109,516

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the cash-generating unit of Qinhuangdao Project for impairment

testing.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering project life of a five-
year period approved by board of directors at a pre-tax discount
rate of 10% (2020: 10%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3%. Based on
the impairment assessment made, no impairment on the goodwill
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 is considered necessary.

HEHBETZRERR
EREBAHBAZBHEENRE
REEHEECREEL B WEST
LB & o

REEEBMNZAKROEEDRE
ERRERERAAEZEREE
BE MREAEFATREBELES
EEMZEEFHRAIFHYBRE
REANREION (Z2 2 F .
10%) fFt -BHAFRZRERE
ER3%Z M IERRER - RIFMF
HZRESAGE R_2E_—FK_-ZF
TEFZA=+—H BAMFLHE
A ©
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

20.

178

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The following describes the key assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risk relating to the cash generating unit.

Budgeted selling price and construction costs — The basis used
to determine the budgeted selling prices and construction costs
is based on the latest market information and expected market
trends.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate and

budgeted gross margins are consistent with external information
sources.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

19. BZ& ®

HEHBETZRENR @
TXHAEEEBABEETHER
AMEHRSREBHMEENE
ZRR
TRFE-FRAZARERBRRA
TRBREELBUZARBTER
B o

HEEBEREZEX XA -—FBANEER
EEBREERAZEETURHN
THEENKBRHETEEERRE-

TRERBAEEMNXZEIERR
BERINERE R AR — 2 -

20. EEYE

2021 2020
—E-—f —E2TTF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Properties under development TiEYE 2,759,814 2,294,377
Properties under development expected EREMEERENERSE
to be completed within BEANSERL
normal operating cycle:
Within one year —&FRN 1,133,022 128,231
After one year —F% 1,626,792 2,166,146
2,759,814 2,294,377

At 31 March 2021, the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$384,683,000 (2020:
HK$293,136,000) were pledged to secure for certain bank and
other borrowings (note 29) and amounts due to related parties
(note 28) of the Group.
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21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES

21. FEHEZETIYE

2021 2020
—E-—& T oTE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET TFET
Completed properties held for sales FIEHEZERTYE 97,145 97,589
22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2021 2020
—B_—fF “BITfF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TAET TFHET
Finished goods — fashion wears BIpY oh — BRFEE K BC i
and accessories - -
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. FEUWERFR
2021 2020
B —F TECRE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Rental receivables FEW A& 3,709 4,509
Rental recognised using the straight-line FEREG LB S
method 4,353 4,480
Total 4Bst 8,062 8,989

The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade receivables.

FAEBTEMEBBERFTEEM

R e
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23.

180

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the rental receivables as at the end of the

23. FEURERFR (&

NEZERAELE BREASNEKS

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BARZERE2HAOT -
2021 2020
—E-—F T _SH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Within one year —FERN 3,709 4,509

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as
the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on a provision matrix grouped by the past due status of these
receivables. However, no loss allowance was made on these
receivables as the identified impairment loss is immaterial.
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BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. FARIE & RHEMEUW

RECEIVABLES I

2021 2020

—EZ—fF TETEE

Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000

F5E FHET AT

Other receivables HhpEsiia @) 18,199 22,618

Less: impairment of other receivables A EAEWERIE Z RE (4,561) (4,219)

13,638 18,399

Other prepayments Hihfa=Ia 70,101 10,356

Prepaid construction costs SEENFEE= TN (o) 165,699 145,662

Deposits BE 3,194 3,358

Amount due from a related party FEUR A 5 7RIB ©) 35,341 32,215

287,973 209,990
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24. BHRIE-HERHEHMER

RECEIVABLES (continued) TRIE ()

Notes: BdEE -

(@  The Group recognised ECL for other receivables based on individually @ AEERFERNEAEKTIEHER A
significant debtor or the ageing of balances collectively that are not TERZ ERERIRISHES 2 HAFEU
individually significant as follows: MIBZ EHEERBENT -

Average Gross

expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

TI97aHE
[k IRE4AE ESiEERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% & FET

For the year ended 31 March 2021: BE_E-_—#=H=+—H
IEFE

Other receivables — Performing HtEWIE— B4 * 13,638 -
Other receivables — Default HAnEWRIE— 2L 100 4,561 4,561
18,199 4,561

For the year ended 31 March 2020: HE_ZZF=-H=+—H

IEFE
Other receivables — Performing HAhEWEIE— B4 * 18,399 -
Other receivables — Default HhEUEIE— 84 100 4,219 4,219
22,618 4,219
* For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remaining balance * HEZ”—H=-HA=+—HL
of other receivables of approximately HK$13,638,000 (2020: F > 413,638,000 7T (—ZF
HK$18,399,000), it has low risk of default or there has not been Z T4 118,399,000 7T) BIEfh
significantly increase in credit risk since initial recognition and fEW R IEEREEM = HEBA R
therefore no impairment has been recognised. BIEFEE R B YRR LR
A R FEE G 0 > AL R FE SR B

e
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

@)

24, FEMNRE - REREMEK

RIE &)

Notes: (continued) MisE © (48)
(continued) @ @
The movement of impairment of other receivables is as follows: HMEWRRIE R EZEINT
12-month Lifetime ECL -
ECL  credit impaired Total
2 HATEHA
EEE1E
12{E B FaHA —B#4%
Z8E51E EERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TExT FET
At 1 April 2019 A-E—NEMBE—H - 4,494 4,494
Exchange realignment FE R - @75) ©@75)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RIZEZEF=A=1+—H&K
—E_ZHNMB—H - 4,219 4,219
Exchange realignment b 2 SR 2 - 342 342
At 31 March 2021 A ZE T —F=A=+—H - 4,561 4,561
At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the balance represented prepaid (b) A ST —FERCECEF-R=+—
construction costs to subcontractors for the development of property H #ArriEsiREPEYEBBEmMHE D
projects in the PRC. BETEN 2 BERAS
At 31 March 2021, included in prepaid construction costs are balances A _E_—F=-HBA=+—H> >HEN

due from related parties of approximately HK$27,699,000 (2020:
HK$26,568,000).

The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Mr.
Wang Hua (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial shareholder of the Group, is also
the controlling shareholder of the related party.

The directors of the Company consider that there is no significant
expected credit losses associated with the amount due from the
related party as there is no recent history of default or there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since intitial recognition and no
impairment loss has been recognised.

ZREENAFBERESBERZE
BR4927,699,0008 T (ZE2 22 F :
26,568,000/ 7T) ©

© HEAERER RERARERERER-
FEBZTEREEELE (E5kE)
TRz BB 2 PERGRR R

FRBEED D AT EENT
BEE AR B BERLURIL ERRE
170 > BAFEURRRIE T RURAERE 2 FARAE
BBERLRER @i S RES

Be

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE
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25.

26.

184

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. RERREEFER
The interest rates on the cash at bank ranged from 0.01% to BITRESZ2FMNENF0.01%E
0.385% (2020: 0.01% to 0.385%) per annum. 0.385% (ZE_ZFF :0.01%=E
0.385%) °
At 31 March 2021, the cash and bank balances of the N Z_E—F=ZB=+—H & &
Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately UARESEZIRE RIBITHER
RMB46,113,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$54,561,000 KA ANRMA46,113,00070 (BBE R
(2020: RMB23,808,000 (equivalent to approximately #454,561,000% ) (ZEZZ24F .
HK$26,058,000)). The RMB is not freely convertible into other AR #23,808,0007c (HHE R
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange 26,058,000 7)) - ARKTRIER
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and HRHAHEMER  BR%PE A
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted ZONEEIRIR G R A B~ BB R TR
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to EERE AEEREZFERERLSS
conduct foreign exchange business. HNEXEBZRTHEARBERBRAH
HE-
TRADE PAYABLES 26. FE{TERTR
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the MBEZEHHAREE BNERIANRS
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BARZEREDHAOT :
2021 2020
—E--—& CToTE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Within one year —FRN 106,781 935,264
Over one year B—F 1,064,654 129,390
1,171,435 1,064,654

The Group has financial risk management policies to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/

27. Hitt Bt RIEREStER,

CONTRACT LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INCOME SH8EIREWRA
2021 2020
—E-—&F —ECEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
FifaE FHT THT
Other deposits received Hitg Wiz 62,989 66,014
Other payables HhpE=Ia 141,561 127,671
Interest payables FESFIE 327,406 109,266
Deferred income EIEUWTA (b) 440,976 407,917
Accruals FEstER 25,534 11,702
998,466 722,570
2021 2020
—E-—£ CECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT THB
Analysed for reporting purpose: MEHRENDIRS :
Current portion BRHAER 7 932,491 661,541
Non-current portion JEBNEREL
Deferred income EIEWTA (b) 65,975 61,029
998,466 722,570
2021 2020
B “BITfF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Contract liabilities aHEE @) 922,882 401,145
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/
CONTRACT LIABILITIES/DEFERRED INCOME

(continued)

186

Notes:

@

Contract liabilities include advanced receipts and deposits received from
customers to transfer completed properties to them.

At 1 April 2019, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$176,019,000. Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2021 that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April 2020
amounted to approximately HK$10,388,000 (2020: HK$99,272,000).
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year.

Balance represented government subsidies of approximately
HK$440,976,000 (2020: HK$407,917,000) received from the Finance
Bureau of Changli County, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province to support the
development of the Qinhuangdao Project.

Pursuant to a business plan approved by management during the
year ended 31 March 2021, the Qinhuangdao Project commenced
pre-construction work and approximately HK$65,975,000 (2020:
HK$61,029,000) of the deferred income is expected to offset future
construction costs of investment properties and is therefore classified as a
non-current liability.
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

28. FE(IRAE S RIE

2021 2020
—E-—& 2 CECEE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M EE FHET TFAET
JeShing Real Estate Group Company TREXREEEBRAT
Limited (“JeShing”) U225 =F) @), (o), (©) 239,565 262,015
JIEREE R B R AT (VIEREEET) BRI B R AT
(BIEREEER]) (b) 25,058 22,360
BRE—RBEIREERFRAT BRE—REIEER
(ERE) BRARE (MERE— (0) 282,194 249,186
MEREEESH (L8 BRAR HMEREEEEHA (8)
(“E[E]") BRAE (M4[E)) () 1,864 1,724
ERERERREMBEEEE ERERERRETIS
BRAR (MREREERE REEERRAE]
(MR REBREEREL) G) 354,563 303,882
Total wast 903,244 839,167
Current portion BRERER > (467,048) (413,968)
Non-current portion JERNERER 436,196 425,199
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —EIERF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Carrying amount repayable (based on BEFEENREE REBEERHE
scheduled repayment dates set out FREz FAEER HEAME) -
in the loan agreements):
Within one year —FRN 467,048 413,968
In the second year B & 436,196 425,199
903,244 839,167
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

(continued)

188

Notes:

@

On 1 September 2017, JeShing entered into a loan agreement
with the Group, pursuant to which JeShing granted a loan facility of
RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$354,960,000) for a
term of 2 years. On 28 June 2019, JeShing entered into a supplementary
agreement with the Group and had granted additional loan facility of
RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$828,240,000). The
balance is unsecured and interest bearing at 5% per annum.

During the year ended the 31 March 2020, the Group had signed an
extension agreement with JeShing to extend the repayment date to
beyond 31 March 2021.

During the year ended the 31 March 2021, the Group had signed an
extension agreement with JeShing to extend the repayment date to
beyond 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2021, principal amount of approximately
RMB59,652,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$70,580,000)
(2020: approximately RMB103,150,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$112,898,000)) was utilised by the Group.

In March 2019, an entrusted loan agreement was entered into among
SLEREEER (as the entrusting party), JeShing (as the entrusting party), &
R E— (as the entrusting party), a lending bank (as the lender) and the
Group (as the borrower). Pursuant to the entrusted loan agreement, a
loan of principal amount of RMB301,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$357,090,000) was provided to the Group with maturity date on 31
December 2020. Mr. Wang is also the controlling shareholder of T &R
&, JeShing and F§ R 55 —. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group had signed an extension agreement with ;T &2 &f, JeShing and
FAI R 5 — to extend the repayment date to March 2022.
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BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(o) (continued)

The balance is secured by the Group’s right-of-use assets and
investment properties in Qinhuangdao with a carrying amount
of HK$513,981,000 and HK$324,942,000 respectively (2020:
HK$488,471,000 and HK$265,549,000 as at 31 March 2021, carrying
interest ranging from 5.7% to 6.19% (2020: 5.7% to 6.19%) per annum.

The carrying amount of the properties under development that
are erected on the right-of-use assets amounted to approximately
HK$566,193,000 (2020: HK$512,869,000) as at 31 March 2021.

© Included an amount due to JeShing of HK$1,320,000 which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand as at 31 March 2021

and 2020.

(@] Amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand as at
31 March 2021 and 2020. Mr. Wang is a controlling shareholder of this

related company.

€  On 2 December 2016, FAREHREMEKE entered into a loan
agreement with the Group, pursuant to which EREREEKE
granted a loan facility of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$354,960,000) for a term of 3 years. The balance is secured by
certain of the Group’s investment properties with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$434,758,000 (2020: HK$522,452,000) and interest
bearing ranging from 8.5% to 9.5% per annum. Mr. Wang is also the
controling shareholder of B REBERBIMEZKE. During the year ended
31 March 2020, the Group had signed an extension agreement with £
REBREMEE to extend the repayment date to beyond 31 March
2021. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had signed an
extension agreement with Fa R &R EIFE S E to extend the repayment

date to beyond 31 March 2022.

28. FETRIE FFIE @

(@

(€]

A _E_—F=B=+—H> &%
HAEBE2EFRAEREERNRETE
EEREWERE REESHA
513,981,000 7T 324,942,000 7T
(ZZE-Z & :488,471,0008 T K
265,549,000 7T) * BN FL7TRE
6.19% (CE-TF 1 5.7%FE6.19%) Z
FEREE

A B —F=RB=+—B FRA%E
EEHIEENEEYEZREBE
#%566,193,0008 75 (ZZT - F :
512,869,000 7T) ©

BER_E_—FR_E_FF=
B=Z+—HENEREBEXNE
1,320,000/ 7T BRARIBEAEIKE ¢
BERIEERER

N_E TR _EEF=/=+—
H JEAERF REREERE
Bo T REAUMEAT ZITERIRER

ATE—-RNE+_B_H HRER
BERREEANEBMITLERGZE
B ERsREBRRERBARE
300,000,0007T (18 & 1 £9354,960,000
BT 2ERRE A= FH5RIU
AEBIREEL £434,758,00058 7T (Z
T 522,452,000/ 7T) 2 & FE
BRI RIEN F8.5%E.5% 2
FEREF B THET AR RS RERE
RENZERKRE -B#E T _ZF=H
=t+—HIEFEE AEERARRERE
BRRESEBLESRR BENHPIEE
EIB—HF-HA=+—HZB-HE
B —H=ZHA=+—HLEEE K
EREERSBRERREEE LR
HORERAPIEREE_T - _F=1
=t+—HZ#%-
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BHEZZS - F=—B=1+—HIHFE

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

29. st BIRITRHEMMER

2021 2020
k- -3 2R
Contractual Contractual
interest HK$'000 interest HK$'000
L LIES FTERT ELLIES TERT
Current )
Bank loans - secured RTER-FHEE (note ¢) 8%-10% 1,113,036 8%-10% 272,257
(fEc)
Bank loans - unsecured RITET—EBIKE 6.53% 11,827 6.53% 10,945
Other loans - secured HthEx—-BE#E (note d) 11%-11.5% 319,464 = =
(Fi3Ed)
Other loans - unsecured HEmH—HEigm 6.4%-36% 42,141 6.4%-36% 41,729
1,486,468 324,931
Non-current JEBNER
Bank loans - secured RTER-BHER (note ¢) - 8%-10% 757,339
(FizEc)
Other loans - secured HthEx B E#E (note d) - 11%-11.5% 295,515
(FizEd)
- 1,052,854
Analysed into: E?l,('F;éE/"J'J Paxii
Bank loans repayable based on B ERIBZEZBEER
scheduled repayment dates in HIAERZRTER
loan agreements:
Within one year —ER 1,124,863 283,202
In the second year FTF - 532,782
In the third to fifth years FEFRE - 224,557
1,124,863 1,040,541
Other loans repayable based on ~ BREZRE 2 BTER
scheduled repayment dates in HIAERZHMER
loan agreements:
Within one year —FR 361,605 41,729
In the second year T - -
In the third to fifth years E-RERAE - 295,515
361,605 337,244
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain bank and other borrowings of the Group are secured by

29. st ESRITREMER @

AEBETRTARAMEMBEE

assets of the Group with net carrying amounts as listed below: BEEEmFEUTZ2EERR
2021 2020
—EZ—%F —EIEHF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET AT
Investment properties KEYE 464,900 429,555
Right-of-use assets FREEE 156,636 148,618
Properties under development ERYE 291,190 206,596
912,726 784,769

Notes: Mk -

@  The Group’s banking facilites amounting to HK$1,124,863,000 (@) AEMIRTRERT,124,863,000%

(2020: HK$1,040,541,000), of which HK$1,124,863,000 (2020:
HK$1,040,541,000) had been utilised as at 31 March 2021.

(o)  As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s bank facilities were further

secured by:
o a corporate guarantee executed by JeShing;
. a personal guarantee executed by Mr. Wang; and

. a corporate guarantee executed by EREERBEEKE, a
company which Mr. Wang is a controlling shareholder.

T (ZEZZ 4 :1,040,541,000%
T ORIE_—F=RA=+—HEH
FE1,124,863,000 7T (BB :
1,040,541,0003% 7T) ©

R —&FER_ZBE_ZEF=F1
—t+—H> RERZRTHREBUT
KIEE— SR

. SREBEETNATIER

. FHRESINEAER, &

. ARERERRE (EEERE
ZERRR) BIUBREER-
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

192

©

During the year ended 31 March 2020, in respect of bank borrowings
with a principal amount of RMB940,700,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,029,596,000) as at 31 March 2020, the Group entered into an
extension agreement in October 2019, in which the due dates thereof
have been extended to 30 June 2020, 30 June 2021 and 30 June
2022 for repayment of RMB263,426,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$283,320,000), RMB486,781,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$532,782,000) and RMB205,169,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$224,557,000) together with all accrued interest respectively. The
Group failed to repay approximately RMB263,426,000 in June 2020
and breached the repayment terms, and pursuant to the terms of
the loan agreement, the bank has a discretionary right to demand
immediate full repayment of the outstanding principal together with the
estimated unpaid interest. As at 31 March 2021, the defaulted loan
principal amounted to RMB940,700,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,113,036,000) remained unsettled and the unpaid interest
amounted to RMB223,269,000 (equivalent to HK$264,172,000).

The other loan represented defaulted loan with a principal amount of
RMB270,000,000 of which the Group breached the repayment terms
and the terms of the supplementary agreements as the Group failed
to place the required pledged deposit of RMB123,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$134,624,000) on or before 30 June 2020,
therefore, the lender had a discretionary right to demand immediate full
repayment of the outstanding principal of RMB270,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$319,464,000) together with the unpaid interest of approximately
RMB44,983,000 (equivalent to HK$53,224,000).
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29.

stRIRITREMMER @

Mz (&)

()

BE_EZ_THF=-HA=+—A1LH®
E R _EF=A=+—H=%
S %EA ARB940,700,0007t (B E
12491,029,596,000# 75) Z IRITIE
M XEEBR _T—hE+AIIL
R Eh R BHEFEREC
EEFANAZTH 2T —FN
B=+HRERZZBE-__%,A=+8"
Loy BIEE A R #6263,426,0007T (18
B 49283,320,000 ) « AR &
486,781,0007t (18 &1 49532,782,000
B7T) R AR205,169,0007T (HHE
R 49224,557,000/8 70) #ERIFTH Est
ME-KREBRENR_S_ZTE,<H
BB AR K263,426,0007T 1 1 &
BRER MIREERBE 2GR
ERARTENBEEKRNEEEMR
BREBASERMGSRGME R
—E_—HF=ZB=+—H #XEX
=& AR #940,700,0007c FBERH
1,113,036,0007 7T) A EE > AT
MBS ARE223,269,0007T (HHE R
264,172,000 7T) ©

HthERELASEAL AR
270,000,000tz R ER > HF A
EEERBRBE ZERER KRG
FOTTHRAEBRBRERZIZEZIE
EXNBZ+BR A FEARELR
FZH AR 123,000,000t (HEE R
#7134,624,0007870) AL BEFRA
BRNEHERNEEEMERER
A& AR M270,000,0007c (FBE R
319,464,000787T) ERRTFIELA
R 1544,983,00075 (1HE 253,224,000
BT °
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30. PROVISIONS

30. &5

2021 2020

—E—F —ETFg

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FET FExT

At 1 April REE—H 6,332 6,745

Exchange realignment PE oA EE 514 (413)

At 31 March BR=A=+—H 6,846 6,332
Notes: MIsE -

(@  From 2011 and 2012, the Group entered into a number of lease @ HBIZE——FEKRZEFE—_FE K&E

agreements (the “Tenancy Agreements”) with its tenants in relation to the
lease of certain shop premises developed under the Changsha Project.
Pursuant to certain Tenancy Agreements, the shop premises shall be
ready for lease during the period from August 2011 to May 2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the PRC government launched
a series of adjustment measures and policies to control the property
market. These regulatory control measures and policies caused the
slowdown in the presale of the properties under development of the
Changsha Project, which in turn added pressure on the Group’s capital
requirement and further resulted in the slowdown in the construction
progress of the Changsha Project. As the results of the pre-sale of the
properties under development of the Changsha Project were below the
expectation of the Group, during the year ended 31 March 2012, the
Group made certain adjustments to the original design of the Changsha
Project, which included among others, adjustments to the floor design
of a certain residential portion, and the allocation of the floor area among
the residential portion, the commercial portion and the facilities, to meet
the local demand. These adjustments, which required the approval from
the relevant local government authorities, also affected the construction
progress of the Changsha Project. As the construction of the Changsha
Project was behind the original schedule, during the year ended 31
March 2012, the Group was not able to deliver the shop premises to
a number of tenants according to the agreed timetable set out in the
Tenancy Agreements. Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreements, the tenants
could terminate the agreements and/or claim against the Group for the
delay in the delivery of the shop premises on the basis of loss incurred or
the number of days delayed.

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE

EREEAFREVEEETEERE
ZETHMUZEEITUZREE RS
(MEEWwZ) - BRESTHERZE
ARSUAR _E——FEN\AEZE
——FhAEIHES-

RB&E—_ZT-—_—F=ZA=+—HLF
B EBA#ER T —RIMNBEE
i e B SR LA ) B3 3t 2 T 45 © b 5 AR
EREABREARDEEERY
EZHEERE RTEERESHRE
ANENLE-FERRDIBEBMNTIE
EERE BAREVEEERYEZ
RERGONAEEER RBE"
T-—_FZR=+-HLEE &&
EHHRDIERBZRARELET
HE HOOEREETEERN DN
FPRRSUKRETED BEBLIK
Rtz EEEEENEE LULEE
TR - ARIEERE B MR BT
WRIHE R EIRDIEANIEE
E-BARENVEEIRERINIRIE
B&R RBE_E-——_F=B=+—
HIEFE  AEBEERBERER
HeEMERBRASLBRRZIEH
fi-RBEEWE BRI REHRY
WOUMALLHER REREEZR
KYEHZ A-MAERELER
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30. PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(@) (continued)

The Group has been in discussions with the tenants regarding the delay
in the delivery of the shop premises. Some of the tenants have terminated
the Tenancy Agreements with the Group with the initial deposits being
refunded by the Group. For those tenants who are wiling to continue
their leases, the Group has been in discussions with them regarding
the revised terms of agreements by offering them certain discounts on
the leasing fees or a rent-free period as compensation for the delay. As
at the date of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has
not received any claims for compensation from its tenants against the
Group, and no estimation can be made on the amount of this potential
compensation. With respect to the terms of the Tenancy Agreements, no
reversal of provision for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 was
made due to certain tenants forfeited their claims.

(b) During 2013 and 2014, the Group has signed pre-sale agreements
regarding the sale of residential properties with buyers. However, the
Group failed to deliver the residential properties according to the pre-sale
agreements. As at the date of these financial statements, the Group has
not received any claims for compensation for the delay. With respect of
the terms of the pre-sales agreement, no provision was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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BHEZZE - F=-—RB=1+—HLHFE

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. IEEFRIA
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the year are TR RIERIE (BE) BBEZ2EEHUW
as follows: B
Deferred tax (assets) liabilities RERE (BE) &R
Fair value
adjustment Accelerated
arising on tax Revaluation
acquisition ~ depreciation  of properties Total
KEEEZ
ATERE  MERBERE MEER st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
g3 AT TAT TET TAT
At 1 April 2019 RIZ—AFEHWEE—H 55,862 74,801 (30,606) 100,057
Charged (credited) to i Frnaakinlo
profit or loss (Ft A 11 - 5,269 (35,138) (29,869)
Exchange realignment BRI (3,417) 4,741 2,981 (5,177)
At 31 March 2020 and RZZZZ2F=A=+—H
1 April 2020 RZZZEFNAE—H 52,445 75,329 (62,763) 65,011
Charged (credited) to RiEmPiks GtABmR)
profit or loss 11 - 5,309 (22,370) (17,061)
Exchange realignment FER T 4,250 6,313 (5,958) 4,605
At 31 March 2021 A B —F=B=+—H 56,695 86,951 (91,091) 52,555
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. ig&
2021 2020
—EC-F “ZTZE
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
K& E it ] R #E T8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Authorised: AE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &R EE0.058 T2
BER
At 1 April and 31 March ROE—B&
=B=1+—H 40,000,000,000 2,000,000 40,000,000,000 2,000,000
2021 2020
—EC-F 3
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
RHEE &8 R EE T8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTAT
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each & EE0.05 T2
BER
At 1 April and 31 March ROE—B&
=B=1+—H 23,336,687,255 1,166,834 23,336,687,255 1,166,834
33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 33. EXEIHE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged

from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to related parties and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share

capital, reserves and accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE_ T _—F=A=+—HIEE

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from six
months to twenty years (2020: six months to twenty years). These
properties are expected to generate rental yields of 2.55% (2020:

2.55%) on an ongoing basis.

Certain of the Group’s existing operating lease arrangements are
with terms of contingent lease payments and are calculated based
on a percentage of relevant performance of the tenants, ranging
from 5% to 10%, pursuant to the rental agreements. Contingent
rents recognised as income for the current year amounted to

approximately HK$9,427,000 (2020: HK$11,981,000).

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group

in future periods as follows:

34.

REHE T HF
fER LA

AEBREBELEHEZHEHBER
EYE HELEmEER BN T
NEBEZAFE(ZEZEEF I K@
BEZA+HF) - ZEVEBRPFEE
H255% (ZE_FF:2.55%) 2
W o

AEBETHEAKEHEZHERNRE
AYARERE LIREAE R SR
FHEZHEBESZEESLE (NF5%E
10%) stE - N AFERIDA WA
WAL A A9,427,0008 5 (Z =
ZEHE 11,981,000 7T) ©

RESAPEFEERBERERR
RKRHABERN AT HFELERE
BEFZARMBBFEAERENT !

2021 2020

B —F —EIERF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TFET

Within one year —&FRN 20,678 22,632
After one year but within two years —FBEMFR 16,322 17,864
After two year but within three years MEBREB=ZFEN 10,837 11,861
After three year but within four years —FRENERN 9,083 9,941
After four year but within five years NEBERER 4,682 5,123
After five years hF% 19,860 21,736
81,462 89,157
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35.

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

B KIE
RBEMA AEEEARENT

2021 2020
—E-— ZEIEHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Construction of properties included EEEYIE B MR EE A2
under property, plant and equipment MERLEE
and investment properties 511,005 472,697
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. ERFRXS

(@) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the

(

RV BRREMEORE
ZRZIN - REBRERE N

TEXBEIRS -

years.
2021 2020
—E_—5F %
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET
Interest expenses FIEEX 51,332 51,374
Rental income from kERVBEBEXEES
EVBRECEEEEARAT BERERBRAE
(BIBEE" (MR RE)) 2
GEEA L ON 2,073 1,992
Management fee income from KERWVEEZ
RIRE BEHIA 281 283

These transactions were conducted on terms and conditions
mutually agreed between the parties.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(@) (continued)

Notes:

0) Being interest expense to JeShing, T EREERT, BIREE— and &
REREEZEKE and included imputed interest of approximately
HK$910,000 (2020: HK$2,860,000) where Mr. Wang has control
over these entities.

(ii) JeShing has provided certain undertaking to the Group in respect
of the recoverability of the Group’s total interests in associates of
approximately HK$9,404,000 (2020: HK$18,414,000) as at 31
March 2021.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

(i)

AmeREBEE IHENM -F
RE-—MRERSERERREE
HHNFHERS 8EHEEANER
#9910,0008 7T (ZE T4 :
2,860,000 7t) * EEAEHZSE
BRERASEHIRE-

N B —F=ZHA=1t—H'%
BREXERAEERBEQLDTZ
4B RE £ 499,404,000 T (B
T4 118,414,000 7T) Z AI K
El A A EBEEHE T RS-

b) =EEFEEBEASZME

2021 2020

B —E2IEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FET

Short term employee benefits WRHEEET 2,364 2,367
Post employment benefits BB EN 18 17
2,382 2,384

(c) The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by the Group with reference to the performance
of individual and market trends.

C) *EBEBRABZMS NEAE
BE2EEARERTSEY
mEE -
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37.

38.

200

—F=RB=1+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. wENE D ZzERIT R
Categories of financial instruments Er T AR
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —2==F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FHET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised costs BRIER AT 22 SRE E 117,537 90,068
Financial asset at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMEEWRZ
TREE 2,724 2,724
Financial liabilities ERaE
Amortised costs HIEA AR 4,118,637 3,596,259

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to related
parties, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (note 29) and
amounts due to related parties (note 28). The Group aims
at keeping borrowings at fixed rates in order to reduce cash
flow risk. The Group’s exposure to changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s amounts due to related
parties with floating interest rates. The Group does not have
any interest rate hedging policy, and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings). The analysis
is prepared assuming the variable-rate financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year.

38. Rl AMGEIERSHTAY
AEE @

(a)

FIRERR @

BRES R
TRETHNEXSEREES (Fr
EHMEHERTE) HAEE
GRABEZBRE (BEF
BHEERZEE) - DW R
RRBERRERTEZF
MEXEMIAREFHHE KT
£ o

Increase (decrease)
in loss before tax

PRI ATESHE
sEhn Gksl)
HK$’000
FET
2021 T —F
Increase of 100 basis points 1 H01001E E 25 1,323
Decrease of 100 basis points B 1001E & 2h (1,323)
2020 =k S
Increase of 100 basis points AN1001E H 25 1,224
Decrease of 100 basis points B 1001E E 2h (1,224)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses mainly are carried out in the
Mainland China, all transactions including major revenue and
cost items are denominated in RMB and the Group has no
material transactional currency exposure. The RMB is not a
freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies
and in certain cases the remittance of currency out of
Mainland China.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

202

(©

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial position and condition are performed on each and
every major debtor periodically. These evaluations focus on
the debtor’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the debtor as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. No credit
terms are granted to the debtors of the Group’s property
development and investment business. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from its debtors.

For trade receivable, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(©

Credit risk (continued)

For other non-traded related receivables, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its
management to develop and maintain the Group’s credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their
degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by the management which uses the Group's
own days past due to rate its major customers and other
debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.
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38.

204

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued) (c)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

EERE @)

38. eRHEAMEERSMTAZ
AEE @

FrEREEZEERR (@
FEBER 258 ERKRTRE
REEFEUTEE:

Basis for recognising ECL

REREERRZEE

Other
Trade financial
Category Description receivables assets
£5) GE: FEUBR R HitemEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
or has not been a significant increase in credit (simplified
risk since initial recognition and that are not credit  approach)
impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
B4 TREEZENRRRENEEREBVGEDL 2HERESESE 12B87EHE
RImARGMETERLIREEHE BAE M 8B @D =%
29)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that  not credit not credit
are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired impaired
1F5E TREEEERRBGEBURANEBIEMERLE 2HEREES 2HEHAGE
REERE BREZMER) B-RELERE BE-REL
BRE BEERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
one or more events that have a detrimental impact  credit impaired credit impaired
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have
occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
24 E-EyTEHZEEZGREKREREELE 2HEREEE 2HBHES
TEZEARLER TRHEERTGALRESE B-BELE BE-BE4L
BE (FBRE =R §iREE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is Amount is
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic  written off written off
prospect of recovery
g EREBRTEBABAREVBRBEEAEER S WMHEHAESE MBEEHEE
R BEUR Bl A RARRIE
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(©

Credit risk (continued)

The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s
financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to

38.

THEMREEREMTIAZ
AEE @

) EE

JELBzR ()

TERHERAEBRETREEZ(E
BEERAEREHZESE

credit risk. &R ko
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
—E_—-f=HB=+-H “2°ZF=A=+-H
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
AEER 12f8R
4% SHBERERSE REAE BEEE  RERE  RERE  BEEE REPEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTHET THET THET FHET FTET FTERT
Trade receivables N/A Lifetime ECL 8,062 - 8,062 8,989 = 8,989
(simplified approach)
FEUERTR AER 2EMREERSE
(#1538
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECL 52,173 - 52,173 53,972 - 53,972
receivables
REREHM B4 12 BHREERE
WA
Deposits and other Default Lifetime ECL - 4,561 (4,561) - 4,219 (4,219) -
receivables credit impaired
REREHM BN SHEREERE-
PRI BELEEAE
Note: P 5T

i. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due status. The
identified impairment loss is not significant.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

206

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group reported
net loss of approximately HK$415,682,000. As at 31 March
2021, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,905,441,000 and total borrowings, including interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and amounts due to
related parties are approximately HK$1,953,516,000 which
will be due in the coming twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. As at the same date, the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$57,302,000. In order to improve the Group’s liquidity
position, the directors of the Company have been
implementing various operating and financing measures,
details of which are set out in note 2.1. Based on those
measures, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Company and the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as when they fall
due in the coming twelve months from 31 March 2021 and
it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions and related
parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and bank balances and available funding through (i)
refinancing of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
when they fall due; and (i) obtaining new financing to
strengthen the liquidity position of the Group and to meet the
Group’s commitments for properties development projects
and other business operations.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

38. Rl AMGEIERSHTAY
AEE @

(d)

B @J =1 £ &l |3M (#&)

TRINGAEBZESRMEBER
REBHRZBR TENHRE &
E% EHFXRWERBERE (B
BREnF R mE s s BliZ
REMRERFNXAEZANE
IR RAEBATINZRR
HEHR

Total
On demand or undiscounted Carrying
less than 1 year 1to 2 years 2to 5 years cash flows amount
BRERY KAERRE
—E7ZR —-ERE MERE WEAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TR TR FAT
2021 3%
Trade payables EHER 1,171,435 - - 1,171,435 1,171,435
Other payables and accruals HEftEARIERESER 557,490 - - 557,490 557,490
Amounts due to related parties [EfIRERFE 517,782 436,196 - 953,978 903,244
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B3R17 R EL /SR 1,496,000 - - 1,496,000 1,486,468
3,742,707 436,196 - 4,178,903 4,118,637
Lease liabilities fEaR 1,338 - - 1,338 1,338
2020 “ET%E
Trade payables FEfTHRRR 1,064,654 = = 1,064,654 1,064,654
Other payables and accruals HtEMTERETER 314,653 - - 314,653 314,653
Amounts due to related parties e EEATE 428,676 477,254 - 905,930 839,167
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5f 83817 R E £ 348,070 532,782 720,448 1,601,300 1,377,785
2,166,053 1,010,036 720,448 3,886,537 3,596,259
Lease liabilities HEER 2,361 1,378 - 3,739 3,478
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 38. cHEAMEEREMITAZ
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @
Fair value e ATE
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREENREREHARERAT
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each BEstE2EzEMI BN UM E
reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped into TREMSHE HEQATFER
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is TEREEREBEAEB S
observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy. HARERSABE—EE =M
31 March 2021
“E_—-f=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— E 4R B st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET FET
Financial asset at FVTOCI  #AFEEE A
HhzmlEz
EREE
Unlisted equity investment  3E i IRIEHRE = = 2,724 2,724
31 March 2020
“ZTZE=/A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—k E Bk 1Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FAERT FAERT
Financial asset at FVTOCI BRFEFA
Hthz2mWme
SREE
Unlisted equity investment JE_E IR IERE - - 2,724 2,724

208

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 38. TRMEMREEREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AFE @
(e) Fair value (continued) e 2FE®
Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair BEEMEEUATEHNEZ
value on a recurring basis ETMEEZATE
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value TRFIIULBEUHEETES
measurements of each financial instrument on a recurring BEMIBZAFEMERZ
basis are set out below: fH1E 5 & R A B
Relationship of
key inputs
and significant
Valuation Significant unobservable
Fair value Fair values as at technique and unobservable inputs to
Financial instruments hierarchy 31 March key inputs inputs fair value
TEBAHER
EXFIHR
BABESA
EERER EXRTIHR ATEZEH
EWMIA NFERR R=ZB=+—BZA¥E FERARE WAYE Witk
2021 2020
—E--F TETEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET
Financial asset at FVTOCI
- Unlisted equity investment Level 3 2,724 2,724 Market approach Marketability The higher the
- by reference Discount marketability
to pricing discount, the
multiples of lower the fair
similar business value
enterprises
Minority Discount The higher
the minority
discount, the
lower the fair
value
BRATEFARMZEKEZ
EREE
—JFLmREEE B=M miEE-BB2  mHEASNNE TERBNE
ZENEBE s ATE
ENEBREH HIE
DR ETE DR ETE
e ATE
HAE
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

210

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

©)

Fair value (continued)

Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair

value on a recurring basis (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial

assets on recurring basis are as follows:

38. eRHEAMEERSMTAZ
AEE @

AFE@®
BREHEENATEHEZ
ERMEEZATE @
WEHEREERE=R/ATE
SEZEMEEZHRUOT

Unlisted
equity
investment
JEET
RiERE
HK$’000
TFHET
As 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, AZE-NFMHA—B-
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 _ECEF=H=+—H-
“EIZFHA—HK
2 —%F%=-A=+—H 2,724

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost approximate to their fair values.
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39. ZRFMBIR R R EEEED
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE &=
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the KRNBIRNBREPRZHBERRAKRE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: Bl
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —EIEHF
HK$’000 HK$\'OOO
FAET FHET
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment MEE - B Rk B 8 34
Right-of-use asset FREEE 1,237 3,356
Interests in subsidiaries RIB ARz #m 23,318 179,289
Interests in associates N =YNCIPA s - -
Financial assets designated at FVTOCI IEERATEFAEMEE
Witz TRE E 2,724 2,724
27,287 185,403
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TERIE & M E R RIE
receivables 3,152 3,130
Cash and cash equivalents BRERIBEEEER 2,205 501
5,357 3,631
Current liabilities mREEIRE \
Other payables and accruals HihEI B EE R 5,677 13,389
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NI RS 109,936 107,474
Amount due to a related party FE(TREE S A 1,320 1,320
Lease liabilities HEAR 1,338 2,140
118,271 124,323
Net current liabilities BB ERE (112,914) (120,692)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERTHERE (85,627) 64,711
Non-current liability JERBEE
Lease liabilities GEN =N - 1,338
Net (liabilities) assets (BfR) EESEHE (85,627) 63,373
Equity gy
Issued capital BEITRA 1,166,834 1,166,834
Accumulated losses REtE1E (1,252,461) (1,103,461)
(Deficiency in equity) Total equity (REZRES4L) REZR4R%R (85,627) 63,373
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

39.

KRB BFR AR G EES
r® @

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRB)EBEZHREUWT ©
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Reorganisation Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
A EME BARE BrBEHE B Hithbits RitEE @5t
(note)
()
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET FET FET FiET FiET FiET
At 1 April 2019 RIZ-nEmA—-H 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6856  (2,036,991) (823,084)
Loss and total comprehensive loss  AEEBER2EGEEE
for the year - - - - - (280,377 (280,377)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZE_ZFE£=A=+—Hk
ZEZTEMA-A 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6856 (2317368  (1,103.461)
Loss and total comprehensive loss  AFEBER 2 ERHREE
for the year - - - - - (149,000) (149,000)
At 31 March 2021 R-B--#=B=+-H 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6856 (2466368  (1,252,461)
Note: MIsE -
Reorganisation reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of BHEBRBRENEREARFETROZEE
the shares issued and the net asset value of the subsidiaries of the Company HBANTMNBARZEEFEB 2 EZ -
upoN a group reorganisation.
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 40. BERG st
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) KpBlB—EBERESE (T&ZEt
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible ) EEOEAEERLERINES

participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any
directors, including independent non-executive directors, and other
employees of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity
which the Group holds any equity interest. The Scheme became
effective on 2 November 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
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40. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

Share options granted to a director or chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general mesting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 20
business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a vesting period of one to three years and ends
on a date which is not later than the expiry date of the Scheme.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (jii) the nominal value of a share. Share options
do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
BHE_ T _—F=B=+—HIEFE

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

41.

MEEDEEZEEHER

TERHITEBERMEIHELEZE
B2 BRERENFRTEH -
EREEZERNEHEERE

HARKRRERERNEGS

RERE

RPN EARETHRENEZE

activities. & o
Financing Finance
1 April cash costs Exchange 31 March
2020 flows incurred Accruals  realignment 2021
- Mg EEZ —EZ-F
mA—H ReRE MEER FEst &R ERAE =BA=+—-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TET TER TERT TERT
Interest-bearing bank and ERITREMER
other borrowings 1,377,785 (8,618) 208,441 (202,681) 111,541 1,486,468
Interest payables (included other FEAIF| S (5 A E A FE (S
payables and accruals HIEREER
(note 27)) (Kz£27)) 100,266 - - 202,681 15,459 327,406
Amounts due to related parties  [E{TRIE A 7IE 839,167 (48,162) 51,332 - 60,907 903,244
Lease liabilties HEaE 3,478 (2,362) 229 - - 1,338
2,329,696 (59,142) 259,995 - 187,907 2,718,456
Financing Finance
1 April cash costs Exchange 31 March
2019 flows incurred Accruals  realignment 2020
—E-NE mE EfZ - ol 44
mE—A RERE MEER FEst &R ER#EE =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TET TER TERT TERT
Interest-bearing bank and other &t B$R1T R EMER
borrowings 1,472,611 (104,797) 133,374 (33,493) (89,910) 1,377,785
Interest payables (included in ~ FEIFIS (Gt A EAtE(
other payables and accruals TENEFER
(note 27) (Hf5£27)) 80,918 - - 33,493 (5,145) 109,266
Notes payable EREE 93,471 (107,339) 13,868 = = =
Amounts due to related parties  EfIBIE A I8 782,014 56,943 51,374 - (51,164) 839,167
Lease liabilities AEafR 5,478 (2,362 362 - - 3,478
2,434,492 (157,555) 198,978 - (146,219) 2,329,696
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE_ZE_—F=—B=+—HIEE

42. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 June 2021, Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd* (MHEZ=R JER) IREBRBARAE) and Globe Outlets
City Limited, direct wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company,
entered into a memorandum of understanding ("MOU”) with Lewoju
Holding Group Company Limited, an independent third party, to
dispose the entire equity interests in Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real
Estate Limited* (Him M HARFRFBEAFRAF), Changsha
Yutian Outlets Business Administration Co. Limited* (£ /0 # FHEL S
RETEEIEARAT) and Changsha Yutian Outlets Properties
Management Company Limited* (R HEBERKYEEEFR
‘A E]) (collectively referred to as “Target Companies”) at a cash
consideration of RMB1. The Target Companies are involved in the
property developments which are the Changsha Outlets Project.
The Target Companies recorded net liabilities in aggregate and
have defaulted to repay the loans which are set out in note 29
as at 31 March 2021. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 29 June 2021.

42.

—EC S8R HHPEBERABRAE

HEHREE

A B —FAZ+HHAEAATE

E2ENWBLABRMEERM ER) &
EEMAERA B MBS R BT
MR E R AR B — 2B 5E = 75 %
AEZEREEBRABILRRE S
(TR E S UWHENELAHERS
REBXBRAR BV HBRFRE
TPEEEERAIRENVHHERYE
EEBRAE MBIEERERE) N2
R REREABARKIT BRERT
281 ERE IRV ESRETER)
A TET—F=ZRH=1+—H BEAT
B FaEPENENEZER W0
MIzE20FT &) cs¥IBsE 2 A A B HEEA
TEC—FEXAZtHARZAS

215



Five-Year Financial Summary

hFMBRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controling MU F A EBETI R X K EZXHFRE 2
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from HEBEBTAEFHREEZ XEREE
the published audited financial statements is set out below. BEAFERETHBE -

RESULTS ES

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—®--F “TCRFE “B-AE “B-N\F BtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TAT TAT TAET

(Restated)

(= E5)

Turnover L 41,168 181,687 284,184 195,338 60,596
Loss attrioutable to: U ALESEE

— Owners of the Company —KATEEA (415,682)  (294,856)  (268,297)  (391,630)  (324,554)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
At 31 March
W=ZA=+—-8H

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

—EZ-§ “ZTEHE “E-HE E-\F E—t&

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT FEx FEx FET FET

(Restated)

(==

Total assets BEE 5285501 4,674,071 4533665 5057244 3323597

Total liabilities Y=L (5,670,463)  (4,596,369)  (4,148,766)  (4,378,421)  (3,402,635)
Equity attributable to: BT A LGS

- Owners of the Company S YNGIE 7= DN (384,962) 77,702 384,899 678,823 (79,038)
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